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MIGA’S MISSION
To promote foreign direct investment into developing countries to support 

economic growth, reduce poverty, and improve people’s lives.

Guarantees
Through its investment guarantees, MIGA offers protection for new cross-border 

investments, as well as expansions and privatizations of existing projects, against 

the following types of noncommercial risks:

r  Currency inconvertibility and transfer restrictions

r  Expropriation

r  War and civil disturbance

r  Breach of contract

Technical Assistance and Information Services
MIGA provides technical assistance to help government and other agencies 

involved in promoting investments improve their ability to respond effectively to 

investor needs as they prepare and implement investments. MIGA helps countries 

formulate and implement strategies for attracting and retaining foreign direct 

investment through:

r  Advice and tailored assistance to investment promotion intermediaries

r  A suite of online services—FDI Xchange, IPAnet and PrivatizationLink—

offering free information on investment opportunities, business operating 

conditions, and business partners

Investment Dispute Mediation 
MIGA provides advice to encourage the settlement of disputes between investors 

and developing member countries, with the goal of improving a country’s attrac-

tiveness as an investment destination.
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Table 1 Guarantees Issued

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 FY90-05

Number of Guarantees Issued 53 66 59 59 55 62 773

Number of Projects Supported 37 46 33 37 35 33 486

Amount of New Issuance, Gross ($ B)  1.6 2.0 1.2 1.4 1.1 1.2 14.0

Amount of New Issuance, Total ($ B)1 1.9 2.2 1.4 1.4 1.1 1.2 14.7

Gross Exposure ($ B)2 4.4 5.2 5.3 5.1 5.2  5.1 -

Net Exposure ($ B)2  2.8 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.3 3.1 -

1  Includes amounts leveraged through the Cooperative Underwriting Program (CUP).
2  Gross exposure is the maximum aggregate liability. Net exposure is the gross exposure less reinsurance.

Fiscal 2005 Highlights

Note: All dollar amounts used in this Annual Report are current US dollars unless otherwise specified.

Membership

In fiscal year 2005, the Maldives joined MIGA, bringing the number of member countries to 165
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Coverage for MIGA’s Four Priority Areas1 

q 20 projects in frontier markets

q 12 projects in conflict-affected countries

q 7 infrastructure projects

q 4 South–South investments2

Highlights

q 20 guarantee projects and 20 technical assistance projects in IDA–eligible countries3

q Eight new guarantee projects and 11 technical assistance projects in sub-Saharan African countries

q First guarantee coverage for investors from Lebanon and India

q Six new host countries: Belarus, Burkina Faso, Democratic Rep. of Congo, Lao PDR, Latvia, and Thailand

q Supported three waste management projects, the agency’s first involvement in this subsector

q Launched investment guarantee facility for Afghanistan, in partnership with the Islamic Republic of 
Afghanistan, Asian Development Bank, UK government, and IDA

q 84 technical assistance activities conducted in 33 countries, along with several regional and global ini-
tiatives

q e4.5 million trust fund partnership with the European Agency for Reconstruction to cover technical 
assistance activities in the Balkans

q Launched Enterprise Benchmarking Programs in Afghanistan, Africa, the Balkans, and China

Partnerships

q Facultative reinsurance provided to MIGA by other insurers: $353 million for 11 projects; and by MIGA: 
$3.6 million for one project

q Cooperative Underwriting Program: $6.8 million placed in the market

q Through the European Investor Outreach Program, partnered with investment promotion intermediaries in 
the Western Balkans and with development partners from countries interested in investing in the region

World Bank Group Cooperation

q Worked with the World Bank guarantees program on the West Africa Gas Pipeline project (Ghana), mortgage 
securitization project (Latvia), as well as on the Umeme (Uganda) and Nam Theun 2 (Lao PDR/Thailand) 
power projects 

q Coordinated with the Foreign Investment Advisory Service (FIAS) in Ethiopia, Fiji, Azerbaijan, Tajikistan, 
China, Peru, and Bangladesh, and globally on a series of investment promotion case studies

q Worked with the World Bank on promoting private sector business opportunities in Afghanistan, and on 
the Gambia Gateway Project

q Conducted joint work with the International Finance Corporation (IFC) on technical assistance projects in 
Panama and Morocco

q Participated in various World Bank fora, including the Private Sector Development Forum for Latin America, 
annual Knowledge Forum for Europe and Central Asia, and co-organized the Africa Forum convened in 
South Africa

Claims and Mediation

q Two claims, totaling $1.54 million, paid to investors for losses in Argentina and Nepal

1  Some projects address more than one priority area.
2  Investments made from one developing country to another developing country.
3  The International Development Association (IDA), a member of the World Bank Group, helps the world’s poorest countries reduce poverty by pro-

viding “credits” – which are loans at zero interest – and grants.
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Letter from the President
to the Council of Governors

This Annual Report records the achievements of the 
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency during the 
last year of the tenure of my distinguished predecessor, 
Jim Wolfensohn. It is an enormous responsibility to be 
entrusted with the leadership of this extraordinary insti-
tution, and I am grateful to Jim for having done so much 
to strengthen it over the past decade.

While much has been accomplished by the World Bank 
Group and its development partners, much remains to 
be done. The G-8 Summit at Gleneagles at the beginning 
of this new fiscal year has brought a welcome focus on 
the challenges of global development, particularly in 
Africa. It has also reaffirmed the central role of the World 
Bank in so much of that work, and has given us even 
more to do.

As we move forward, we need to keep a balance among 
the different development priorities. The first priority 
must be to pay special attention to the needs of the 
poorest people in the poorest countries in the world. At 
the same time, the World Bank still has an important role 

to play with the rapidly growing developing countries, the 
so-called “middle-income” countries that nevertheless 
still have hundreds of millions of people living in extreme 
poverty. Finally, as a multilateral development institution, 
the World Bank is uniquely positioned to help the world 
address some of the concerns of the “global commons,” 
such as the development of sustainable energy and the  
alleviation of global health crises. 

For its part, MIGA’s investment insurance, dispute 
mediation services, and technical assistance generated 
strong results this fiscal year. The agency issued 62 guar-
antees totaling $1.2 billion for 33 new projects. 

In all of this work, the Bank is blessed with an excep-
tionally dedicated and qualified professional staff. It is an 
honor and a privilege to work with them on a daily basis.

Paul D. Wolfowitz
June 30, 2005
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Board Activities Highlights

A Council of Governors and a Board of Directors, rep-
resenting 165 member countries, guide the programs 
and activities of the Multilateral Investment Guarantee 
Agency. Each country appoints one governor and one 
alternate. MIGA’s corporate powers are vested in the 
Council of Governors, which delegates most of its powers 
to a board of 24 directors. Voting power is weighted 
according to the share capital each director represents. 
The directors meet regularly at the World Bank Group 
headquarters in Washington, DC, where they review and 
decide on investment projects and oversee general man-
agement policies.

Directors also serve on one or more of five standing 
committees, which help the Board discharge its oversight 
responsibilities through in-depth examinations of policies 
and procedures. The Audit Committee advises the Board 
on financial management and other governance issues to 
facilitate Board decisions on financial policy and control 
issues. The Budget Committee considers aspects of 
business processes, administrative policies, standards, 
and budget issues that have a significant impact on the 
cost effectiveness of the Bank Group operations. The 
Committee on Development Effectiveness advises the 
Board on operations evaluation and development effec-

tiveness with a view to monitoring progress towards 
MIGA’s mission of poverty reduction. The Personnel 
Committee advises the Board on compensation and other 
significant personnel policy issues. In addition, directors 
serve on the Committee on Governance and Executive 
Directors’ Administrative Matters.

During fiscal year 2005, MIGA’s Board of Directors 
reviewed and concurred with investment guarantees 
for 37 projects. The Board also oversaw and reviewed 
MIGA’s budgeting and planning process for the 
upcoming fiscal year. The Board approved MIGA’s FY05-
08 strategy document (see message from the Executive 
Vice President) and, along with the Council of Governors, 
endorsed a five-year review of the agency’s activities 
during FY00-04. A new provisioning methodology for the 
agency also received Board approval. In addition, during 
the 2004 Annual Meetings, the Council of Governors 
approved a mechanism to achieve voting parity between 
Category 1 and Category 2 countries. Last, the Board 
reviewed the 2004 Review of Development Effectiveness 
in MIGA and approved the 2005 Annual Report, both 
prepared by the Operations Evaluation Unit, which inde-
pendently evaluates MIGA’s activities.

MIGA’s Board of Executive Directors, as of June 30, 2005

Standing, left to right: Robert Holland*, Herwidayatmo, Pietro Veglio, Eckhard Deutscher, Mathias Sinamenye, Thomas John Austin, Tom Scholar, 
Chander Mohan Vasudev, Thorsteinn Ingolfsson, Sid Ahmed Dib, Yahya A. M. Alyahya, Nuno Mota Pinto*, Otaviano Canuto, Pierre Duquesne, 
Paulo Fernando Gomes, Gino Pierre Alzetta, Gobind Ganga*, Alexey G. Kvasov, Luis Marti
Sitting, left to right: Mahdy Ismail Aljazzaf, Jiayi Zou, Jaime Quijandria, Yoshio Okubo, Adrianus P.W. Melkert
Absent:  Biagio Bossone, Marcel Massé
* Alternate
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activities of others. This implies a focus on areas that 
public and private entities cannot serve as well, such as 
higher-risk markets and other areas where MIGA has a 
unique comparative advantage. 

The business model consists of three principal elements 
that reinforce each other to form an integrated strategy: 
proactive marketing and complementary products; 
a comprehensive risk management framework; and 
stepped-up collaboration with the World Bank Group.

Indeed, our closer cooperation with the World Bank 
Group is yielding good results, as illustrated by our 
joint collaboration on a number of high-profile projects 
during the past year. And we expect that this is just 
the beginning of a more integrated approach to devel-
opment, to become an ever more defining feature of the 
way we do business.

As part of the shift to a new business focus, we also 
brought together our operational units—guarantees 
and technical assistance—under one director in a new 
Operations Department. The move recognized that 
addressing the challenges of attracting and retaining 
FDI requires more than just political risk insurance. It 
requires that MIGA provide client countries an inte-
grated package of products to address risk and related 
factors affecting an investment. 

Along with this realignment came a revised operational 
strategy that plays to our foremost strength in the mar-
ketplace—attracting investors and private insurers 
into difficult operating environments. The new strategy 
focuses on specific areas where we can make the greatest 
difference:

r  Infrastructure development is an important priority 
for MIGA, given the estimated need for $230 billion 
a year solely for new investment to deal with the 
rapidly growing urban centers and underserved 
rural populations in developing countries. 

r  Frontier markets—high-risk and/or low-income 
countries and markets—represent both a challenge 
and an opportunity for the agency. These markets 
typically have the most need and stand to benefit 
the most from foreign investment, but are not well 
served by the private market.

Fiscal year 2005 has been an important year, both in 
terms of the amount of foreign direct investment to 
reach the developing world and for MIGA, with regard 
to its role in mitigating risks to ensure maximum value-
added for foreign investors and host countries alike.
 
Globally, foreign investors signaled their willingness 
to once again invest abroad, with FDI into developing 
countries reaching $165 billion in 2004, the first increase 
in three years. This willingness was tempered, however, 
by ongoing concerns about political risks. Changes in 
the political risk insurance market were relevant in that 
insurance capacity increased but providers’ tolerance for 
risk was limited, which inhibited participation in certain 
countries and sectors. These issues highlighted the 
important contribution MIGA continued to make in pro-
moting FDI where it is needed most.

This fiscal year has also been an important one for MIGA, 
which implemented significant internal changes aimed 
at strengthening the agency’s development impact and 
added value for our shareholders and clients. The agency 
has undergone a significant transition, with the intro-
duction of a new business model and a revised opera-
tional strategy. 

MIGA’s new business model centers on the agency’s 
unique role as a multilateral risk mitigator, drawing on 
its governance structure to support investments with 
the greatest development impact and complement the 

Message from the
Executive Vice President
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r  Investment into conflict-affected countries is 
another operational priority for the agency. While 
these countries tend to attract considerable donor 
goodwill once conflict ends, aid flows eventually 
start to decline, making private investment critical 
for reconstruction and growth. With many investors 
wary of potential risks, political risk insurance 
becomes essential to moving investments forward.

r  South-South investments (investments between 
developing countries) are contributing a greater pro-
portion of FDI flows. But the private insurance market 
in these countries is not sufficiently developed or 
national export credit agencies lack the ability and 
capacity to offer political risk insurance. 

MIGA offers comparative advantages in all of these 
areas—from our unique package of products and ability 
to restore the business community’s confidence, to 
our ongoing collaboration with the public and private 
insurance market to increase the amount of insurance 
available to the business community. 

All of these changes were integral to our 2005 fiscal 
year operational results. During the year, the amount of 
guarantees issued reached $1.2 billion—representing 
the first, albeit modest, increase in total new issuance 
since fiscal year 2001. By the end of the fiscal year, five 
commitment letters were outstanding, totaling an addi-
tional $123.2 million in coverage. Many of the contracts 
focus on our priority areas: 20 are for projects in frontier 
markets, four support South-South investments, 12 are 
for projects in conflict-affected countries, and seven 
support infrastructure investments.

MIGA’s work in the area of technical assistance also 
garnered good results. During the year, we conducted 
84 technical assistance activities in 33 countries, along 
with several regional and global initiatives, including 
the Enterprise Benchmarking Programs in Africa, 
Afghanistan, the Balkans, and China. Our technical 
assistance complements the work of the Bank and 
IFC, with which we collaborated on an array of fronts, 
including joint investment promotion case studies and 
the promotion of private sector business opportunities 
in Afghanistan and The Gambia.  

On the mediation front, we completed the review and 
resolution of 49 claims stemming from the expropriatory 

actions of the Mengistu government in Ethiopia more 
than 30 years ago. The resolution of many of these long-
standing foreign investment claims should encourage 
the flow of additional investment into Ethiopia. We also 
engaged in more than a dozen investment disputes 
involving clients during the fiscal year, and paid two 
claims. 

Fiscal year 2005 also saw MIGA conduct a five-year 
review of its activities, which was accepted by the Board 
of Directors and put forward to the agency’s Council of 
Governors for their approval. 

Looking forward, I am excited about the prospects for the 
coming fiscal year. Some of the new initiatives we have 
in the works—such as a post-conflict guarantee facility 
for Africa and our Small Investment Program—hold tre-
mendous potential for getting critical investment into 
nontraditional markets.

Last, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the 
Board of Directors for their ongoing assistance with the 
development of our strategy this past year. In addition, I 
would like to express my gratitude to former World Bank 
Group President James D. Wolfensohn, for his leadership 
and vision as the head of MIGA during the year, and 
welcome his successor, President Paul Wolfowitz.

Yukiko Omura
June 30, 2005
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MIGA in Frontier Markets
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MIGA in Frontier Markets

these tasks, the private sector can help economies grow, 
while allowing governments to use funds to address 
acute social needs.

FDI flows to the developing world reached $165 billion 
in 2004, up by nearly $13 billion from the year before. 
While the news is good, a look beneath the numbers 
reveals that within the large group of developing nations, 
benefits are concentrated among a relative few. More 
stable nations, or regions within nations, such as China’s 
coastal industrial corridor, are getting the lion’s share of 
FDI, while others are seeing little interest. Worth noting, 
however, is that despite the FDI concentration in a 
handful of countries, the investment that does go into 
other developing countries generates significant benefits, 
when considered from an FDI-GDP ratio perspective. 

Bringing new investment into a country char-
acterized by low incomes and high risk is a chal-
lenging task. Private investors, driven by the bottom 
line, are understandably reluctant to invest in 
nations where infrastructure may be questionable 
or non-existent, where laws governing contracts and 
land ownership are not clear, and where relatively 
simple financial transactions such as obtaining a 
line of locally denominated commercial credit can 
be a major ordeal. And for countries emerging 
from conflict, taking even the smallest steps toward 
renewed entrepreneurial energy and investment can 
be an almost overwhelming task. 

But success stories attest to the value of the cause. 
For example, Mozambique, which attracted $337 
million in FDI in 2003, has seen an overall 16 
percent reduction in poverty since the end of conflict 
in 1997, spurred in large part by the massive foreign 
investment in the Mozal aluminum smelter. The 
project’s success, in turn, has encouraged others to 
invest in a poor country still recovering from a dev-
astating civil war, leading to today’s more positive 
outlook.

The Case for Foreign Investment in the 
Developing World

A new consensus is emerging among thinkers and 
leaders at diverse ends of the development spectrum, that 
attracting new, sustainable private investment is critical 
to improving the quality of life for all citizens—including 
the poorest—in emerging nations. They have drawn an 
inextricable link between economic growth and declining 
poverty, and between increased foreign direct investment 
and improved local economies.

In addition to donor aid and public sector investment, 
the private sector can play a key role in reducing poverty, 
for example, by building roads, providing clean water and 
electricity, and above all, providing jobs. By taking on 
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Frontier Countries Stand to Benefit the Most

Frontier countries are defined as high-risk and/or low-
income countries.4 These are the markets that have the 
most need and stand to benefit the most from foreign 
investment, but which most investors are wary of and 
therefore attract little foreign business. These are also 
markets where other investment insurers are rarely 
prepared to enter.

Frontier countries, or sometimes regions within 
countries, are often underserved by companies that are 
just beginning to understand the business opportunities 
in the developing world, as well as ways to mitigate per-
ceived risks. These markets typically exist in low-income 
countries where the risks of doing business are perceived 
to be high, and where there is a lack of readily available 
information about the investment opportunities that do 
exist. A sub-set of frontier nations are those emerging 
from a war or conflict, which for investors influenced by 
years of negative news generated by the conflict, may be 
seen as holding additional risk. 

And herein lies MIGA’s role. MIGA is uniquely positioned 
through its investment insurance program to facilitate 
the powerful development impact that private investment 
can make, as well as the strong business case for bottom 
line profit. This combination of development impact 

and business opportunity is now understood as the best 
chance for long-term improvements in the quality of life 
for the billions living in poverty today. 

MIGA in Frontier Markets
 
MIGA’s role is complex, reflecting the complicated task of 
improving the economic prospects of poor countries and 
increasing the incomes of poor people. The availability of 
MIGA’s political risk insurance is often the determining 
factor in whether or not a private investor decides to go 
forward with a key project. MIGA’s technical assistance 
and dissemination of investment information to private 
companies and public officials alike, helps to improve the 
chances that projects will bring in positive returns—for 
both the company and the local community. 

MIGA focuses on projects and activities that make a con-
tribution to the overall strategy of the World Bank Group. 
This means working closely with the Bank, investors, and 
host governments to identify projects and programs that 
fit within the context of country assistance strategies and 
World Bank regional strategies. It also means focusing 
on countries where there is a strong commitment to 
improving the investment climate, a critical factor in the 
site selection process.

Improving the Attractiveness of Frontier 
Markets

MIGA’s outward focus also brings to the development 
table an understanding of what private investors are 
looking for when they seek new locations for business 
expansion. Companies want nations that offer a good 
institutional framework—with political and macro-
economic stability, a transparent and non-discriminatory 
legal and regulatory environment, and non-bureaucratic 
procedures and institutional processes. 

They also search for a location that offers a viable business 
opportunity—a strong economic and social framework, 
a big and growing market, an efficient communications 
system, a qualified labor force, efficient local suppliers, 
and a good incentives policy. Frontier nations may lack 
some or all of these attributes. 

On top of this, investors often are not even aware of 
investment opportunities in developing countries, let 
alone those considered “frontier.”

 4 MIGA uses the IFC’s definition of frontier countries: High-risk 
countries are those with an Institutional Investor Country Credit 
Rating of 30 or less. Low-income countries are classified by the World 
Bank according to gross national income per capita using the World 
Bank Atlas method.
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Reassuring Investors through Political Risk 
Insurance

MIGA’s political risk insurance is at the core of the 
agency’s product offerings. Guarantees to investors 
and lenders cover the risks of expropriation, breach of 
contract, currency transfer restriction, and war and civil 
disturbance. MIGA guarantees boost investor confidence 
and can result in lowered borrowing costs, ultimately 
reducing overall project costs. MIGA, through its expro-
priation coverage, also mitigates sub-sovereign risk, a 
major obstacle preventing increased private investment 
in the critical infrastructure sector. 

In fiscal year 2005, MIGA provided guarantees for 20 
projects in 11 frontier countries.

Tailoring Solutions for Countries Recovering 
from War

Donor assistance alone is not enough to rebuild countries 
at the end of war. The private sector is critical in laying a 
new foundation for sustainable growth, from rebuilding 
the infrastructure needed to get production going again, 
to creating jobs. MIGA’s efforts combine guarantees to 
mitigate the very real political risks the private sector 
faces when it invests in such nations, with technical 
assistance to guide government officials on how to let 
investors know about opportunities for investment and 
create an attractive investment climate. These customized 
solutions are being developed in collaboration with 
other members of the World Bank Group to address the 
specific needs of countries under stress. For example, the 
agency is now looking at industrial estate development 
as a solution available to conflict-affected countries with 
highly unstable policy and security environments.

Two cases in particular illustrate the comprehensive, far-
reaching effect MIGA can have when it comes to getting 
frontier, conflict-affected countries back on their feet: 
MIGA’s support for investments in Bosnia-Herzegovina 
and Mozambique.

Bosnia: From ‘Mattress Money’ to 
Mortgages, a Banking Sector Success

The banking sector is at the core of a nation’s health. 
Aside from physical infrastructure, one of the first things 
a corporate site selection team considers when evaluating 
location options is the country’s financial set-up. And 
companies in search of a good location do not want to 
invest in places where routine banking is a major ordeal.

At the end of the war in 1995, few banks operated in 
Bosnia. Those that did—mostly small, locally owned 
enterprises—set loan rates very high, making borrowing 
next to impossible for the average citizen. In addition, 
with the requirement of multiple guarantors to co-sign 
loans, many people avoided the process altogether. The 
difficulty of getting loans and the high cost of credit also 
deterred many would-be business owners, adding to the 
country’s post-war economic woes. 

Mismanagement of banks was common, as was outright 
theft by corrupt insiders. Others were faced with massive 
war-related debts and ended up in collapse, taking with 
them people’s life-savings. Many citizens didn’t trust the 
safety of the institutions, preferring instead to stuff what 
money they had under their mattresses and into other old-
fashioned household financial repositories. In the years fol-
lowing the war, scores of new banks started to spring up, 
with minimal capitalization requirements and regulations 
to keep them in check. The banking sector—the lynchpin 
of a well-functioning economy—was in a state of crisis. 

Today, the sector stands transformed. An influx of activity 
by foreign banks, purchasing locally owned banks or 
starting anew, has brought a vibrancy and competitive 
edge to the moribund industry, spurring a wide range of 
new economic and consumer activity. 

“The transformation of the banking sector has been quite 
remarkable. I have to remind myself of the situation in 
1997. There were four currencies in use then, 76 banks, 
none of which were national, and three banking systems 
that weren’t being used by the citizens,” says Peter 
Nicholl, former Governor of the Central Bank.

The dramatic shift in the banking landscape is in part a 
result of the introduction of a new Central Bank in 1997, 
mandated by the Dayton Peace Accord, which estab-
lished strict capitalization requirements and regulations. 
Combined with a new law calling for the privatization of 
all banks, these changes paved the way for an influx of 
foreign banks.
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But banking sector reform isn’t the whole picture. 
Foreign banks, which tend to finance expansions through 
loans from parent banks, generally do not have the risk 
appetite of their local competitors and therefore tend to 
seek political risk insurance. In fact, three of the country’s 
top four banks, in terms of market share, have received 
political risk insurance from MIGA. The banks agree that 
the agency’s coverage was essential to the decision to 
issue loans from the parent banks.

The impact of foreign banks on the domestic banking 
scene has been highly beneficial, from a commercial and 
developmental standpoint. Foreign banks helped reduce 
interest rates, increased consumer confidence in the 
banking system, instituted a more aggressive marketing 
approach with a wide range of services, introduced new 
tools, such as leasing, and brought in new ways of doing 
business, making loans accessible to everyday citizens 
and not just those with connections.
 
Loan rates, which hovered around 30 percent in 2000, 
now average 9 percent. Foreign banks have opened up 
financing options, including long-term loans for big bor-
rowers, who provide key goods and services and tend to 
be the country’s largest employers. Retail banking has 
also seen radical change, with banking deposits and 
loans growing rapidly. 

Banks supported by MIGA are driving these changes. 
HVB Central Profit Bank took over a bankrupt domestic 
bank, with MIGA’s support, and is now a market leader 
when it comes to new products and services. For example, 
the bank unleashed a torrent of demand with the recent 
introduction of a new low-interest personal loan that does 
not require additional signatories. Within weeks of the 
product’s unveiling, eager consumers had received KM 
15 million (roughly e7 million) in new loans, well above 
the bank’s target. 

Individual consumer loans, the centerpiece of HVB’s 
portfolio, have traditionally helped finance the recon-
struction of property damaged during the war. But now 
demand for home mortgages is on the rise, along with 
new home construction activity—a strong driver of 
economic growth. With default rates low and demand for 
its products climbing, the bank has uncovered a hidden 
opportunity to build a strong revenue stream while con-
tributing to the growth and stabilization of an economy 
that had been in tatters just a few years ago. 

MIGA guarantees have also played a critical role in 
Raiffeisen Zentralbank’s commitment to Bosnia. When 
the Austrian bank first invested in the country, few other 
banks were operating. Today, RZB is Bosnia’s largest 
bank, with KM 2 billon in assets, 424,000 customers, and 
66 branches.

One of RZB’s key clients and a critical cog in the daily 
life of Sarajevo’s citizens is Gras, the city’s public trans-
portation authority, providing transportation services to 
nearly a half a million customers a day. Gras’ assets were 
severely damaged during the war, to the tune of some 
KM 100 million. RZB is supporting the company’s repair 
and modernization plans, which include the ongoing 
replacement of vehicles, which generally have a 10-year 
street life, and the introduction of natural-gas powered 
buses and additional railway tracks for trams. So far, Gras 
has received KM 20 million in MIGA-guaranteed loans 
from RZB. “All of these projects are necessary for the city 
of Sarajevo,” says Todorovic Predrag, Deputy General 
Technical Manager of Gras. “These loans are the only 
way to achieve a sustainable situation and modernize the 
fleet.”

And because of the new availability of commercial credit 
and other banking services, as well as the sector’s sta-
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bility, other companies are growing too, adding jobs and 
contributing to the public coffers so that the country can 
continue to rebuild its infrastructure and improve its 
services. 

Despite strong potential, foreign investment in Bosnia has 
yet to take off in other sectors. Investors point to imped-
iments such as an onerous business registration process, 
a complicated and inconsistent regulatory structure, 
and high labor costs. Important reforms are underway, 
however. For example, the country will be implementing 
a new value-added tax system in 2006. In addition, the 
World Bank is currently advising the government on other 
reforms affecting investment climate, and a program is in 
the works to privatize utilities, which are expensive to end-
users and add to the cost of running a business. These 
reforms, along with the opportunities afforded by a fully 
functional banking sector, are important steps towards 
increasing foreign investments in the country.

The Mozambique Story

This is a story that has to do with resilience and the 
recapturing of entrepreneurial spirit. It is an example of 
how investment from the outside—and the confidence 
that this activity instills—can trigger tangible, long-lasting 
change and permanent improvements in the quality of 
life for a nation’s citizens. It is also the story of MIGA in 
another frontier country.

Mozambique’s prolonged civil war, lasting from 1977-92, 
is one of many conflicts that have scarred the African con-
tinent. One of the world’s poorest countries even before 
the war, the conflict caused life expectancies and other 

social and economic indicators to tumble even further. 
And what little formal business economic activity that 
took place came to a near total halt.
Following the war, the new government actively worked to 
enact new laws and reform old ones, setting an example 
for others with its strict adherence to the legislation. The 
gradual changes and increased political stability allowed 
investors—and the world—to begin to see the country 
not just in terms of a haunting conflict, but in terms of 
what it had to offer. And indeed, Mozambique, with its 
abundance of natural resources and ideal agricultural 
climate offers tremendous business opportunities for the 
right investors. 

The careful structuring of one foreign investment in a 
massive aluminum smelter project, known as Mozal, has 
begun to rejuvenate a devastated economy. MIGA played 
a role in the project, the largest foreign investment in 
the nation to date, by providing $40 million in guarantee 
coverage to the Industrial Development Corporation of 
South Africa Ltd. With the World Bank Group’s help, the 
project sent an all-important signal to other investors 
that Mozambique was not only open for business, but 
offered viable commercial opportunities as well. Mozal 
has also encouraged the growth of a local small business 
supplier network while providing the kind of social, envi-
ronmental, and educational support that contributes to 
sustainable growth and improved quality of life. 

Following on the success of this ongoing project, MIGA 
shifted its focus into another promising sector for the 
country. A MIGA guarantee issued in FY01 is helping 
to rehabilitate Mozambique’s largest sugar estate, 
creating thousands of jobs and generating significant 
economic and social benefits in the country’s underde-
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At a Glance
MIGA in Bosnia and 
Mozambique

Since its inception, MIGA has issued 
32 guarantees totaling $335 million in 
coverage for projects in Bosnia. The 
country currently ranks eighth in terms 
of MIGA guarantee exposure. FDI 
into the country was $438.6 million  
in 2004.

Mozambique ranks sixth in terms of 
guarantee exposure. To date, MIGA has 
issued 27 contracts for projects in the 
country, totaling $423 million in guarantee 
coverage. FDI into the country was $337 
million in 2003.
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veloped Marromeu region. MIGA extended $65 million 
in investment insurance to the “Sena Group”—a con-
sortium of Mauritian companies—and to the Industrial 
Development Corporation of South Africa Ltd., covering 
their equity investments, management and technical 
assistance contract, and loan for the project.

The project, located on the Zambezi River, entails the 
rehabilitation and management of the former Sena Sugar 
Estate, which was severely damaged during the civil war. 
The investment has so far resulted in the processing 
of roughly 750,000 tons of sugar cane a year, for both 
domestic and foreign markets. 

The project is one of the largest economic devel-
opment undertakings and a main employer in northern 
Mozambique, which has historically attracted little FDI. 
It has resulted in extensive benefits to the local com-
munity and country. The enterprise currently employs 
5,000 people, more than half of whom work full-time 
on a permanent basis. A number of social benefits 
have made a critical difference for local residents, 
including higher incomes that allow residents to send 
their children to school, improve housing, and purchase 
bicycles. Employees also benefit from a small health 
clinic sponsored by Sena, while the nearby Beira hospital 
receives free water, electricity, equipment, and medicine 
from the company. Sena has itself built a water plant 
for the community, brought in its own electricity gen-
erator, and built the refinery. The investor has also reha-
bilitated a school that operates three shifts on a 24-hour 
basis to accommodate three separate classes. Buildings 
not used by the company are provided free-of-charge 
to others, including an NGO running an orphanage for 
HIV orphans. Sena continues to carry out all repairs and 
maintenance.

This is just a small part of MIGA’s ongoing commitment 
to Mozambique, where agency guarantees have offered 
protection for investments in a broad range of sectors 
including mining, oil and gas, manufacturing, agri-
business, tourism, infrastructure, and financial services.

MIGA is also active in helping the country market its 
investment opportunities. For example, MIGA is sup-
porting the Mozambique Investment Promotion Centre 
in its efforts to attract foreign direct investment and 
strengthen linkages with the local business community. 
The agency is doing this in a number of ways, providing 
advice on the implementation of a free zone, conducting 
a tourism sector review, and undertaking an enterprise 
benchmarking exercise.

Today, life is getting better for Mozambicans, a testament 
to their resilience and drive, as well as to the positive 
impact of investment promotion and thoughtful foreign 
investment, designed with the business needs of the 
investor and the development priorities of the country 
in mind. 

Afghanistan: Rebuilding a Nation and its 
Infrastructure

Ask investors to rank top picks of countries with 
investment potential, and Afghanistan, stricken by 
decades of war and strife, probably would not appear on 
such a list. After all, much of the country’s infrastructure 
has been destroyed. Political uncertainties remain. 
Financial markets are nascent. And the legal and regu-
latory framework to support a well-functioning economy 
is only beginning to emerge. Now, with the hard work to 
rebuild the economy in its early stages, MIGA is playing a 
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critical role in a phased approach, in close collaboration 
with other parts of the World Bank Group. 

To encourage more investment, MIGA is focusing on 
implementing changes that will make the country more 
attractive from a private investor’s perspective. MIGA 
is working with the Afghan Investment Support Agency 
to help build its capacity to work effectively with foreign 
investors, with a focus on marketing investment oppor-
tunities in targeted sectors. Efforts aim to identify gaps 
in policies where new laws might be needed or regu-
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latory reforms that would improve the business climate, 
all directed at attracting much-needed investment 
in industrial infrastructure and other areas. MIGA’s 
guidance is also providing Afghan officials with a road 
map on what kinds of incentives would be most effective 
in attracting appropriate investments.

This technical assistance complements a new investment 
guarantee facility designed to help bridge the gap 
between investors’ desires to tap business opportunities 
in the country and concerns about political risks. The 
Afghanistan Investment Guarantee Facility, administered 
by MIGA, will mitigate key risks for foreign investors by 
providing political risk insurance for their investments, 
while encouraging partnerships with local businesses. 
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Guarantees

2004 marked a welcome upswing in foreign direct investment in the developing 
world to an estimated $165 billion in FDI inflows, following a protracted slump 
earlier in the decade. While the bulk of this investment continues to go to larger, 
more developed countries such as China, the development impact of FDI can be 
quite significant in smaller, poorer countries, when considering flows as a share 
of gross domestic product. Prospects for increased FDI into developing countries 
appear promising in the near-term, and there is an encouraging trend in the rise of 
investment flows originating from developing countries. 

Concerns about geopolitical uncertainties, particularly 
in countries considered high risk, continued to remain 
high on the site selection agenda for foreign investors 
in fiscal 2005, as did investment climate—both of which 
underscore the need for MIGA’s political risk insurance 
and technical assistance, to get investors in the door and 
help governments develop and market more business-
friendly environments.

The political risk insurance market is seeing changes as 
well, with important implications for MIGA. Capacity is 
up following the volatility and contraction of recent years, 
but with overall deal-flow down, supply is beginning to 
outpace demand. In the private market, tenors over five 
years are still not widely available, however, and insurers 
are also becoming more selective about the sectors they 
participate in. In addition, countries with a high-risk per-
ception, such as conflict-affected and frontier (high risk 
and/or low income), are not well served by the private 
market. This landscape further highlights the important 
contribution MIGA can make by promoting FDI where it 
is needed most. 

In fiscal 2005, MIGA issued $1.2 billion in guarantee 
coverage for 62 contracts in support of 33 new projects. 
By the end of the fiscal year, five commitment letters 
were outstanding, totaling an additional $123.2 million. 
Many of the contracts focused on MIGA’s priority areas: 
20 were for projects in frontier markets, four supported 
South-South investments, 12 were for projects in conflict-
affected countries, and seven supported infrastructure 
investments (see Table 2). 

During the fiscal year, MIGA also supported 20 projects 
in IDA-eligible (the world’s poorest) countries and eight 

projects in sub-Saharan Africa, special areas of focus. In 
terms of gross exposure, IDA-eligible countries accounted 
for 42 percent of the gross portfolio (see Table 3)—nearly 
a 25 percent increase over the previous fiscal year—while 
coverage for projects in sub-Saharan Africa accounted for 
a 16.5 percent portfolio share. (See Box 1 for an illus-
tration of MIGA’s support for, and World Bank Group col-
laboration in, a project in IDA countries.)

Support for small and medium-size enterprises (SMEs) 
also grew in FY05, with guarantees issued for nine 
projects. The agency’s insurance for banking operations 
had a significant, indirect impact on SMEs. For example, 
guarantees in support of branch expansion in the post-
conflict countries of Eastern Europe is helping make 
credit more accessible at lower rates and for longer-
terms to SMEs operating in these countries. In addition 
to these benefits, the competition spurred by foreign 
banks often leads to new technologies, better services, 
and new products—ultimately benefiting SMEs. In 
FY05, MIGA continued to develop its Small Investment 
Program, which offers a specialized, streamlined under-
writing process designed specifically for this special class 
of investors. The agency furthered its support for SMEs 
by reinsuring coverage by the Slovene Export Corporation 
for an SME investment in Serbia and Montenegro.

During the fiscal year, MIGA supported projects in six 
new host countries: Belarus, Burkina Faso, Democratic 
Republic of Congo, Latvia, Lao PDR, and Thailand. 
Another first included guarantee coverage for three 
waste management projects—in Egypt, Senegal, and 
Uruguay—reflecting the agency’s ongoing commitment 
to facilitate investments not just in infrastructure, but 
also in this important sub-sector, identified as an area of 
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Table 2  Projects Supported in Fiscal 2005

Host Country Guarantee Holder Investor Country Sector Amount  $ M
(incl. CUP)

Priority/Area of 
Interestb

Asia and the Pacific
China Dragados Servicios Portuarios Logísticos Spain Infrastructure 6.1 INF

Lao PDR/Thailand Fortis Banque SA, Fortis Bank NV, EDF 
International

Belgium, France Infrastructure 90.6 IDA, INF, NHC

Pakistan Habib Bank AG Zurich Switzerland Finance 5.9 F, IDA

Europe and Central Asia
Belarus Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 28.5 F, NHC
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG* Austria Finance 46.7
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 10.6 CA, F, IDA, SME
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 1.9 CA, IDA, F
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 6.3 CA, F, IDA, SME
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 6.4 CA, F, IDA
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 12.2 CA, F, IDA
Bosnia and Herzegovina Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 40.5 CA, F, IDA
Croatia Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 128.1
Croatia Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 43.3 SME
Latvia Baltic-American Mortgage Holdings LLC, 

Baltic-American Mortgage Trust 2004-1
United States Finance 10.1 NHC

Romania Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 25.7
Romania Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 23.8
Romania Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG Austria Finance 35.3
Russian Federation Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 47.5
Russian Federation WTE Wassertechnik GmbH* Germany Infrastructure 56.4
Serbia and Montenegro Slovene Export Corporation, Inc. (Alpos) Slovenia Manufacturing 3.6 CA, F, IDA, SME, S-S
Serbia and Montenegro Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG* Austria Finance 11.7
Serbia and Montenegro Raiffeisenbank AS Czech Republic Finance 82.2 CA, F, IDA, SME
Serbia and Montenegro Raiffeisenbank AS Czech Republic Finance 24.8 CA, F, IDA, SME
Serbia and Montenegro Raiffeisenbank AS Czech Republic Finance 49.3 CA, F, IDA
Ukraine Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG Austria Finance 18.1

Latin America and the Caribbean
Brazil Elecnor SA, Cobra Instalaciones y 

Servicios SA, Isolux Wat SA*
Spain Infrastructure 25.7

Brazil Cooperative Centrale-Raiffeisen-boeren-
leenbank BA

The Netherlands Finance 66.5

Uruguay Abengoa SA Spain Infrastructure 0.7 INF

Middle East and North Africa
Egypt Urbaser SA Spain Infrastructure 6.4 INF

Sub-Saharan Africa
Burkina Faso Dagris France Manufacturing 38.3 F, IDA, NHC, SSA
Democratic Rep. of 
Congo

RMB International (Dublin) Limited, 
Anvil Mining Ltd.ª

Ireland/Canada Mining 13.6 F, IDA, SSA

Ghana Investcom Holding SA Luxembourg Infrastructure 99. 0 F, IDA, INF, SSA
Ghana West African Gas Pipeline Company 

Limited
Bermuda Oil and Gas 75. 0 F, IDA, SSA

Mozambique KfW—Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau* Germany Mining 12.4
Nigeria Antoine G. Boulos and Gabriel G. 

Boulos
Lebanon Manufacturing 6.3 CA, F, IDA, SSA, 

SME, S-S
Nigeria Manaksia Limited, State Bank of India, 

ICICI Bank
India/United 
Kingdom

Manufacturing 7. 0 CA, F, IDA, SSA, S-S

Senegal Azienda Municipalizzata per l’Ambiente 
SpA, AMAS International

Italy Infrastructure 15.7 F, IDA, INF, SSA

Uganda Eskom Enterprises (Pty.) Ltd., Globeleq 
Holdings (ConCo) Ltd.

South Africa/
Bermuda

Infrastructure 40.5 F, IDA, INF, SSA, S-S

Uganda Afriproduce Ltd.* Virgin Islands (UK) Manufacturing 3.1

*  Additional coverage provided to projects underwritten in previous fiscal years and counted towards projects supported in previous fiscal years.
a  Includes $6.8 million in guarantees placed in the market through the Cooperative Underwriting Program.
b  Projects in priority areas and other areas of interest, as follows: CA: conflict-affected country; F: frontier country; IDA: IDA-eligible country; INF: 

infrastructure; NHC: new host country; SSA: sub-Saharan African country; and S-S: support to a South-South investment between developing 
countries.
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special need under the Millennium Development Goals. 
FY05 also marked the first coverage issued by MIGA 
for a mining project since completion of the Extractive 
Industries Review in 2004. 

The results for FY05 bring total coverage issued since 
MIGA’s inception to $14.7 billion, including amounts lev-
eraged through the Cooperative Underwriting Program. 
As Figure 3 shows, MIGA experienced a decrease in 
gross exposure, which dipped slightly to $5.1 billion. 
Net exposure also dropped, from $3.2 billion last fiscal 
year to $3.1 billion in fiscal year 2005, due mainly to a 
maturing of the portfolio.

It is important to note that increases in gross exposure due 
to new business were offset by reductions, replacements, 
cancellations, and expiries during the year. Reductions 
are normal runoffs of the portfolio, while replacements 
reflect contracts that are reissued due to new underwriting 
following a change either in the investment parameters 
or in the guaranteed amount. In fiscal 2005, about 43 
percent of all cancellations were related to changes in the 
corporate strategies of guarantee holders, with a further 
33 percent of loans repaid and about 11 percent of 
projects being sold to other investors who then decided 
not to keep MIGA’s coverage. In several other instances, 
investors cancelled the insurance, citing an improved 
business environment and a better risk profile. 
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Box 1  World Bank and MIGA Collaborate on West 
Africa Gas Pipeline

The West African Gas Pipeline project, launched in 
December 2004, is a good illustration of MIGA’s 
support for projects in markets reliant on regional 
economies, and demonstrates the complementary 
effects of World Bank Group products, as well as 
MIGA’s unique role in providing support for inter-
regional projects and mobilizing private insurance 
capacity.
 
The project involves the construction of a 678 km 
pipeline to transport natural gas from Nigeria to Ghana, 
Togo, and Benin. The pipeline will allow abundant and 
cheap natural gas from Nigeria to replace the expensive 
alternate fuels used by the power, industrial, mining, 
and commercial sectors in the recipient countries. The 
project is part of an overall strategy of these countries 
to improve the efficiency of their energy sectors, by 
decreasing input costs and diversifying fuel supply. 
It is a high-visibility project, and part of the New 
Partnership for Africa’s Development (NEPAD) action 
plan. It is also a key component of the World Bank’s 
West Africa Regional Integration Assistance Strategy.
 
A critical element of the project was the decision of the 
West African Pipeline Company Limited (WAPCO)—
the project sponsor—to proceed only with the appro-
priate mitigation of risks, particularly those related to 
the gas purchase obligations of the power utilities in 
Ghana, Togo, and Benin. The Ghanaian government, 
which had committed to buy most of the gas, also 
sought guarantees to cover its payment obligations 
and ultimately obtained a partial risk guarantee 
from IDA. The investor, in the meantime, sought out 
political risk coverage from MIGA and other insurers, 
which offered additional assurance that contractual 
obligations would be fulfilled. Both the IDA and 
MIGA guarantees cover the Ghanaian government’s 
payment obligations, although MIGA’s guarantee was 
signed directly by the investor and did not require a 
counter guarantee from Ghana. The participation of 
both MIGA and IDA in this project was key to helping 
kick-start the development of gas markets in Ghana, 
Togo and Benin.
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Table 3  MIGA’s Outstanding Guarantee Portfolio in IDA-Eligible Countries

IDA-eligible Countries
Gross Exposure 

($ M)
% of Gross

Net Exposure 
($ M)

% of Net

Serbia and Montenegro 349.4 6.9 163.8 5.2

Mozambique 300.2 5.9 163.9 5.2

Bosnia and Herzegovina 270.6 5.3 160.9 5.1

Ghana 174.0 3.4 151.7 4.8

Vietnam 143.2 2.8 56.6 1.8

Pakistan 136.8 2.7 106.7 3.4

Nicaragua 107.3 2.1 54.2 1.7

Nigeria 101.8 2.0 80.3 2.6

Lao PDR 90.6 1.8 45.3 1.4

Moldova 62.0 1.2 31.4 1.0

Indonesia 52.4 1.0 52.0 1.7

Kenya 49.3 1.0 27.5 0.9

Uganda 43.6 0.9 23.1 0.7

Burkina Faso 35.4 0.7 31.8 1.0

Bangladesh 32.9 0.6 32.9 1.0

Mauritania 30.3 0.6 27.2 0.9

Nepal 30.0 0.6 14.1 0.4

Mali 23.4 0.5 21.1 0.7

Côte d’Ivoire 18.1 0.4 18.1 0.6

Kyrgyz Republic 15.4 0.3 14.0 0.4

Senegal 15.1 0.3 13.6 0.4

Guinea 14.1 0.3 14.1 0.4

Albania 8.6 0.2 8.6 0.3

Congo, Democratic Rep. 6.8 0.1 6.1 0.2

Angola 6.4 0.1 6.4 0.2

Togo 3.8 0.1 3.8 0.1

Benin 3.4 0.1 3.4 0.1

Armenia 2.7 0.1 2.7 0.1

Georgia 2.1 0.04 2.1 0.1

Sri Lanka 1.7 0.03 1.7 0.1

Burundi 0.9 0.02 0.8 0.03

Azerbaijan 0.9 0.02 0.8 0.03

Madagascar 0.8 0.02 0.4 0.01

Cape Verde 0.5 0.01 0.5 0.02

Total 2,134.5 42.14 1,341.6 42.59
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Portfolio Diversification

Regional Diversification   
The regional breakdown of guarantees issued in fiscal 
2005 continued to mirror regional FDI flows, with Europe 
and Central Asia accounting for the largest exposure  
(45.2 percent) for the second consecutive year. This 
increase was largely driven by buoyant investment activity 
by Austrian banks, encouraged by a more stable political 
environment in the region, particularly in the Balkans. 
In addition, MIGA issued its first guarantees in Latvia, a 
new host country, in support of a mortgage-backed inter-
national securitization. MIGA’s gross exposure in Latin 
America and the Caribbean declined from 33.5 percent 
in fiscal 2004 to 24.7 percent in fiscal 2005, due in part 
to continued weak investment activity in the region and 
guarantee cancellations, as well as to the increased 
share of other regions. Sub-Saharan Africa’s share of 
the portfolio increased to 16.5 percent in fiscal 2005, 
due mainly to new projects in Burkina Faso, Democratic 
Republic of Congo, Ghana, Nigeria, Senegal, and Uganda. 
Asia’s share of the portfolio increased slightly to 13.2 
percent, while guarantees for projects in the Middle East 
and North Africa dropped from 5 percent in fiscal 2004 to 
3 percent in fiscal 2005, due to subdued investment flows 
in the region and a number of guarantee cancellations. 
(See Figure 4.)

With respect to the 10 largest host country exposures 
in MIGA’s portfolio (see Table 4), Ghana ranked for 
the first time among MIGA’s top ten, due to two new 
projects completed during the fiscal year. Two post-
conflict countries—Bosnia and Herzegovina and Serbia 
and Montenegro—remained on the top ten list for the 
second consecutive year. Brazil continues to account 
for MIGA’s largest exposure overall, although its gross 
share decreased from 12.1 percent in fiscal 2004 to 7.5 
percent in fiscal 2005, hence releasing scarce capacity to 
underwrite new business. 

Sectoral Diversification
As Table 5 shows, relative sector shares of MIGA’s gross 
portfolio were influenced to a large degree by an increase 
in the financial sector, which grew from 35 percent of 
the portfolio to 39 percent this fiscal year—reflecting the 
steady flow of business from Austrian banks into Eastern 
Europe. Infrastructure’s share also increased albeit to 
a lesser extent—from 38 percent last fiscal year to 39 
percent in FY05. But guarantee size does not tell the 
whole story. Small amounts of guarantees can have a huge 
impact, as in Egypt, where MIGA’s support is enabling a 
waste management project to improve the collection and 
disposal of solid waste, with significant health and envi-
ronmental benefits. And although power projects rep-
resent a modest part of the overall portfolio, their impact 
can be substantial. During the fiscal year, MIGA insured 
two large power projects—a distribution privatization in 
Uganda and the Nam Theun 2 hydropower plant in Lao 
PDR. MIGA’s support for Nam Theun 2, in collaboration 

with the World Bank Group and other partners, involved 
guarantees of up to $91 million. 

Although FY05 saw an increase in MIGA’s pipeline of infra-
structure projects, the sector still has not fully recovered 
from the recent decline in investment. Infrastructure 
investors continue to be wary of investments in 
developing countries, where projects have been less 
profitable than expected, with many investors underes-
timating the complexities of operating in a sector that is 
politically sensitive. Financial constraints, exacerbated 
by several years of sharply declining share prices, have 
restricted the ability of many companies to make new 
infrastructure investments, while macroeconomic, legal, 
and regulatory concerns have affected investor appetite 
for the relatively few investment opportunities that have 
been available. MIGA has a role to play in terms of 
working with both governments and investors to address 
some of these concerns before deals are finalized. The 
agency is developing a new approach, in collaboration 
with the World Bank’s Project Finance Group, to improve 
its ability to work more effectively upstream.

Investor Country Diversification

The diversification of investor countries remains an 
important goal for the agency as it manages its portfolio 
and seeks to be of value to all its member countries. 
Of significant note is the growing representation of 
developing countries among those supported by MIGA 
guarantees. Since becoming an investor country in FY04, 
the Czech Republic has increased its share of gross 
exposure to 5.4 percent of MIGA’s portfolio, heading the 



15

Table 4  Ten Largest Outstanding Country Exposures in MIGA Portfolio, as of June 30, 2005

Host Country
Gross Exposure

($ M)
% of

Gross
Net Exposure

($ M)
% of
Net

Brazil 382.6 7.5 139.3 4.5

Bulgaria 351.5 6.9 131.0 4.2

Serbia and Montenegro 349.4 6.9 163.8 5.2

Croatia 312.5 6.1 193.3 6.2

Mozambique 300.2 5.9 163.9 5.2

Romania 286.5 5.6 139.0 4.4

Russian Federation 271.0 5.3 145.0 4.6

Bosnia and Herzegovina 270.6 5.3 160.9 5.1

Ukraine 180.8 3.6 115.8 3.7

Ghana 174.0 3.4 151.7 4.8

Total 2,879.1 56.5 1,503.7 47.9

list of developing country investors and joining the overall 
top ten. South Africa is the second-largest developing 
country investor in MIGA’s portfolio, and seventh overall. 
For the first time, Lebanese and Indian investors sought 
MIGA coverage, for two new projects in Nigeria. For the 
second year in a row, Austria was the largest investor 
country in MIGA’s portfolio, with much of its activity 
related to banking sector investments in the Balkans, as 
explained above. (See Figure 5.)

Environment and Social Issues

During the fiscal year, MIGA worked closely with the IFC 
and World Bank on due diligence and monitoring of several 
projects, including Nam Theun 2, Sasol Gas Pipeline, and 
West Africa Gas Pipeline, and on environment and social 
policy developments, paying particular attention to the 
IFC’s process for updating its safeguard and disclosure 
policies. Social and environmental specialists from MIGA 
participated in IFC-led dialogues with civil society organi-
zations and meetings with the World Bank. These efforts 
will feed into an upcoming revision of MIGA’s safeguard 
and disclosure policies, planned to take place within a 
year of Board approval of IFC’s policies, scheduled for 
consideration in October 2005.

The fiscal year also saw MIGA begin to more system-
atically monitor the social and environmental impact of 
the projects it supports. In addition to ensuring that all 
projects comply with MIGA’s policies and standards at 
entry level, MIGA now monitors compliance throughout 

implementation as well. The agency’s social and environ-
mental specialists regularly visit all Category A projects, 
as well as some Category B projects, offering recommen-
dations on corrective actions required in the event of com-
pliance shortfalls. These monitoring exercises provide the 
agency with an opportunity to be more attentive to client 
needs and to provide guidance on social and environ-
mental issues.

World Bank Group Cooperation 

As an integral part of the World Bank Group, MIGA con-
tinued to place a strategic focus on strengthening its 
working relationship with the World Bank and the IFC. At 
the individual transaction level, this has been evidenced 
by collaboration on a number of joint projects, such as the 
West African Gas Pipeline project in Ghana, the mortgage-
backed securitization in Latvia, the Nam Theun 2 power 
project in Laos PDR/Thailand, and the Umeme power 
project in Uganda. In an effort to enhance its support 
to conflict-affected countries, MIGA also worked jointly 
with the World Bank on the establishment of a guarantee 
facility for Afghanistan, with funding provided by IDA and 
the Asian Development Bank. The facility was launched 
in fiscal 2005, and a training workshop was conducted in 
Dubai for officials of the Afghanistan Investment Support 
Agency. Other activities included joint supervision of 
the Regional Trade Facilitation Project, which set up the 
African Trade Insurance Agency, and reaching out to 
selected World Bank country offices to step up marketing 
and business development efforts.



16

 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

A
L 

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W

���������������������������������������������
������������

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

���� ����

�� ���� ����

����

����

����

����

����

���

����

����

����

����

����

����

��� ���

���

���

���

���

�������������������������������������������������

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

������������������������������
�������������������

�����

���

���

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

���������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������������

����

����

����

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������
�������������������������������

����������������������������������������������������

��������� ������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������
�������������������

��������� �����������������������������������
���������������������������������������������

�����
���

�����
���

�����
���

�����
���

���
���

���
��

��

��

��

��

��

���

���
�����

�����

��������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������
����������������������������

����

���
���

����

����
����

����
����

����

����

�������

�������������

������

��������������

�����������

��������������

������������

�������

����������

�����

�������

������

�����

����������������

�����������

���������

���������

�������

���

������������������������

 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

A
L 

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W

Table 5 Outstanding Portfolio Distribution, by Sector, Gross Exposure, in Percent, as of June 30, 2005 

FY99 FY00 FY01 FY02 FY03 FY04 FY05

Infrastructure 19 29 29 36 41 38 39

Financial 42 34 36 35 29 35 39

Oil, Gas and Mining 16 14 14 12 12 11 9

Tourism and Services 7 10 8 6 7 7 5

Agribusiness and Manufacturing 16 13 13 11 11 9 8

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

Reinsurance 

Reinsurance arrangements with other insurers remain an 
important aspect of MIGA’s risk exposure management, 
helping to ensure the availability of sufficient capacity to 
support large projects. MIGA’s involvement encourages 
other insurers to participate in projects they might oth-
erwise shun and to venture into frontier markets, while 
enabling them to provide longer tenors. These insurers 
also benefit from MIGA’s expertise in risk analysis and 
claims and recovery procedures. At the end of fiscal 
2005, $2 billion of MIGA’s total gross exposure of $5.1 
billion was reinsured. MIGA placed a total of $353 million 
during fiscal 2005 through facultative reinsurance and 
two contracts totaling $6.8 million under the Cooperative 
Underwriting Program (see Figure 6). 

Private Partners
Through its facultative reinsurance program, MIGA sup-
ported 11 projects in six countries, complementing its 
own capacity with that sourced from private insurance 
partners. MIGA’s treaty reinsurance partners, ACE 
Bermuda Insurance Co. Ltd. and XL Re Ltd., continue 
to provide reinsurance for MIGA-guaranteed projects. 
Under its quota share treaty reinsurance program, MIGA 
cedes a portion of the contingent liability related to the 
contract it writes to its treaty reinsurers. 

Public Partners
MIGA provided reinsurance to the Slovene Export 
Corporation for one project in fiscal 2005 and co-
sponsored training for export credit and investment 
promotion agencies from the emerging economies 
of Eastern Europe. In addition, MIGA formed a part-
nership with the Export-Import Bank of India (Exim-
Bank) and the Export Credit Guarantee Corporation 
of India (ECGC) to provide a package of services that 
combines competitively priced financing with political 
risk mitigation to Indian companies investing overseas. 
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Exim-Bank will provide financing, while MIGA and ECGC 
will work together through reinsurance and coinsurance 
agreements to cover political risks. MIGA also signed 
a Memorandum of Understanding with the Dutch gov-
ernment for the provision of reinsurance to MIGA. The 
Dutch government established this reinsurance facility—
with a maximum aggregate new exposure of e150 million 
in any one year—to support Dutch companies seeking 
political risk insurance for their investments abroad in 
situations where there has been a market failure. MIGA 
signed a memorandum of understanding with Sinosure 
to expand coverage to Chinese investors for South-South 
investments.
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MIGA provides technical assistance to help gov-
ernment and other intermediaries involved in pro-
moting investments improve their ability to respond 
effectively to investor needs as they prepare and 
implement investments. In fiscal 2005, demand 
for MIGA’s technical assistance services continued 
to be strong, with 32 new requests for services 
received from the agency’s member countries. This 
brought the agency’s active technical assistance (TA) 
portfolio up to 54 projects covering 40 countries.

Technical Assistance

Investment promotion intermediaries promote foreign 
direct investment through a combination of activities, 
with the goal of generating economic growth and 
creating jobs. They attract investors to specific locations 
using a host of promotion tools; serve existing investors, 
for example, helping them solve potential problems 
encountered while operating within a country; conduct 
policy advocacy, encouraging governments to make 
changes to increase a country’s attractiveness as an 
investment destination; and help to anchor investments 
to the domestic economy through supply and sourcing 
relationships.

MIGA helps investment promotion intermediaries 
develop their capacity to provide investors with infor-
mation and advice, with the goal of reducing the trans-
action costs associated with site selection, as well as 
helping businesses get started. MIGA is one of the few 
organizations with global experience able to provide the 
broad-based package of assistance needed to build the 
institutional capacity of these agencies, in areas such as 
strategic planning, marketing, and sector targeting, and 
improving responsiveness to investor needs through 
information services.

Each country engagement typically commences with an 
institutional needs assessment that forms the basis for 
the development of a tailored technical assistance plan. 
Almost all of MIGA’s TA projects are based on part-
nerships, not just within the Bank Group, but with the 
broader development community. 

During fiscal 2005, the agency’s technical assistance and 
underwriting activities were brought together in a newly 

formed Operations Department, designed to enhance 
synergies between the two product lines. TA program 
activities are now more closely aligned with guarantee 
products, enabling MIGA to create integrated solutions 
tailored to meet the investment promotion needs of 
developing country members. For example, investor 
outreach tools and programs in conflict-affected countries 
are being employed in guarantee marketing efforts to 
support the attraction of “demonstration projects” in dif-
ficult environments. This is the case in Afghanistan, where 
the new investment guarantee facility is being carefully 
coordinated with the agency’s TA program for the Afghan 
Investment Support Authority. The TA program, in turn, 
is part of a broader World Bank Group effort to develop 
the country’s private sector and improve the investment 
climate.

MIGA Pilots Enterprise Benchmarking Tool 
for Foreign Investors

Fiscal year 2005 saw the official launch of a new global 
Enterprise Benchmarking Program (EBP), an innovative 
tool that gauges a country’s ability to compete with other 
potential sites and locations for foreign investment. The 
program provides a comparative analysis of a country’s 
competitiveness by sector. The end result is a practical 
snapshot of conditions and opportunities that provides 
investors with a key tool to organize their site selection 
research, while saving valuable time and money needed to 
conduct the detailed analysis on their own. Policymakers 
and investment promotion intermediaries benefit from 
the data as well.
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The program is an offshoot of MIGA’s “Snapshot Asia,” a 
2003 report that examined two industry sectors in six Asian 
countries. Following publication of this ground-breaking 
report, MIGA received requests from client countries 
to undertake similar studies in other regions. Four new 
benchmarking studies are either completed or underway: 
in Africa (examining 11 countries); the Western Balkans 
(five countries); Afghanistan; and the Sichuan province 
of China. Each study focuses on key sectors important to 
the specific region. 

MIGA’s program is closely coordinated with the 
investment climate work of the World Bank, and seeks 
to complement the World Bank Group’s analytic and 
policy dialogue tools, such as the Investment Climate 
Assessments and the Doing Business indicators. MIGA 
has created an EBP advisory panel to provide represen-
tatives of the World Bank’s investment climate unit, 
Development Economics, and Foreign Investment 
Advisory Service (FIAS) with an opportunity to advise 
on the development of the work program and review all 
work products to ensure better integration with the World 
Bank’s private sector development agenda.
 
Going forward, MIGA is working with FIAS, the IFC’s 
project development facilities, and individual World 
Bank country teams to undertake additional regional and 
national benchmarking, and to publish the data gathered 
online for public access. 

Agency Undertakes Performance
Benchmarking Study of International
Promotion Agencies

In a joint venture with GDP Global Development, a 
London-based consulting firm, MIGA completed its first 
benchmarking study of investment promotion inter-
mediary (IPI) performance this fiscal year. The goal of 

the study was to help countries notch up the quality of 
their services in order to compete effectively for highly 
contested foreign direct investment. The benchmarking 
study assessed and compared the performance of IPIs 
around the world against widely accepted best practices, 
particularly in the area of investor inquiries. In addition 
to providing a best practice roadmap for individual IPIs, 
the work offers a strong basis for MIGA’s own monitoring 
and evaluation of the baseline position and progress of 
its investment promotion clients. 

The program surveyed 188 mostly national agencies, 86 
from developed countries and 102 from the developing 
world, against predetermined benchmarking criteria. 
The survey was conducted using a “mystery investor” 
approach, to reflect as much as possible the level of 
service an investor might receive at any given time under 
normal circumstances. “Investor” requests ranged from 
questions about the country’s general investment con-
ditions to its competitive advantages for specific types 
of projects. The survey gauged issues such as response 
times, the quality of information, customization of doc-
uments, and branding. 

The study results were released jointly by MIGA and GDP 
Global Development at the 2005 annual meeting of World 
Association of Investment Promotion Agencies.

Investing in Development 

MIGA also used the occasion of the annual meeting of 
the World Association of Investment Promotion Agencies 
to introduce its new Investing in Development publication 
series. The first report, “Competing for FDI,” features case 
studies of successful investment promotion agencies in 
developing countries, to help others see not only how they 
stack up against the competition, but to learn from best 
practices gleaned from their peers. The report identifies 
best practice by focusing on the operations and lessons 
learned by four investment promotion agencies:
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r  CzechInvest—The agency evolved from a start-up mar-
keting office to multi-service development agency in 
ten years, taking an active role in investment climate 
issues, and listening to the needs of investors to 
build a competitive product.

r  Uganda Investment Authority—With strong leadership, 
the agency was able to engineer a “turnaround,” 
effectively streamlining operations, reducing staff 
size, and engaging in proactive promotion and client 
support. The foundation of the success was the solid 
and broad support of the business community.

r  FIPA Tunisia—The investment promotion strategy 
of Tunisia’s Foreign Investment Promotion Agency 
focused on realizing the benefits of increased 
European Union (EU) market access. In this newly 
liberalized environment, FIPA moved quickly to 
define opportunities for sector-specific exports and 
worked to help investors understand how to make 
their businesses work in Tunisia.

r  PROESA, El Salvador—In 2002, the agency launched 
the “El Salvador Works” image-building campaign, 
with the goal of recasting El Salvador in the eyes 
of the investment community from post-conflict to 
center of productivity. The campaign followed up on 
significant improvements in the policy environment 
and positioned El Salvador as a regional leader for 
export manufacturing.

MIGA and FIAS collaborated on the report to capture 
this regional cross-section of agencies that have become 
successful in different ways. The case studies include 
background information, exhibits and questions for dis-
cussion, and are intended to be used as a training tool to 
help developing country practitioners draw on the global 
experience in investment promotion. 

Technical Assistance for the Afghanistan 
Investment Guarantee Facility

In cooperation with the World Bank’s South Asia region 
and the Asian Development Bank, MIGA has designed an 
IDA-financed Afghanistan Investment Guarantee Facility 
to help the country in its reconstruction efforts by stimu-
lating foreign investment through a program of political 
risk insurance—in an environment where the perception 
of political risk by foreign investors is very high. The 
facility is expected to stimulate private business activity 
and attract foreign private investment in a variety of 
sectors. 

The government of Afghanistan realizes that it must 
show real and tangible results of economic improvement, 
including employment creation, to further the prospects 
of lasting peace. Private sector development is one of 
the three major development objectives identified in 
the country’s National Development Framework. While 
donor aid is important for establishing sound conditions 

for a developing economy, aid alone cannot build long-
term, lasting economic growth. Afghanistan’s prosperity 
and economic potential will evolve as its government and 
donors work to promote open, transparent, and favorable 
conditions for investment. 

In line with MIGA’s approach to offer multi-faceted 
solution packages to its clients’ complex development 
challenges, the agency strives to develop a custom-
package of services—investment guarantee services, 
technical assistance (such as capacity building, infor-
mation dissemination, and investment facilitation), and 
investment dispute mediation. In this context, MIGA’s 
assistance in Afghanistan involves a technical-assistance 
component, financed by a grant from the German gov-
ernment, with the goal of enhancing support for the 
facility. These activities promote FDI in Afghanistan and 
build the capacity of the Afghan Investment Support 
Agency (AISA), the country’s principal agent for attracting 
and servicing investment in the country. The grant 
agreement calls for the implementation of four sets of 
targeted technical assistance activities: (1) short-term 
technical assistance to AISA to develop its strategic plan; 
(2) benchmarking FDI competitiveness in Afghanistan; 
(3) participant training for AISA staff on a variety of topics 
including investment promotion, market research, online 
services, and guarantee products; and (4) preparation of 
promotional materials.

This fiscal year saw a range of activities: all fieldwork 
in preparation of the program was completed and staff 
worked with AISA to develop a business plan and sector 
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promotion materials. Given the clear importance of deter-
mining the agency’s strategic direction, MIGA worked 
closely with AISA to articulate its business priorities. 
Extensive field interviews were also conducted and raw 
data entered into MIGA’s Enterprise Benchmarking 
Program model as the basis for sector-specific recom-
mendations for AISA. Finally, MIGA delivered a series of 
short training courses to key AISA staff on a broad set of 
issues to build the knowledge and skills needed to more 
effectively perform their role as investment promotion 
intermediary professionals. 

The European Investor Outreach Program

The European Investor Outreach Program (EIOP)—
launched in fiscal 2004—is a regional initiative designed 
to generate increased FDI flows into the Western Balkans 
region. In the current pilot phase, co-financed by MIGA 
and the Austrian government, the agency has been 
working closely with investment promotion interme-
diaries from all EIOP beneficiary countries—Albania, 
Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, FYR of Macedonia and 
Serbia and Montenegro—to reach out to the European 
business community and market investment opportu-
nities in priority sectors, such as automotive components 

and food and beverages. The initiative is supported by a 
small team of experienced investment promotion prac-
titioners, based in the program’s implementation office 
in Vienna.

A regional FDI competitiveness benchmarking study 
is currently underway as part of the global Enterprise 
Benchmarking Program, designed to guide future 
outreach and marketing activities and messages. The 
benchmarking study will also allow MIGA to inform par-
ticipating governments as well as FIAS of any weaknesses 
identified in the investment environment related to the 
selected priority industries.

MIGA is working with a “virtual network” of partner orga-
nizations both in the beneficiary countries and in potential 
investment originating countries. Partners include both 
multilateral and bilateral organizations offering tools 
and instruments that can be used to facilitate FDI 
projects (for example, national export credit agencies 
and development finance institutions), business support 
organizations that may finance market and feasibility 
studies, such as the Austria’s Wirtschaftsservice, Italy’s 
Institute for Foreign Trade, and outward investment pro-
motion agencies such as the Swiss Organization for the 
Facilitation of Investment.
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Table 6  Regional Breakdown of Technical 
Assistance Activities, as of June 30, 2005

Asia and the Pacific 18
East Asia and the Pacific
Cambodia 1
China 10
Fiji 1
Vietnam 1
South Asia
Afghanistan 1
Bangladesh 2
Sri Lanka 2
Europe and Central Asia 25
Armenia 2
Azerbaijan 2
Croatia 4
Georgia 1
Macedonia 4
Montenegro 2
Regional 1
Serbia 4
Tajikistan 4
Turkey 1
Latin America and the Caribbean 12
Colombia 3
Dominican Republic 1
El Salvador 2
Guatemala 2
Honduras 1
Nicaragua 1
Panama 1
Regional 1
Middle East and North Africa 4
Egypt 2
Morocco 1
West Bank/Gaza 1
Sub-Saharan Africa 21
Ethiopia 1
Ghana 3
Madagascar 2
Mali 3
Mozambique 4
Regional 1
Senegal 3
Tanzania 3
Uganda 1
Global Activities 4

Total Activities 84

Box 2  Helping Countries Affected by the Tsunami

The tsunami of December 2004 had a devastating 
effect on the people and economies of East and South 
Asia. The World Bank responded quickly, with teams 
on the ground within days helping with recovery 
planning, coordinating rehabilitation, and mobilizing 
financial support.

As the post-tsunami reconstruction effort takes shape, 
MIGA is using its online investor information services 
to inform the international business community about 
country reconstruction programs and the resulting 
investment and public-private partnership opportu-
nities. Initially, this has taken the form of a special 
section within the Investment Promotion Network 
(IPAnet) web portal, which provides an overview of 
each country’s reconstruction program and links to 
further information available from the World Bank 
Group and other finance institutions, government 
online sources, and private sector information 
services. Going forward, MIGA plans to work with 
the infrastructure and relevant regional units of the 
World Bank and IFC, as well as relevant ministries in 
the affected countries, to help develop effective, locally 
operated information dissemination channels, such 
as infrastructure web portals, that can take advantage 
of MIGA’s online services—IPAnet, PrivatizationLink, 
and FDI Xchange—to reach potential investors and 
suppliers. Given the scale and immediacy of the recon-
struction needs, it is essential to rapidly disseminate 
project information to the business community, and to 
link these efforts to available support resources in the 
infrastructure and tourism sectors. Similar initiatives 
may be considered in other sectors depending on 
client demand. 
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Online Dissemination of 
Investment Information

Partnerships 

During fiscal year 2005, MIGA concluded seven new 
partnership agreements with investment promotion 
intermediaries and private sector firms. Four of these 
agreements expand the information available to investors 
about specific investment locations. Three will result in 
new language versions of the FDI Promotion Center—
an online knowledge-sharing and learning portal for 
investment promotion professionals—which in turn will 
help IPI staff market their locations to investors.

Through the partnership with the South African Institute 
of International Affairs—a provider of global investment 
research and analysis—MIGA increases resources 
available on investment opportunities and market analysis 
in countries throughout Africa. The partnership with CPCS 
Transcom, a Canada-based private sector firm, augments 
information on investment in infrastructure projects. 
The two other new content partners are the national 
investment promotion intermediaries from Zambia and 
Albania. These partnerships bring the total number of 
content partners to MIGA’s online services to 92.

The three FDI Center Localization Program partnerships 
involve agreements with local partners to translate the 
Investment Promotion Toolkit and selected promotional 
tools into the local language as well as other materials 
on an ongoing basis. The three agreements cover 
Arabic-speaking countries (supported by the Inter-Arab 
Investment Guarantee Corporation), Russia and countries 
from the Commonwealth of Independent States (sup-
ported by the National Agency for Direct Investment), 
and the Western Balkans (supported by the Vojvodina 
Investment Promotion Fund). The translated versions 
take into account differing business cultures and regional 
FDI issues. As appropriate, individual partners will also 
develop localized tools and knowledge resources specific 
to their region or catalog investor research resources that 
are available in the local language. 

Training 

MIGA also provided regional workshops to develop the 
information dissemination capacity of its online services 
partners, including one in Geneva for nine IPIs from 
Eastern and Central Europe, as well as from Egypt. Similar 
workshops in Nairobi and Johannesburg were attended by 
more than 20 African IPIs. These workshops focused on 

developing investor-oriented content for websites, guided 
participants in an organizational website assessment, 
and instructed them on the latest techniques in online 
marketing and on utilizing MIGA’s online services in 
investor outreach and servicing.

Investor Information Development Program

In 2005, work programs were completed in four of 
the five countries that received technical assistance 
grants through the Investor Information Development 
Initiative—a pilot program launched in 2004 to help 
member countries implement their own ideas for 
leveraging technology to develop, mobilize and dis-
seminate critical investment. The initiative is funded in 
part by the Development Gateway Foundation through a 
grant from the government of Japan.

r Bosnia’s Foreign Investment Promotion Authority 
developed and disseminated two sector profiles 
on information technology and agribusiness, and 
enhanced the functionality of their business match-
making database and installed it at partner sites.

r Invest in Guatemala and the Guatemalan Chamber of 
Commerce worked together to revamp the website—
www.investinguatemala.com—which now features 
newly developed content that responds to the needs 
of investors doing research on site selection. 

r Kenya’s Export Processing Zones Authority developed 
and disseminated sector profiles, compiled a 
business directory with contact information by 
sector, and conducted an investor survey on per-
ceptions about doing business in Kenya. 

r Mongolia’s Foreign Investment and Foreign Trade 
Agency installed new hardware to enhance the 
agency’s website performance and Internet con-
nectivity, revamped content on and functionality 
of the agency website, and received training on 
how to respond to investors seeking information 
on Mongolia as a destination for foreign direct 
investment. The new website can be found at www.
investmongolia.com.

r Malta Enterprise concluded a project to benchmark 
the generics subsector of the pharmaceutical industry. 
The study will be published on Malta Enterprise’s 
website in early FY2006.

r Fourteen island nations in the Pacific completed 
work on their organizational websites, which are now 
all accessible though www.investpacific.com.
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Legal and Claims

Disputes and Claims

MIGA actively seeks to resolve disputes that may 
adversely impact investments guaranteed by the agency. 
Investors and governments generally welcome such 
activities, since the successful resolution of disputes not 
only allows MIGA-guaranteed investments to remain 
in the country and operate as planned, but also avoids 
harming the investment reputation of the host country. 
MIGA relies heavily on the cooperation and willingness of 
member developing countries in these efforts.

MIGA was engaged in more than a dozen investment 
disputes involving its clients during FY05. Although the 
bulk of these disputes were in Latin America, MIGA also 
dealt with disputes in Asia, Eastern Europe, and Africa. 
A number have been resolved to the satisfaction of the 
parties involved. MIGA is actively working on disputes 
in Argentina, China, the Dominican Republic, Egypt, 
Guatemala, the Kyrgyz Republic, Mauritania, Moldova, 
Nicaragua, and Nigeria. 

MIGA paid two claims during the fiscal year. One was 
$144,600 for a small war and civil disturbance claim filed 
in relation to a hydroelectric plant in Nepal that was the 
target of an attack by Maoist guerrillas in 2002. MIGA 
also paid a claim to Mitsubishi International Corporation 
with respect to its loan guaranty to Bank of Tokyo-Buenos 
Aires Branch. While a decision to pay the claim in the 
amount of $1.396 million was made, only $558,311 has 
been paid to date; the remainder will be paid subject 
to the guarantee holder’s compliance with certain 
requirements.

Mediation Services

In selected circumstances, MIGA uses its good offices to 
encourage the settlement of disputes between investors 
and member states, even when the agency is not involved 
as a guarantor. The purpose of MIGA’s involvement is 
to help resolve outstanding disputes that may act as 
an impediment to other foreign investment. With its 
extensive experience, MIGA can help parties reach a 
creative resolution to their investment disputes, thus 
avoiding the expense and often the time commitment 
of formal arbitration. Mediation, which is voluntary and 
informal, is an attractive alternative for the resolution of 
some types of investment disputes.

For example, MIGA was asked by the Ethiopian gov-
ernment in 2000 to help the country resolve a large 
number of outstanding claims that date back to expro-
priatory actions of the Mengistu government more than 
30 years ago. Since MIGA commenced its mediation 
efforts, 49 claims have been reviewed and resolved and 
five offers to investors remain outstanding. Two of the 
most recent cases involved investments in a tannery, 
shoe factory, and housing by French and Greek investors. 
The other claim concerned shares held by a group of 
Norwegian investors in the former Mosvold companies, 
which included woodworking, furniture, and retail stores. 
The Ethiopian government and MIGA were pleased that 
both investors indicated their intentions to make new 
investments in the country. The resolution of the majority 
of these long-standing foreign investment claims should 
encourage the flow of additional investment into 
Ethiopia.
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Regional Activities

Asia and the Pacific

Economic growth in Asia, particularly East Asia, remained 
strong in 2004, accompanied by an 8 percent increase in 
FDI flows to the region as a whole. China was once again 
at the head of the pack in terms of amount of FDI received, 
accounting for 88 percent of total foreign investment, 
joined by Indonesia, which in 2004 received positive 
FDI inflows for the first time since the Asian crisis. With 
strong economic growth and significant demand for its 
exports, China attracts foreign direct investment almost 
exclusively in manufacturing, and mainly from other 

Asian countries. FDI flows to South Asia rose moderately 
in 2004, while India’s share continued to rise in the wake 
of easing restrictions in many sectors. 

In fiscal year 2005, MIGA supported three projects 
through its guarantees program and undertook 18 
technical assistance projects in the region. At year-end, 
MIGA’s gross guarantee exposure stood at $700 million, 
13.2 percent of the agency’s outstanding portfolio.

GUARANTEES 

Country Activities

China Dragados Servicios Portuarios y Logísticos
Jingtang International Container Port Co. Ltd.

MIGA has issued a e4.8 million ($6.1 million) guarantee to Dragados Servicios Portuarios y 
Logísticos (Dragados) for its e5.3 million investment in Jingtang International Container Port Co., 
Ltd. in the People’s Rebublic of China (PRC). The guarantee is for a period of 15 years and provides 
coverage against the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, and war and civil disturbance.  

The project involves the acquisition of two berths in the port of Jingtang. Located on the Bohai Sea, 
it is the main port infrastructure in Hebei Province. Dragados is the first foreign investor in the port 
and plans to make significant upgrades.  

Jintang port’s container facilities are poorly developed and do not handle containers efficiently. 
Dragados plans to expand the port by investing in cranes, yard equipment, and improvements 
in infrastructure, which will result in increased employment and capacity. Technology will also be 
upgraded with new computer systems to manage throughput more efficiently.

The project is consistent with the World Bank Group’s country assistance strategy for the PRC by 
furthering the country’s transition to a market economy and promoting private sector participation 
in social and physical infrastructure services.
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Country Activities

Lao People’s 
Democratic 
Republic/
Thailand

Fortis Banque SA/Fortis Bank NV
EDF International

MIGA provided $91 million in political risk insurance for a hydropower project in Lao People’s 
Democratic Republic (PDR). The bulk of the guarantee, $86 million, is covering a nonshareholder 
loan by Fortis Banque SA/Fortis Bank NV of Belgium (representing itself and acting as agent for a 
number of banks) against the risks of expropriation, breach of contract, war and civil disturbance, 
and transfer inconvertibility in both Lao PDR and Thailand. The rest of the coverage is protecting 
EDF International of France against the risk of transfer restriction in Lao PDR. 

Total project cost is $1.2 billion, the largest investment ever in Lao PDR. The project involves the 
development, construction, and operation of a trans-basin power plant that will use water from the 
Nam Theun River. In addition to the construction of a dam, the project also provides for increased 
environmental protection in Lao PDR, with a biodiversity area being set aside and conserved; 
improved housing and higher incomes for the 6,200 villagers who are re-settling from the reservoir 
area; a robust and proactive mitigation and compensation program to help communities down-
stream prepare for changes to their livelihoods; special measures to ensure that revenues from the 
project are used effectively to reduce poverty; and a continued commitment by the World Bank to 
monitor the project and ensure that it is fully and properly implemented. 

Lao PDR has an average income level of less than a dollar a day, with levels considerably lower in 
rural areas and few options for generating income. The project is expected to generate an estimated 
$1.9 billion in foreign exchange earnings over a 25-year period through the export of 995 MW of elec-
tricity to Thailand. The income generated by the project will provide key funding for Lao’s National 
Growth and Poverty Eradication Strategy, enabling the country to increase the amount of money it 
can invest in health, education, and basic infrastructure for the benefit of the poor. The project will 
also produce 75 MW of power for domestic consumption.

MIGA’s guarantee was key to lowering the project’s risk profile, which in turn enabled the gov-
ernment and developers to attract commercial financing at better rates and gave the investor the 
assurance needed to go ahead with the deal. MIGA’s guarantee complements a $50 million partial 
risk guarantee issued by the World Bank, as well as a $20 million grant from the International 
Development Association.

Pakistan Habib Bank AG Zurich
Habib Bank AG Zurich, Pakistan Branches

MIGA has issued Habib Bank AG Zurich of Switzerland a $5.9 million guarantee covering its branch 
capital investment in Habib Bank AG Zurich, Pakistan Branches. The guarantee is for a period of up 
to 15 years and covers against the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation.

The investment aims to meet Habib’s immediate growth needs and help it comply with Basel II 
capitalization requirements. Habib currently has 17 branches in Pakistan and is planning to open 
four more. Habib employs about 675 people, and expects to add 100 new employees to its payroll by 
2006. The bank will provide extensive training and benefits. Habib’s continued presence in Pakistan 
has a strong demonstration effect on the banking sector, with its emphasis on good corporate gov-
ernance and its stable capital base, high liquidity, and close cooperation with regulatory bodies.

MIGA’s support to Habib fits into the World Bank Group strategy for Pakistan’s financial sector, 
which aims to increase competition and expand access to financial services.
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Bangladesh. MIGA is working closely with FIAS and 
the SouthAsia Enterprise Development Facility to help 
prepare a Private Sector Development Loan Facility for 
the country. As an early component of this project, MIGA 
conducted an institutional needs assessment of the 
country’s Board of Investment during the fiscal year, and 
reported its findings and recommendations to the Board 
of Investment and the government task force estab-
lished to steer preparation of the loan facility. A MIGA-
led technical assistance project is now being prepared as 
part of the loan facility.

China. MIGA is working with the IFC’s China Project 
Development Facility (CPDF) on a competitive bench-
marking exercise of Sichuan province, at the request of 
the Sichuan Investment Promotion Bureau. The exercise 
covers firms engaged in food processing, electronics, 
machinery/machine building, chemicals, pharmaceu-
ticals, and traditional Chinese medicine. The review will 
contribute to the development of an integrated provincial 
investment promotion strategy. MIGA is also under-
taking a series of investment promotion workshops 
with the CPDF to discuss ways of integrating the bench-
marking findings into strategic planning efforts at the 
provincial and municipal levels. In addition, MIGA is in 
discussions with the World Bank’s China country office 
on how to provide integrated support to the Northeast 
provinces. MIGA has been asked to assess the needs of 
the local investment promotion agency and provide staff 
training. At the request of officials from Heilongjiang 
province, MIGA is also assessing the investment pro-
motion capacity of the northeastern province and areas 
of potential assistance. During the fiscal year, MIGA col-
laborated with FIAS to help the Ministry of Commerce 
develop a national investment promotion strategy. 
The two are now working together on study of outward 
investment from China, in follow-up to a conference 
held in June 2004 by the Ministry of Finance, MIGA, IFC,  
and FIAS. 

Fiji. Staff attended the Heads of Pacific IPAs meeting, 
making a joint presentation with FIAS and a represen-
tative of the Commonwealth Secretariat on progress in 
MIGA’s IPAWorks project in the region. The group agreed 
to continue supporting the development of their web 
presence. In addition, MIGA is working with the Fiji Trade 
and Investment Board, which has submitted a formal 
request for technical assistance to MIGA. 

Vietnam and Cambodia. Institutional needs assessments 
have been carried out at the request of each government, 
and MIGA staff have reported back on findings and 
recommendations for capacity-building activities. In 
Cambodia, MIGA has developed a work program to 
support the Cambodian Council for Development and the 
Cambodia Investment Board. Work is to be funded under 
an IDA grant, currently being prepared, on Cambodian 
trade facilitation.

Sri Lanka. As part of MIGA’s post-tsunami response, 
the agency undertook, at the government’s request, an 
institutional needs assessment of Sri Lanka’s Board 
of Investment. MIGA will report on the assessment’s 
findings early in fiscal year 2006 and recommend ways 
to strengthen the board’s capacity to promote and attract 
more FDI. Working with the World Bank and the Sri 
Lankan government, MIGA is also currently preparing 
a special post-conflict guarantee fund to help stimulate 
investment into the country’s conflict-affected regions.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITIES
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Europe and Central Asia

In 2004, Europe and Central Asia experienced a 7.2 percent 
increase in GDP, reflecting the very strong economic per-
formance in Russia and Turkey. Net FDI inflows to the 
region continued to increase during 2004, reaching nearly 
$38 billion. FDI flows remain concentrated in a handful 
of countries, with Russia, Poland, Hungary, the Czech 
Republic, and Bulgaria accounting for 55 percent of FDI. 
The strong pace of FDI inflows has continued in the early 
months of 2005. Net private debt inflows to the region 
remained relatively stable in 2004, with Russia remaining 
the largest recipient of these flows.

In fiscal year 2005, MIGA supported 22 projects through 
its guarantees program and undertook 25 technical 
assistance activities in the region. At year-end, MIGA’s 
gross guarantees exposure stood at $2.3 billion, or 45.2 
percent of the agency’s outstanding portfolio.

GUARANTEES 

Country Activities

Belarus Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG 
Priorbank

MIGA has issued a $28.5 million guarantee to Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG (RZB) of Austria, 
covering its shareholder loan of up to $30 million to its subsidiary Priorbank of Belarus. The coverage 
is for a period of up to six years against the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation. 

Priorbank will use the shareholder loan from RZB to expand operations. One-third of the loan is 
expected to pay for technological investments, such as a network of automatic 24-hour outlets. The 
rest will be lent to small and medium-size enterprises, which often face constraints in accessing 
credit. Approximately 60 percent of that onlending will go to the manufacturing sector, 20 percent to 
finance trade, and the remaining 20 percent to other sectors like construction and agriculture. 

This project will strengthen Priorbank, the leading private bank in Belarus. The country’s nascent 
private sector operates in a difficult political and regulatory environment in a largely un-reformed 
and centrally planned economy. Local financial institutions face an additional burden of government-
directed lending to state-owned enterprises. By supporting RZB’s shareholder loan, MIGA is sup-
porting the private sector and helping increase the availability of long-term commercial financing—
both consistent with the country assistance strategy for Belarus. 

Priorbank will also play an important role in providing know-how, technical solutions, and new 
products to Belarus’ financial and commercial sectors. Technological investments under this project 
will also help improve Priorbank’s efficiency. 
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Country Activities

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG 
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o. Sarajevo

MIGA issued three guarantees, totaling e22.9 million ($29.1 million), to Raiffeisen Zentralbank 
Österreich AG of Austria, covering e24 million in shareholder loans to Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o. 
Sarajevo in Bosnia and Herzegovina. The coverage is for up to five and six years against the risks of 
transfer restriction and expropriation. 

The project funds the growth of Raiffeisen’s domestic leasing portfolio by supporting investment 
primarily in industrial machinery, equipment, and vehicles. MIGA’s backing should contribute to 
the development and strengthening of the country’s leasing sector, which is in an embryonic stage. 
Raiffeisen fills a gap in helping to meet the needs of SMEs, which according to typical banking criteria, 
may not qualify for long-term loans needed for capital investment. The leasing company allows 
payment of the leasing installments with the cash flow and income generated by the leased equipment 
itself. Seventy percent of leasing goes to SMEs. The focus on SMEs is reinforced by increased coop-
eration with business partners and retailers to provide them with leases for their capital investments 
in equipment, which is mostly outdated and in need of replacement or modernization. Together, these 
enhancements will enable SMEs to improve production efficiency and quality, and assist in their long-
term growth. 

The project is part of an overall World Bank Group effort to help create a transparent and solid leasing 
sector. 

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
Raiffeisen Bank d.d. Bosna i Hercegovina

MIGA issued five guarantees totaling $95.4 million in coverage to Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich 
AG (RZB) of Austria for $105 million in shareholder loans to Raiffeisen Bank d.d. Bosna i Hercegovina. 
The guarantees are for up to eight, seven, five, and four years and cover the risks of transfer restriction 
and expropriation. 

The shareholder loans will allow Raiffeisen to increase its lending in the country, bolstering the 
financial sector through the provision of both medium- and long-term financing. With two-thirds of 
its loan portfolio going to SMEs, the bank is helping these businesses obtain critical financing to start 
up and expand services, which in turn is playing an important role in strengthening the country’s 
private sector. The retail portfolio is also having a significant impact, in that individuals are able to 
access credit that previously was not available to finish repairs to homes damaged by the war and 
make their first-ever purchases of houses and apartments. Raiffeisen Bank continues to play a crucial 
role in increasing the banking sector’s competitiveness as a whole, which has resulted in a healthy and 
thriving financial system that is now trusted by once-wary customers who lost all their money with the 
collapse of state banks during and after the war. Raiffeisen’s use of up-to-date banking technology is 
helping to increase processing automation and creating more customer-friendly cash management. 
RZB also has a state-of-the-art network for on- and off-site staff training, which is accessible to its 
subsidiary in Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

The World Bank Group’s country assistance strategy for Bosnia and Herzegovina asserts that a more 
aggressive reform effort over the next several years is essential to creating sustainable growth. The 
key reform measures identified to ensure a private sector-led response include the promotion of new 
private activity through a transparent and predictable enabling environment, the transformation of 
outmoded socially owned productive capacities into operations that can stand on their own feet in 
open markets through privatization, and the reform of a dysfunctional and de-capitalized banking 
sector to ensure that productive activity can operate in efficient financial markets. MIGA’s support of  
Raiffeisen Bank’s latest expansion meets all three of these objectives. 
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Croatia Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG 
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o.

MIGA has provided Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG of Austria a e33.25 million ($43.3 million)  
guarantee covering its non-shareholder loan of e35 million to Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o. of Croatia 
(RLCR). The guarantee covers the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation for a period of five 
years. 

This project is part of the overall regional expansion strategy of RZB. By expanding its operations in 
Croatia, RLCR will increase the availability of financing alternatives, providing leasing services to man-
ufacturers and exporters, mostly small and medium-size enterprises. This is MIGA’s second project 
in Croatia with RZB. 

RLCR continues to diversify its services and help the Croatian economy grow. Until now, it has focused 
on financing equipment and vehicles, with construction equipment for bakeries currently accounting 
for the largest share of the company’s portfolio. In the future, the company plans to capitalize on the 
strong growth of medical equipment leasing and machinery.

Croatia Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d.

MIGA has provided Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG with a guarantee covering its  
e110 million shareholder loan to Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d. of Croatia. The guarantee, for e104.5 million  
($128.1 million), covers against the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation for a period of six 
years. The project will allow Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d. to finance its expansion in the local market, 
with the aim of contributing to the recovery of the Croatian economy through the provision of both 
corporate (including SMEs) and retail loans.

The project, supported by MIGA, is expected to yield a number of developmental benefits, including 
introducing new products, more efficient services at competitive prices, and know-how and technical 
improvements to the Croatian financial services sector. Local SMEs and exporting companies will 
receive support through greater access to financing. Moreover, MIGA’s coverage will enable the bank 
to increase its medium-term commercial financing, encouraging competitive pricing and providing 
better terms for loans. 

These development impacts complement the World Bank Group’s country assistance strategy (CAS) 
for Croatia, which focuses on addressing the country’s post-war reconstruction needs. The CAS aims to 
achieve economic growth in Croatia by attracting and leveraging private and foreign direct investment 
flows. Consequently, the focus is on supporting local SMEs, promoting infrastructure investments, 
and improving access to finance. 

Latvia Baltic American Mortgage Holdings, LLC
Baltic-American Mortgage Trust 2004-1
Baltic-American Mortgage Company

MIGA has issued guarantees totaling $10.1 million to Baltic American Mortgage Holdings (BaMO), 
LLC, of the United States, covering an equity investment in its wholly owned subsidiary Baltic American 
Mortgage Company (BaMC). The coverage, which is up to 20 years, protects against transfer restriction 
and expropriation risks. The guarantees also protect the Baltic-American Mortgage Trust 2004-1, 
covering 18 months of interest of a portfolio of mortgages under a mortgage-backed securitization. 
That coverage is up to 20 years and protects against transfer restriction and expropriation of funds. 

(cont’d)
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Country Activities

Latvia (cont’d)

The project’s mortgage-backed securitization aims to expand BaMO’s mortgage lending program in 
Latvia. It is the company’s first issue under a $360 million securitization program in the Baltic States. 
BaMC is the originator and “servicer” of the mortgage portfolio. The securitization consists of up to 
$60 million in financing structured in three tranches: senior notes, subordinated notes, and fully sub-
ordinated notes. MIGA’s support was crucial in enhancing by three notches the rating of the senior 
notes—which account for 92.5 percent of the issue—and thus attracting institutional investors from 
abroad. The transaction is a joint MIGA-IFC effort. 

The project is helping to expand the nascent mortgage market in Latvia by making available additional 
financial resources for mortgages at more competitive rates. This is particularly important for a country 
that is experiencing a shortage of affordable housing, and where existing housing is old and in need of 
repair. And as the first mortgage-backed securitization in Latvia, the project is expected to be a catalyst 
for the development of the secondary mortgage market, which can significantly increase liquidity in 
the primary mortgage market, help extend maturities, and reduce the cost of housing finance, making 
house ownership more affordable. Another expected benefit is that the developing housing market will 
trigger industrial growth in a series of complementary industries related to construction. 

The guarantees complement Latvia’s country assistance strategy, which focuses on housing as one of 
four principal areas for World Bank Group involvement. The project also reflects MIGA’s continuing 
efforts to support capital markets and securitizations as alternative sources of foreign direct investment 
in its member countries.

Romania Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG
HVB Bank Romania S.A.

MIGA has issued a $35.3 million guarantee to Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG of Austria for a loan 
made to its wholly owned subsidiary in Romania, HVB Bank Romania S.A. (HVB-Romania), by KfW—
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau. The guarantee covers the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation 
of funds for a period of up to 10 years. This is MIGA’s third guarantee in support of this project.

Since its establishment in 1998, HVB-Romania has expanded considerably its products and services, 
operating nine branches in Romania at the end of 2003. With its lending activity heavily focused on 
small and medium-size enterprises, HVB-Romania is contributing to the growth of the country’s 
private sector. The loan by KfW will be devoted primarily to its lending portfolio for SMEs, which in 
turn will continue to strengthen Romania’s private sector and its economy overall. In addition to its 
pivotal role in SME financing, HVB-Romania also plays a leading role in the process of privatization, 
providing know-how, technical solutions and new products, as well as in trade, project, and investment 
financing.

HVB-Romania currently employs 300 people, mostly clerical and professional staff, in 12 branches. 
Salaries are about 20 percent above the industry average in Romania, and additional benefits, such 
as medical insurance and low-interest personal loans, are also provided. Bank Austria Creditanstalt’s 
on- and off-site staff-training programs are available to HVB-Romania employees. Contributions to 
government revenues are expected to exceed e2 million over the next five years. It is estimated that the 
increase in export revenues resulting from expansion will be roughly e15 million. 

This project is compatible with the key goals the World Bank’s country assistance strategy for Romania 
of enhancing the role of the private sector, reforming the financial sector, and improving the country’s 
investment environment. MIGA’s support of this project is based on the crucial impact that a more 
vibrant and efficient finance sector can have on Romania’s economy.
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Romania Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
Raiffeisen Bank S.A.

MIGA has issued a $25.7 million guarantee to Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG of Austria to 
cover its shareholder subordinated loan to its subsidiary, Raiffeisen Bank S.A. Romania. The coverage 
is for seven years, and protects against the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation. The loan will 
help the subsidiary to further increase its market share and offer top-quality banking services.  

As a subsidiary of one of Austria’s leading banks, Raiffeisen Bank S.A. is able to provide quick, efficient, 
and professional services to its clients at competitive prices. Besides retail banking and credit facilities, 
Raiffeisen Bank S.A. offers corporate business and trade finance services, loans, treasury, and capital 
market services. The bank also has in place a credit line for lending to local small and medium-
size enterprises supported by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development—which is 
crucial for fostering entrepreneurship, innovation, exports, and employment, as well as for promoting 
economic development throughout the country.

Raiffeisen Bank S.A. is planning to strengthen its training program, available to all employees. For 
2004, the bank budgeted about $3.2 million for training, or approximately six training days per 
employee. Raiffeisen Bank S.A. also possesses advanced information technology and proprietary 
software systems, automated processing, and up-to-date banking technology—critical for the local 
transfer of knowledge.

As the volume of the bank’s business increases, so will the number of people employed by the bank. 
That number was estimated to have reached almost 4,700 by the end of 2004. The bank is also 
planning to improve further its technological infrastructure by updating key information technology 
capabilities and by establishing a new operations center. As the bank expands, spillover effects on the 
local economy are expected to grow.

This project is consistent with the key objectives of the World Bank’s country assistance strategy 
for Romania, which seeks to achieve economic growth by improving the role of the private sector in 
the economy and reforming the financial sector, which are essential for long-term sustainable devel-
opment. 

Romania Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
Raiffeisen Leasing S.R.L.

MIGA has issued a $23.8 million guarantee to Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG of Austria to cover 
its shareholder loan to Raiffeisen Leasing S.R.L. in Romania. The loan aims to expand the subsidiary’s 
leasing operations in Romania, particularly to small and medium-size enterprises. The coverage is for 
up to four years, and protects against the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation of funds.

Leasing has become one of the most popular instruments in Romania for financing a variety of assets 
required by both individuals and Romanian enterprises. Raiffeisen Leasing S.R.L., established in 
Romania in 2002, provides leasing services primarily in the areas of equipment, vehicles and, since 
2005, real estate. In 2004, Raiffeisen Leasing concluded e117 million in contracts, double its 2003 
results. The company holds a 10 percent market share.

The financing and guarantees will enable Raiffeisen Leasing to increase its portfolio and the avail-
ability of financing alternatives, and thus be able to provide enhanced leasing services to all of its 
clients, especially manufacturers, exporters, and SMEs. The increased resources will allow SMEs 
greater access to financing for new manufacturing equipment, allowing them to replace outdated 
capital assets. The availability of high-quality, efficient, and competitively priced leasing services to the 
corporate sector, as well as to retail customers, will bolster the performance of Romania’s financial 
sector and increase its efficiency. This in turn is expected to have a positive impact on Romania’s 
private sector and its economy overall.

(cont’d)
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Country Activities

Romania (cont’d)

Raiffeisen Leasing has a network of 16 units located in Romania’s main cities, which provide proximity 
to customers, flexibility in terms of contract and reimbursement, greater specialization for its team of 
professionals, and close links and cooperation with suppliers. Through this network the company is 
able to harness local market knowledge to the benefit of its customers. The loan will help expand its 
local presence throughout the country and improve synergies with local entities. 

Raiffeisen Leasing counted 88 employees in Romania by the end of 2004, which is expected to double 
in the next four years. Raiffeisen Leasing employees benefit from the transfer of know-how and expe-
rience regarding sophisticated leasing products and new developments, such as vendor-leasing 
concepts, real estate development and leasing, facility leasing for public entities, as well as up-to-date 
leasing information technology that considerably reduces processing time. 

MIGA’s involvement in this project is consistent with Romania’s country assistance strategy, which 
includes the promotion of growth through private sector development and the creation of an efficient, 
healthy, and competitive financial sector.

Russian 
Federation

Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
ZAO Raiffeisenbank Austria

MIGA has issued Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG of Austria a $47.5 million guarantee covering 
its $50 million subordinated shareholder loan to ZAO Raiffeisenbank Austria (RBRU) of the Russian 
Federation. The guarantee is for a period of up to seven years and covers against the risks of transfer 
restriction and expropriation. 

The shareholder loan will help to strengthen RBRU’s Tier II capital to allow the bank to continue 
growing its portfolio. RBRU offers a full range of services, including retail, corporate finance, and 
investment banking. In 2003, it was the first bank in the market to offer consumers unsecured multi-
purpose loans. That same year, its corporate credit portfolio grew by 52 percent. 

This project supports a significant foreign player in a banking sector plagued by fundamental and 
structural weaknesses with few foreign investors. The presence of a bank like RBRU, with its gov-
ernance, transparency, advanced risk management, and operational know-how, is key to the devel-
opment of Russia’s banking sector. By supporting the expansion of RBRU’s high-quality services, 
this project will benefit consumers and have a demonstration effect on the financial sector. It also 
complements Russia’s country assistance strategy, which aims in part to increase effective financial 
intermediation and opportunities for the entry and growth of new firms. 

Russian 
Federation

WTE Wassertechnik GmbH
WTE Süd-West

MIGA issued a guarantee of e42.7 million ($56.4 million) to WTE Wassertechnik GmbH of Germany 
(WTE), a member firm of the Austrian EVN Group, for its e47.5 million equity investment in WTE 
Süd-West of the Russian Federation. The guarantee covers a period of 13 years and provides coverage 
against the risks of expropriation and breach of contract. The guarantee replaces a previous share-
holder loan and equity guarantee.

(cont’d)
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Russian 
Federation

(cont’d)

The project addresses the increase in demand for water supply faced by the growing city of Moscow. 
The project consists of the construction of a greenfield water treatment plant that will increase 
Moscow’s potable water supply capacity by 4 percent. The project enterprise will be responsible 
for the construction (begun September 2003) of a 250,000 cubic meters per day water treatment 
plant under a 13.5- year build, own, operate and transfer (BOOT) concession scheme. Water will be 
channeled from the Moskva River to a processing plant where it will be filtrated using state-of-the-art 
technologies. The purified product will then be distributed through the municipal water system by 
Mosvodokanal, the city-owned utility.

The city of Moscow is projected to garner more than $10 million a year (five-year projected annual 
average) in tax revenues from the project. The project enterprise expects to employ an estimated 170 
local workers during construction and about 70 employees on a permanent basis. Average workers’ 
wages will be 10 to 20 percent higher than the domestic sector standard, and will include social 
security benefits. In addition to training local management and employees, the project enterprise also 
expects to transfer operating know-how to Mosvodokanal employees before the transfer of ownership 
at the end of the concession period. Moreover, the plant’s clean water is expected to improve local 
health, environmental and safety conditions, and create positive business externalities.

The project addresses MIGA’s priority of supporting basic infrastructure.

Serbia and 
Montenegro

Raiffeisenbank a.s.
Raiffeisenbank a.d.

MIGA issued guarantees for $49.3 million and $82.2 million to Raiffeisenbank a.s. (RBCZ) of the 
Czech Republic for shareholder loans to Raiffeisenbank a.d. (RBSM) in Serbia and Montenegro. The 
guarantees are for a period of six years and provide coverage against the risks of transfer restriction 
and expropriation of funds.

These guarantees add to MIGA’s previous support of RBCZ’s investments in RBSM. The loan provides 
medium-term funding to RBSM, which in turn will enable it to increase the availability of medium-term 
financing to the corporate sector, including small and medium-size enterprises. The investment will 
strengthen and diversify RBSM’s lending portfolio. Moreover, the financing package will also increase 
the availability of funds with longer tenors available in the marketplace, generating competitive pricing 
and terms for loans to Serbian companies. 

The RSBM project complements the World Bank Group’s development strategy for Serbia and 
Montenegro, which aims in part to restore macroeconomic stability and external balance, stimulate 
near-term growth, and create the basis for a sustainable supply response in the economy by 
strengthening the financial sector. In underwriting this project, MIGA meets two of the agency’s devel-
opment priorities as it supports an SME project in an IDA-eligible country. 

Serbia and 
Montenegro

Raiffeisenbank a.s.
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o.

MIGA has provided Raiffeisenbank a.s of the Czech Republic a $24.8 million guarantee covering its 
non-shareholder loan to Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o. (RLSM) in Serbia and Montenegro. The guarantee 
covers the risks of transfer restriction and expropriation for a period of five years. This is the third 
project supported by MIGA involving a loan to RLSM.  

The project is part of an overall regional expansion strategy of Raiffeissen International Bank-Holding 
AG. By expanding operations in Serbia and Montenegro, RLSM will increase the availability of financing 
alternatives, providing leasing services to manufacturers and exporters in Serbia and Montenegro, 
mostly small and medium-size enterprises.
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Country Activities

Serbia and 
Montenegro

Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG
HVB Banka Serbia and Montenegro a.d.

MIGA issued a guarantee for $11.7 million to Bank Austria Creditanstalt (BACA) AG covering its 
guaranty for a loan made by KfW—Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau to BACA’s subsidiary HVB Banka 
Serbia and Montenegro a.d. (HVB-SAM), in Belgrade, Serbia and Montenegro. The guarantee is for 
ten years, and covers the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, and war and civil disturbance.

MIGA issued two guarantees to the investor covering an e8 million investment into the project in 
fiscal 2004. The project is expected to increase longer-term financing and generate competitive pricing 
for retail and corporate clients. The funds will be dedicated almost exclusively to small and medium-
size enterprises, including in the retail and food sectors. HVB-SAM is expected to play an important 
role in the ongoing restructuring of Serbia and Montenegro’s financial sector by providing knowledge, 
technical solutions, and new products. HVB-SAM employs 146 staff in seven branches and expects to 
add more local employees over the next five years. HVB-SAM’s staff will benefit from on- and off-site 
training. 

The project is part of an overall World Bank Group effort to help Serbia and Montenegro stimulate 
short-term growth and build effective institutions.

Serbia and 
Montenegro

Slovene Export Corporation
Sartid Fahop d.o.o.

MIGA has provided $3.6 million (e2.93 million) in reinsurance coverage to the Slovene Export 
Corporation (SEC), the official Slovene export credit agency, supporting its guarantee to Alpos d.d. 
of Slovenia for Alpos’s equity investment in Sartid Fahop d.o.o. in Serbia and Montenegro. The rein-
surance contract will cover the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, and war and civil disturbance 
for a period of nine years.

Alpos, a well-known Slovene company that produces pipes, profiles, metal furniture, and aluminum 
products, has recently acquired Sartid Fahop d.o.o., a Serbian firm. Alpos’ management plans to 
substantially increase the plant’s production over the next five years by modernizing the company’s 
marketing, management techniques, information technology, and machinery. 

This project is expected to yield several significant developmental benefits for the local economy. 
Over the first five years of operation, the Sartid Fahop plant is expected to pay e2.3 million in taxes 
and levies to the government. More than 20 percent of the plant’s finished products are targeted 
for exports to neighboring countries, including Bosnia and Herzegovina, Hungary, Bulgaria, and 
Romania. Such regional trade will contribute to improving the country’s trade balance, as well as posi-
tively contribute to building up regional commercial relations and networks in the Balkans. Moreover, 
a significant portion of the plant’s raw materials will be procured locally from U.S. Steel Serbia in 
Smederevo, Serbia. 

A priority objective of the reinsurance is to free up SEC’s capacity to facilitate future Slovenian 
investments into Serbia and Montenegro, and to allow SEC to diversify its portfolio. Moreover, by 
underwriting this investment, MIGA meets four of the agency’s development priorities as it supports 
a South-South SME project in a post-conflict, IDA-eligible country.
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Ukraine Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
Joint Stock Commercial Bank Raiffeisenbank Ukraine

MIGA has issued an $18.1 million guarantee to Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG of Austria 
covering its subordinated shareholder loan to Joint Stock Commercial Bank Raiffeisenbank Ukraine 
(RBUA). The guarantee, for a period of up to seven years, provides coverage against the risks of 
transfer restriction and expropriation. 

The subordinated loan is part of a larger funding package RZB is providing to strengthen RBUA’s 
capital base to position it for growth. The loan is specifically meant to increase RBUA’s Tier II capital 
to help the bank expand its domestic loan portfolio, especially in the small and medium-size enterprise 
sector. RBUA is by far the largest international bank in Ukraine and also has the largest portfolio of 
local lending clients. It is ranked first in total assets per employee, a measure of operating efficiency.

This project will help to strengthen a major banking player in Ukraine and support the stability of the 
financial sector in a time of uncertainty. MIGA’s coverage also sends a positive message to the market 
about the World Bank Group’s support for Ukraine. RBUA plays an important role in developing 
Ukraine’s financial sector by providing know-how, technical solutions, and new products. Foreign bank 
involvement in Ukraine has been modest, especially in comparison with other transition economies. 
RZB’s continued support for its subsidiary will provide a model in the sector for corporate governance 
and anti-money laundering. 

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITIES

Armenia. MIGA continued its work on the World Bank 
Learning and Innovation Loan to Armenia, under 
which the Bank and MIGA are providing support to the 
Armenian Development Agency (ADA) in the areas of 
foreign investment and export facilitation. The three-
year project is due to close at the end of June 2005. The 
fiscal year saw staff monitoring overall progress of the 
project, conducting a final institutional reassessment of 
ADA, and developing long-term action plans. The World 
Bank Group and MIGA jointly explored potential ways to 
secure ADA’s financial sustainability after completion of 
the loan. 

Azerbaijan. A joint MIGA-FIAS project—launched in 
FY05 and financed by the Swiss government—con-
ducted an initial assessment of the newly established 
Azerbaijan Investment Promotion Foundation (AIPF). 
The assessment gathered information from the gov-
ernment, the private sector, and donors to guide the 
foundation’s strategic directions. Investment promotion 
training was provided to AIPF staff, who also provided 
input on strategy. MIGA presented a report containing 
recommendations and courses of action for AIPF, as well 
as feedback on potential capacity-building programs and 
support, taking into account the interventions planned by 
other donors (notably by EU TACIS, a two-year technical 
assistance program of about e1 million). 

Croatia. Under its regional umbrella initiative for the 
Balkans—the European Investor Outreach Program—
MIGA established the Croatian Investment Promotion 
Outreach Alliance (CIPO) in fiscal 2005. CIPO is a formal 
partnership between MIGA, United States Agency for 
International Development (USAID), and the Istrian 
Development Agency to support and strengthen imple-
mentation of MIGA’s EIOP in Croatia. The Istrian 
Development Agency, CIPO’s main partner, represents a 
network of several regional development agencies across 
Croatia. Under the project, MIGA has established a Croatia-
specific investor outreach and marketing function, based 
in the EIOP facility in Austria. The alliance is also funding 
Croatia-specific capacity-building and training activities. 
Through these activities, CIPO is helping to strengthen 
the institutional framework for investment promotion in 
Croatia and providing EIOP with a field-based implemen-
tation partner.

Georgia. In response to a request from the country’s 
Ministry of Economic Development, MIGA performed a 
needs assessment of Georgia’s National Investment and 
Export Promotion Agency. The results of the assessment 
will guide the design of a MIGA technical assistance 
project for Georgia next fiscal year.

Kosovo. In May 2005, MIGA teamed up with the World 
Bank and IFC to assess the current state of FDI in Kosovo, 
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as well as institutional arrangements for investment facili-
tation and promotion and the overall investment climate. 
The main objective of the assessment was to develop 
an understanding of how MIGA and other development 
partners might help Kosovo in the area of investment 
promotion. In particular, the assessment provided input 
for determining technical assistance needs and priorities 
in Kosovo in relation to the establishment of a profes-
sional investment promotion body. 

FYR Macedonia. In FY04, MIGA launched a project, 
funded by the Austrian Development Agency, to provide 
technical assistance to Macedonia’s newly established 
investment promotion intermediary. The program 
involves three components: coaching and mentoring the 
IPI’s board and management, including on fundraising; 
adding Macedonia to MIGA’s EIOP program; and pro-
viding the IPI with a client-relationship management 
and investor-tracking system. MIGA expects the project 
to be followed by a longer-term, larger-scale technical 
assistance program developed and implemented by the 
European Agency for Reconstruction, with the support 
and inputs from MIGA. 

Montenegro. With donor funding from the European 
Agency for Reconstruction, MIGA launched a small 
technical assistance program to help Montenegro 
establish a new investment facilitation and servicing unit. 
The 18-month program supports the establishment of the 
unit, including the development of a start-up strategy and 
work plan, skills development and training, and support 
for initial information dissemination activities. 

Serbia. Over the past two years, MIGA has supported 
the implementation of an institutional development and 
capacity-building program for the Serbian Investment 
and Export Promotion Agency (SIEPA). The program, 
funded by a World Bank private sector development 
grant, includes preparation of an FDI promotion strategy, 
strengthening of investment promotion and facilitation 
skills, and implementation of a series of pilot investor 
outreach programs in a number of priority sectors. MIGA’s 
assistance complements World Bank Group support 
under the same grant in the areas of privatization and 
investment climate reform. The program will be wrapped 
up in the coming couple of months. At the request of the 
European Agency for Reconstruction, MIGA is currently 
preparing a follow-on assistance program for SIEPA to 
help further strengthen Serbia’s investment facilitation 
capacity. The program, to be funded by a e4.5 million 
grant from the European Agency for Reconstruction, will 
be administered through a new MIGA trust fund and 
is expected to be launched in mid-FY06. Also in Serbia, 
MIGA began fieldwork on a Western Balkans bench-
marking program (see below). 

Tajikistan. In partnership with FIAS, MIGA launched a new 
technical assistance program for the country, to be imple-
mented over a two-year period. Financed by the Swiss 

government, the program aims to strengthen Tajikistan’s 
investment climate and investment facilitation capacity. 
A MIGA-FIAS team jointly reviewed work carried out on 
assessing the country’s investment climate, in particular 
pertaining to the legal and regulatory environment and 
administrative barriers to investment. Next steps include 
the development of an action plan to present to the 
government. MIGA and FIAS are working closely with 
the World Bank, IFC, and Private Enterprise Partnership 
program (PEP) to increase the private sector’s under-
standing and support for the project. A series of training 
programs will be offered in collaboration with the World 
Bank Institute.

Regional. MIGA’s European Investor Outreach Program 
for the Western Balkans aims to increase investor 
awareness of business and investment opportunities in 
South Eastern Europe. The EIOP currently covers Albania, 
Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, FYR Macedonia, and 
Serbia and Montenegro. Under the program, funded by 
the Austrian government, MIGA is jointly implementing 
with beneficiary countries a series of pilot outreach and 
investor marketing activities, accompanied by additional 
training and capacity-building activities for the partici-
pating investment promotion intermediaries. 

MIGA has also performed a study benchmarking the com-
petitiveness of the Western Balkan countries as a site for 
manufacturing and export-oriented foreign investment. 
The study’s findings are being integrated into the work 
program of the European Investor Outreach Program.
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Latin America and the Caribbean

Economic activity in Latin America and the Caribbean 
grew by 6 percent during 2004, substantially higher than 
the growth rate of 1.9 percent in 2003. Strong world 
demand for commodities contributed to large output 
gains in Brazil, Chile, and Mexico. Argentina’s substantial 
rebound following its 45 percent real effective depre-
ciation between late 2001 and early 2005 contributed to 
the region’s strong performance. Net inward FDI to Latin 
America started recovering in 2004, growing to $42.4 
billion from $36.5 billion a year before. These levels of 
FDI are still significantly below the peak of $88.2 billion 
of FDI reached in 1999. In addition, about 83 percent of 
all foreign direct investment flowed into Brazil, Mexico, 
and Chile. 

In fiscal year 2005, MIGA supported three projects 
through its guarantees program and undertook 12 
technical assistance activities in the region. At year-end, 
MIGA’s gross guarantees exposure stood at $1.3 billion, 
or 24.7 percent of the agency’s outstanding portfolio.

GUARANTEES 

Country Activities

Brazil Isolux Wat S.A.
Cobra Instalaciones y Servicios, S.A.
Elecnor, S.A.
Cachoeira Paulista Transmissora de Energia Ltda.

MIGA has provided three guarantees in the amounts of e5.1 million ($6.7 million) to Isolux Wat 
S.A. for its equity investment of e5.7 million; e5.1 million ($6.9 million) to Cobra Instalaciones y 
Servicios, S.A. for its equity investment of e5.7 million; and $1.8 million to Elecnor, S.A. for its equity 
investment of $6.7 million in Cachoeira Paulista Transmissora de Energia Ltda. The guarantees are 
for a period of 13 years and provide coverage against the risks of transfer restriction and breach of 
contract. 

The project involves the construction of an $80 million power transmission line in the State of Sao 
Paulo, which will increase transmission capacity as well as improve the reliability of the electricity 
supply. MIGA’s participation in the project is consistent with the World Bank’s objectives of sup-
porting Brazil’s power sector. The project is considered crucial for the country’s economic devel-
opment because it bolsters transmission capacity, which is considered a priority in Brazil’s electricity 
development program for 1999-2008.

A total of 1,200 workers will be hired during the construction phase of the project and about 30 people 
during the operation of the enterprise. The project will also pay taxes amounting to an estimated $64 
million during the lifetime of the concession, and in accordance with Brazilian law, roughly $400,000 
of the cost of the infrastructure project will be set aside for the establishment of conservation areas, 
parks, and protected areas.  
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Country Activities

Brazil Isolux Wat S.A.
Cobra Instalaciones y Servicios, S.A.
Elecnor, S.A.
Transmissao Itumbiara Marimbondo Ltda.

MIGA has provided three guarantees in the amounts of e3.6 million ($4.6 million) to Isolux Wat S.A. 
for its equity investment of e3.8 million; e3.5 million ($4.7 million) to Cobra Instalaciones y Servicios, 
S.A. for its equity investment of e3.8 million; and $1.0 million to Elecnor, S.A. for its equity investment 
of $4.5 million in Transmissao Itumbiara Marimbondo Ltda. The guarantees are for a period of 13 
years and provide coverage against the risks of transfer restriction and breach of contract. 

The project involves the construction of an $80 million power transmission line in the State of Minas 
Gerais, which will increase transmission capacity as well as improve the reliability of the electricity 
supply. MIGA’s participation in the project is consistent with the World Bank’s objectives of sup-
porting Brazil’s power sector. The project is considered crucial for the country’s economic devel-
opment because it bolsters transmission capacity, which is considered a priority in Brazil’s electricity 
development program for 1999-2008.

A total of 1,300 workers will be hired during the construction phase of the project and about 30 people 
during the operation of the enterprise. The project will also pay taxes amounting to an estimated $62 
million during the lifetime of the concession, and in accordance with Brazilian law, roughly $400,000 
of the cost of the infrastructure project will be set aside for the establishment of conservation areas, 
parks, and protected areas. 

Brazil Cooperative Centrale Raiffeisen-boerenleenbank BA
Banco Rabobank International Brasil SA

MIGA has issued $66.5 million in guarantees to Cooperative Centrale Raiffeisen-boerenleenbank BA 
of the Netherlands, covering its $70 million shareholder loan to Banco Rabobank International Brasil 
SA (Rabo-Brazil). The guarantee is for a period of up to eight years and covers the risks of transfer 
restriction and expropriation. 

Rabo-Brazil is planning to use the shareholder loan to participate in trade receivable funds, which 
acquire discounted receivables from companies that finance consumers and small and medium-size 
enterprises. Such funds are an important funding source for Brazilian companies, allowing trade 
receivables originators to finance their revolving short-term needs with long-term funding. Rabo-Brazil 
focuses on the Brazilian food and agribusiness market.

Structured as a local currency securitization, the project will also help develop local capital markets. 
In addition, Rabo-Brazil financing for companies is expected to help create indirect employment. By 
fostering financial sector development and broadening access to credit, the project is consistent with 
Brazil’s country assistance strategy, which focuses in part on the development of a more competitive 
financial market.
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Country Activities

Uruguay Abengoa S.A.
Teyma Uruguay S.A.

MIGA has issued a $0.7 million guarantee to Abengoa S.A. of Spain covering its loan guaranty of $1.8 
million to Fleet National Bank for its loan to Teyma Uruguay S.A. in Uruguay. The guarantee is for 
a period of up to seven years and covers against the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, and 
breach of contract.

Abengoa’s loan guaranty will allow Fleet National Bank to issue $1.8 million in letters of credit for 
Teyma to purchase waste management equipment. Teyma will then lease the equipment to Consorcio 
Ambiental del Plata (CAP), a project that includes the collection of solid waste in five neighborhoods 
in the capital city of Montevideo, the sweeping and cleaning of public roads, and the moving of 
refuse to a city-run landfill site. CAP is a consortium established in Uruguay for the sole purpose of 
this seven-year public bid, which follows a previous concession to a different company. CAP is wholly 
owned by Teyma, which is 92 percent owned by Abengoa. 

The project introduces a new system of 24-hour, year-round collection containers to an area with a 
population of 150,000 people. It also reduces collection costs by 30 percent compared to the previous 
concession. CAP’s new equipment is expected to reduce accidents on the job and improve working 
conditions. Training programs will coach employees on operations, safety risks, and environmental 
care. By supporting a new market entrant following an open bidding process, the project is also con-
sistent with the World Bank Group’s strategy of increasing competitiveness in Uruguay.   

Colombia. MIGA launched a three-year technical 
assistance program with Bogotá’s Chamber of Commerce 
during the fiscal year. The program began with an 
assessment of FDI-related promotional capacity in the 
Bogotá, Cundinamarca region. Assessment results were 
discussed with key stakeholders, including the Regional 
Competitiveness Board, which approved MIGA’s 
proposal to create a regional economic development 
agency to carry out an investment promotion program 
under MIGA’s guidance. MIGA then helped develop a 
detailed business plan for the agency, defining its orga-
nizational structure and outlining funding needs. The 
structure and institutional model developed under this 
project provides a model that MIGA can replicate in other 
areas interested in developing their regional investment 
promotion capacity.

Dominican Republic. At the request of the Centro de 
Exportación e Inversión de la Republica Dominicana, the 
agency in charge of the country’s investment promotion, 
MIGA provided training for staff and partners of the 
agency on proactive investment promotion techniques 
and strategy development. 

El Salvador. As part of MIGA’s longstanding technical 
assistance program with PRO.ESA, the national 
investment promotion agency, MIGA provided training 
on advanced investment promotion tools and techniques 

during the fiscal year. MIGA has been involved in estab-
lishing sophisticated promotional systems within the 
agency, which have generated important FDI flows for the 
country. 

Guatemala. At the request of Invest in Guatemala (IIG) 
and the Presidential Commissioner for Private Sector 
Development, MIGA worked with IIG to plan and prepare 
sector promotion campaigns. MIGA helped the agency 
with fundraising and helped lay the groundwork for sector 
studies. MIGA also helped upgrade the agency’s client-
relationship management system and provided staff 
training on system maintenance.

Honduras. Work continued on MIGA’s technical 
assistance program to increase and attract higher value-
added FDI into Honduras. The main components of 
the program are being funded through an IDA credit for 
trade facilitation and productivity. Under this program, 
MIGA is working with the national investment promotion 
agency (FIDE) on targeted campaigns to attract foreign 
investment in four main sectors over the next three years. 
During the fiscal year, MIGA worked with FIDE to set the 
stage for these campaigns by launching sector studies 
in light manufacturing and agribusiness, with a view to 
identifying potential investors. Further sector studies are 
planned for tourism and services.  

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITIES
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Nicaragua. MIGA has provided intensive support to 
ProNicaragua, the national investment promotion agency, 
since inception. ProNicaragua is now a model of success 
in the region, illustrating how effective an IPI can be in 
attracting FDI. In the short time since becoming opera-
tional in 2003, the agency has been directly involved in the 
attraction of more than $88 million in new investments, 
which are expected to create 6,550 new jobs. MIGA 
estimates that an additional 10,000 to 12,000 jobs will be 
created indirectly. MIGA plans to focus its future technical 
assistance on diversifying FDI into new sectors within 
light manufacturing, taking advantage of opportunities 
opened up by the country’s participation in the Central 
American Free Trade Agreement, increasing tourism and 
hotel projects, and seeking out flagship investments in 
agribusiness.

Panama. The IFC and Panama’s Regional Inter-Oceanic 
Authority, working together under a technical assistance 
contract, provided advisory services that led to the 
enactment of a new law in 2004 relating to implementation 
of the Panama Pacific Special Economic Zone (PPSEZ). 
MIGA cooperated with the IFC under the contract, pro-

viding advisory services on investment promotion into 
the special economic zones, and helped to develop con-
sensus on the new law. This fiscal year, the PPSEZ admin-
istration renewed its technical assistance contract with 
the IFC to continue and deepen work launched last fiscal 
year. Work to date has focused on the privatization and 
conversion of the Howard Air Force Base into the PPSEZ, 
bringing together consulting firms as well as MIGA and 
FIAS to develop an implementation plan for the next nine 
months. MIGA is advising on investment promotion and 
free zone development, as well as helping to market the 
project in an international tender in order to concession 
the zone to an international developer.

Regional. During the fiscal year, MIGA worked with the 
Commonwealth Secretariat to implement an Enterprise 
Benchmarking Program in the Eastern Caribbean. The 
Commonwealth Secretariat is particularly interested in 
covering Antigua & Barbuda and St. Lucia, as well as 
the information and communications technology and 
agribusiness sectors. MIGA has also been engaging in a 
dialogue with the World Bank Group, which is currently 
analyzing Jamaica’s tourism sector. 
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Middle East and North Africa

Despite the overall increase in foreign direct investment 
into developing countries as a whole, FDI into the Middle 
East and North Africa in 2004 was an estimated $4.1 
billion, compared with $4.8 billion in 2003. This decline 
can be attributed to a number of factors, including 
regional conflicts, investor perceptions of the region, 
large public sectors, and investment climates that deter 
investors. The average GDP growth rate for the region 
also declined slightly, from 5.2 percent in 2003 to 5.1 
percent in 2004. Oil rich countries, however, continued to 
benefit from high international oil prices and registered 

strong economic growth, averaging 5.5 percent in 2004. 
However these countries remain undiversified and vul-
nerable to external price shocks. MIGA is keen to expand 
its role to attract and retain FDI into the region.

In fiscal year 2005, MIGA supported one project through 
its guarantee program and undertook three technical 
assistance activities in the region. At year-end, MIGA’s 
total gross guarantees exposure stood at $154 million, or 
3 percent of the agency’s outstanding portfolio.

GUARANTEES 

Country Activities

Egypt Urbaser, S.A. 
Environmental Service S.A.

MIGA issued four guarantees to Urbaser S.A. of Spain in association with its 15-year concession 
agreement with the Cairo Cleaning & Beautifying General Authority, an affiliate of the Municipality 
of Cairo. The guarantees cover a $1.23 million equity investment in the project enterprise, 
Environmental Service S.A. (Enser); a $2.43 million loan guaranty for an eight-year commercial bank 
loan made by National Société Générale Bank to Enser; a $2.07 million loan guaranty to National 
Société Générale Bank for a one-year revolving short-term commercial loan to the project enterprise 
and a performance bond to the Cairo Cleaning & Beautifying General Authority; and $1.08 million 
loan guarantee to Sogelease, a local leasing company, for a purchase option of Enser under the lease 
agreement. MIGA’s gross exposure under the project is $6.41 million. The guarantees are for 10 
years and cover the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, war and civil disturbance, and breach 
of contract. 

The project will contribute to modernizing Cairo’s waste management sector, preserving the city’s 
environment, and bolstering public health and the quality of life of its citizens. Under the former 
waste removal system, much of the city’s waste was left uncollected and was often discarded in 
unofficial dumpsites close to housing developments, where it was either burned or left untreated. 
This practice created pollution, and posed health and safety concerns for both adults and children 
throughout the city. The project will increase coverage of waste collection from roughly 75 percent of 
households in the concession area to 100 percent coverage.  

The project will also serve to protect and improve the health and quality of life of a particular com-
munity most adversely affected by Cairo’s waste—the Zabbaleen. The Zabbaleen are a people who 
make their livelihood from collecting and recycling Cairo’s solid waste. They traditionally transport 
the waste to their homes, which has led to a very high percentage of tuberculosis and hepatitis 
infections in their communities.

Roughly 450 of the 2,000 local jobs expected to be generated by the project are set aside for the 
Zabbaleen. Moreover, employment of the Zabbaleens will include protective equipment and uniforms, 
greatly improved work conditions and sanitation standards, medical benefits, training, and improved 
collection techniques. Medical waste will be pre-sorted at the source and transported in sealed, rigid 
and marked containers to incineration sites.  

The project is consistent with Egypt’s development goals, as embodied in the World Bank Group’s 
county assistance strategy: improving the country’s infrastructure, reducing unemployment, and pre-
serving the environment. 
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Egypt. At the request of the General Authority for Free 
Zones and Investment (GAFI), MIGA has launched 
a three-year technical assistance program to develop 
GAFI’s institutional capacity to promote FDI. Activities 
were begun in April 2005. The program consists of nine 
major components, beginning with an institutional 
review of GAFI, as well as the drafting of an investment 
promotion business plan and strategy.

Morocco. Based on an institutional assessment of the 
Tangier Invest Project, MIGA has worked with the IFC’s 
North Africa Enterprise Development (NAED) program 
to adapt the project into a regionally integrated initiative 
to proactively promote FDI into the region. The resulting 
Tangier Invest Initiative (TII) was approved in March 
2004. A task force was created, consisting of the region’s 
public and private sector stakeholders, with the aim of 
establishing the TII as an association. Once the asso-
ciation is created, NAED and MIGA will apply for supple-
mental donor funding. Recently, MIGA and IFC officials 
met with major national and regional stakeholders to 
finalize funding commitments.

West Bank/Gaza. MIGA conducted an institutional 
needs assessment of PIPA, the Palestinian Investment 
Promotion Agency, and delivered an assessment report. 
The Palestinian Authority requested MIGA’s assistance 
in coordinating a strategic planning workshop to analyze 
future actions and priorities for FDI promotion for the 
Palestinian Territories after the disengagement. The 
workshop will be conducted early next fiscal year.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITIES
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Sub-Saharan Africa

With over 689 million people in 47 countries, sub-Saharan 
Africa continues to present the world with its most for-
midable development challenge. Africa is still home to 
34 of the world’s poorest 48 countries. Nonetheless, in 
a year many are calling “the Year of Africa,” progress is 
being seen in many areas. Africa’s political leadership is 
taking ownership of conflict resolution, good governance, 
and poverty reduction at a regional level, with the new 
Partnership for Africa’s Development providing the overall 
framework. Since the mid-1990’s, 15 countries have seen 
GDP grow consistently over 6 percent a year, while the 
region as a whole averaged GDP growth of 4.4 percent 

in 2004. FDI inflows increased slightly from $10.1 billion 
in 2003 to $11.3 billion in 2004. Many countries have 
increased exports by more than 8 percent a year, despite 
falling prices in some of their primary commodities.

In fiscal year 2005, MIGA supported 10 projects through 
its guarantee program and undertook 21 technical 
assistance activities in the region. At year-end, MIGA’s 
total gross guarantees exposure stood at $840 million, or 
16.5 percent of the agency’s outstanding portfolio.

GUARANTEES 

Country Activities

Burkina Faso Développement Agro-Industries Sud S.A.
Banque Internationale pour le Commerce, l’Industrie et l’Agriculture du Burkina
Société Cotonnière du Gourma

MIGA has issued $38.3 million in guarantees covering a e5.1 million equity investment and e12.3 
million shareholder loan from Développement Agro-Industries Sud S.A. (Dagris) of France to Société 
Cotonnière du Gourma (SOCOMA) in Burkina Faso. The coverage also includes a e15.2 million loan 
guaranty from Dagris to Banque Internationale pour le Commerce, l’Industrie et l’Agriculture du 
Burkina for a loan of the same amount to SOCOMA. Coverage is against the risks of expropriation, 
war and civil disturbance, and breach of contract for a period of up to 15 years for the equity, and up 
to eight years for the shareholder loans and loan guaranty.

This project will help SOCOMA acquire, modernize, and expand the cotton ginning assets of former 
monopoly Société des Fibres Textiles (SOFITEX) in the eastern region of Burkina Faso. The national 
government liberalized the cotton sector by breaking up the former monopoly into two new geo-
graphical zones (center and eastern) and allowing commercial operators to buy and operate them. 
The World Bank advised on the liberalization program. 

By decentralizing the cotton sector, the project will spread commercial risk among three entities and 
lead to more efficient operations—and thus higher revenues. New seeding techniques and training 
on pesticide and fertilizer use are expected to improve yields and quality. The project will foster 
entrepreneurship as local growers and investors purchase shares in SOCOMA. Crop diversification 
services for local farmers will help them attain food self-sufficiency so they are not totally dependent 
on cotton production. SOCOMA will retain all workers employed from SOFITEX in eastern Burkina 
and hire an estimated 130 additional workers.

This project supports MIGA’s priority of investing in IDA countries. It is MIGA’s first project in 
Burkina Faso, and directly supports the cotton sector, the government’s most important source of 
export revenue.  
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Country Activities

Democratic 
Republic of 
Congo

Anvil Mining Ltd. of Canada
RMB International (Dublin) Limited
Anvil Mining Congo, SARL

MIGA issued $13.6 million in guarantees, covering an investment and loans by Anvil Mining Ltd. 
of Canada and RMB International (Dublin) Limited of Ireland to Anvil Mining Congo, SARL, of the 
Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) against the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, breach 
of contract, war and civil disturbance. Half of the guarantee amount will be covered by a Lloyd’s of 
London insurer through MIGA’s Cooperative Underwriting Program.

The project involves open pit mining of copper and silver ores to produce a concentrate, which will 
then be trucked to smelters in South Africa and Namibia for further processing. This is the first 
extractive industries project to be considered and approved by the Board of the World Bank Group 
since conclusion of the Bank-sponsored Extractive Industries Review in August 2004. The guarantee 
also marks MIGA’s first guarantee for a project in the DRC, which became a member of the agency 
in 2003.

In coordination with MIGA, Anvil has established a profit-sharing mechanism to ensure that local 
communities will benefit from the development of the Dikulushi deposit. The company has pledged 
10 percent of its interest in the mine to a trust structure. Dividends will fund a community devel-
opment program administered by a local nongovernmental organization (NGO). The community 
development program, which is expected to receive $5 to $7 million in funds over the next five or six 
years, includes investments in education, health care, and micro-enterprise and infrastructure devel-
opment. Anvil has already begun implementation of a number of the community projects.

The project is also spurring infrastructure improvements, including the construction and maintenance 
of a 54 km road, port facilities, a water pipeline to Dikulushi village, and additional water tanks and 
wells in other villages. This greenfield investment employs about 615 people. Before establishment of 
the mine, per capita income in the region was less than $.50 per day, derived almost exclusively from 
subsistence farming and fishing. Dikulushi miners are paid at levels in line with miners throughout 
the DRC Copperbelt. 

The project meets a number of MIGA’s priorities: it supports an investment in a frontier and conflict-
affected sub-Saharan country.

Ghana Investcom Holding S.A.
Scancom Ltd. of Ghana

MIGA issued $99 million in coverage for a $110 million equity investment into Scancom Ltd. of Ghana 
by Investcom Holding S.A. of Luxembourg. The guarantee—which covers the equity investment in the 
form of future retained earnings—will provide coverage for a period of up to 15 years against the risks 
of transfer restriction, expropriation, and war and civil disturbance. 

The project consists of the expansion and upgrade of Scancom’s network in Ghana, with the goal 
of increasing population coverage and alleviating network congestion. The project also entails the 
payment of a new $22.5 million 15-year license, designed to replace an authorization letter issued in 
1994 with no clear frequency allocation or duration. 

Scancom, which launched services in 1996, operates a nationwide mobile phone network using GSM 
technology. Under the brand name Spacefon, the company has become the leading mobile provider 
in Ghana, with coverage in all major cities, a 65 percent market share, and approximately 955,000 
subscribers as of end-2004. The new investment is designed to increase capacity from nearly 1 million 
subscribers today to 2.7 million subscribers by end-2006, while population coverage is expected to 
increase from 50 percent today to 70 percent during the same period.

(cont’d)
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Country Activities

Ghana (cont’d)

The project is expected to have several direct development impacts. Scancom’s expansion will fuel 
an increasingly competitive mobile market in Ghana. All major operators have plans for investments 
in networks and aggressive marketing, which should lead to wider coverage and more affordable 
rates. Mobile penetration is expected to double over the next three years. Increased coverage will also 
facilitate small business development, as entrepreneurs gain access to a critical communications 
medium.

Scancom employs 644 people directly and plans to boost its workforce to 1,377 employees by the 
end of 2009. The company offers good training programs, career development, and salaries, creating 
opportunities for skilled workers and young graduates. This counterbalances the flight of skilled and 
educated workers from the country.

The IFC is providing a $40 million loan to Scancom to support this project. 

Ghana West African Gas Pipeline Company Limited
West African Gas Pipeline Company Limited, Ghana

MIGA has issued a $75 million guarantee for equity investments in the West African Gas Pipeline 
Company Limited, a Bermuda-incorporated company, covering a portion of Ghana’s contractual obli-
gations for the West African Gas Pipeline project. The coverage is for a period of up to 20 years against 
the risk of breach of contract.

This guarantee will support the West Africa Gas Pipeline Project, which aims to build a 678-km natural 
gas pipeline to supply natural gas from Nigeria to markets in Benin, Ghana, and Togo. The project is 
designed to substitute abundant and cheap natural gas from Nigeria for expensive alternate fuels used 
by the power, industrial, mining and commercial sectors of the three countries. The MIGA guarantee 
is accompanied by an IDA partial risk guarantee to the West African Gas Pipeline Company for $50 
million in respect to Ghana’s obligation to make certain payments. 

The project will supply cheaper, cleaner energy and improve the reliability of energy systems in Ghana, 
Benin, and Togo, thus lowering the cost of power and improving the competitiveness of goods and 
services. It will also contribute to reducing gas flaring in Nigeria, which is aiming to eliminate all 
gas flaring by 2008. This project supports ongoing efforts to increase economic integration in West 
Africa. It is the first in the region to develop regional exports of natural gas. By standardizing technical 
specifications and regulatory frameworks, it will also facilitate energy trade among the participating 
countries. 

Mozambique KfW—Kreditanstalt Für Wiederbraufbau
Kenmare Moma Mining Ltd. and Kenmare Moma Processing Ltd.

MIGA has issued additional coverage of $12.4 million to KfW—Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau 
of Germany for its previous $20 million loan to Kenmare Moma Mining (Mauritius) Limited and 
Kenmare Moma Processing (Mauritius) Limited. MIGA originally issued coverage of the investment 
in the Moma mining project in 2003. This increase provides coverage against the risks of transfer 
restriction, expropriation, war and civil disturbance, and breach of contract. 

The project involves the dredge mining development of a large heavy mineral sands deposit located 
in one of the poorest provinces in Mozambique. The project is expected to have significant devel-
opment impacts, including generating significant employment, export and tax revenues, providing 
know-how and technology transfer, and developing infrastructure. Moreover, at the community level, 
Moma mining will continue to collaborate with local NGOs to ensure that the project will maintain 
close contact with the community. The project addresses two of MIGA’s priority areas: an investment 
in an IDA country and in Africa.

 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

A
L 

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W



47

Country Activities

Nigeria Manaksia Limited of India 
State Bank of India (UK)
ICICI Bank UK Limited (UK)
MINL Limited

MIGA has issued a $0.4 million guarantee to Manaksia Limited of India covering a portion of its 
$6.5 million equity investment in MINL Limited of Nigeria. MIGA has also provided $6.6 million in 
coverage for non-shareholder loans to MINL, in the amount of $5 million and $1.9 million, from State 
Bank of India of the UK and ICICI Bank UK Limited of the United Kingdom, respectively. All three guar-
antees have a term of up to five years and cover against the risks of transfer restriction, expropriation, 
and war and civil disturbance.  

MINL manufactures and sells bottle caps and sheet metal in Nigeria. The investment and loans guar-
anteed under this project will support the construction and operation of a metal processing plant. 
MINL will use the plant to expand production into three new product lines: galvanized corrugated 
steel sheets, aluminum sheets, and aluminum alloy ingots. Galvanized corrugated steel sheets are 
the main roofing material for 90 percent of Nigerians. MINL has already had significant success with 
bottle caps, increasing its market share of crown caps from 8 percent in 1998 to 52 percent in 2002. 

Local procurement of goods and services for the new plant in Ogun State is estimated at $8 million 
annually. Seventy percent of that would be spent in Ogun, the rest in the north and east of Nigeria. 
The project is expected to generate about $3 million in corporate tax revenue a year. The project 
will employ 118 local people. Staff will receive training on production improvement, industrial safety, 
effective supervision, and computer-controlled processing. 

This project meets several of MIGA’s priorities as it supports a small and medium-sized enterprise 
investment, a South-South investment, and the diversification of MIGA’s portfolio in Nigeria, an IDA-
IBRD blend country. The project also fits into the government’s strategy to diversify the economy 
beyond oil. 

Nigeria Antoine Boulos, Gabriel Boulos
Bel Papyrus Ltd.
Bel Impex

MIGA has issued $6.3 million in guarantees to Lebanese nationals Antoine Boulos and Gabriel 
Boulos covering their $5 million equity investment in Bel Papyrus Ltd. of Nigeria and $2 million equity 
investment in Bel Impex Ltd. of Nigeria. The guarantees are for 10 years and cover against the risks of 
expropriation and war and civil disturbance. 

This investment will expand Bel Papyrus’s paper recycling plant and Bel Impex’s paper converting 
plant, both in Lagos. Bel Papyrus recycles waste paper such as old books, office paper and news-
papers, most of which is converted by Bel Impex into toilet rolls, napkins, sanitary napkins, and facial 
tissues. This project involves moving the plants to new facilities with new equipment. The new Bel 
Papyrus plant is expected to reduce production costs and gradually increase output to approximately 
11,000 tons from its current rate of 5,000 tons a year. 

This project, considered a pioneer in Nigeria’s paper industry, should boost demand for waste paper 
while generating an estimated 66 new jobs. Staff training and expertise with new equipment will help 
develop the recycling and paper production industry. The project sponsors have also committed to 
procuring locally, which should result in multiplier effects in the transport, retail, and communications 
sectors. 

This project meets MIGA’s priorities of supporting projects in Africa and in IDA countries. The project 
is also consistent with the World Bank Group’s objective of encouraging private sector-led growth in 
Nigeria. 
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Country Activities

Senegal Azienda Municipalizzata per l’Ambiente S.p.A. 
Azienda Municipalizzata per l’Ambiente International S.p.A.
AMA Senegal

MIGA issued four guarantees totaling $15.7 million to Azienda Municipalizzata per l’Ambiente S.p.A. 
(AMA) and Azienda Municipalizzata per l’Ambiente International S.p.A. (AMAI), both of Italy, for their 
investment contributions to AMA Senegal (AMAS). Two of the guarantees cover AMA’s shareholder 
loan to AMAS, as well as a guaranty to a local bank for its loan to the project enterprise. The two other 
guarantees cover AMAI’s equity investment into, and shareholder loan to, AMAS. The coverage is up 
to 15 years for the equity, and five years for the loans, offering protection against the risks of expro-
priation, breach of contract, war and civil disturbance. 

The project involves the establishment and operation of a waste management system for Dakar, a 
densely populated city of two million residents. The project, to be operated under a 25-year build-
own-operate-transfer contract, involves street cleaning, collection and transportation of urban solid 
waste, recycling, landfill disposal of nonrecyclable waste, and the production and commercialization 
of compost fertilizer. On completion of the contract, Senegal will own the project infrastructure, 
including the transfer center and landfill, which have an estimated lifespan of 50 years. 

Unsanitary conditions and the spread of disease are among the major challenges the city faced in the 
past. In this context, a modern and efficient waste management system is key to improving the quality 
of life of residents, a government priority. The project will also support environmental sustainability 
by facilitating the closing of an existing uncontrolled dumpsite, as well as through an environmental 
awareness campaign financed by 2 percent of the project budget.

With MIGA’s support, AMAS has generated 1,700 jobs under this project and has thus become the 
largest private sector employer in the country. The project is expected to result in annual savings of 
$4.5 million for Dakar, due to the reduced service fee; the procurement of local goods and services, 
estimated at $2.7 million over the project’s lifetime; and an estimated $200,000 in annual tax revenues. 
By almost doubling the tonnage of urban solid waste collected, the project has noticeably changed the 
appearance of Dakar, which has significant implications for the government’s tourism and investment 
promotion strategies.

Uganda Afriproduce Ltd.
Ugacof Ltd.

MIGA issued a contract of guarantee to Afriproduce Ltd. in the amount of $3.1 million to cover 
its equity investment in Ugacof, Ltd. The guarantee replaces MIGA’s existing coverage of a share-
holder loan and equity investment by Afriproduce Ltd., which was issued in fiscal year 1999. The new 
guarantee is for a period of five years and covers against the risks expropriation and war and civil dis-
turbance. The guarantee covers Ugacof’s fixed assets, including a new warehouse, which will increase 
capacity and improve production flexibility.

In the five years of Ugacof’s operation, the project has contributed to Uganda’s economy both 
through export levies and taxes and through export earnings. Community development has also been 
positively impacted through the transfer of technical knowledge and management skills. The project 
has replaced most of its expatriates with local staff in the management structure, and women are 
particularly well represented at the managerial and supervisory levels.

As part of its continued commitment to the local community, Ugacof provides local farmers with advice 
on increasing capacity. It also sensitizes growers to the quality of their coffee and offers assistance in 
diversifying crops so farmers can bring more varieties to market. 

For more on this project, please see the project brief in the FY99 Annual Report and “Reaching out to 
Small and Medium Enterprises” in the FY04 Annual Report.
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Country Activities

Uganda Globeleq Ltd., 
Eskom Enterprises (Pty.) Ltd. 
Umeme Ltd.

MIGA has issued $40.5 million in guarantees to Globeleq Ltd. of Bermuda and Eskom Enterprises 
(Pty.) Ltd. of South Africa covering their $45 million equity investment in, and shareholder loans 
to, Umeme Ltd. of Uganda. The guarantees are for 20 years and cover against the risks of transfer 
restriction, war and civil disturbance, and breach of contract. 

Umeme will operate an electricity distribution concession in Uganda for 20 years. Globeleq will bring 
commercial and financial expertise to the consortium, while Eskom will provide much of the technical 
expertise required to turn around the underlying business. The distribution network consists of 13,000 
km of high and low voltage overhead lines extending throughout the country, with most of its cus-
tomers concentrated in the semi-urban strip from Entebbe through Kampala to Jinja. 

The concession calls for Umeme to provide up to 60,000 new connections, reduce losses, and 
improve collection rates within the first five years. Service delivery will be improved by easing the over-
loading of lines and substations and replacing weak line poles. Access to electricity will also expand 
for households, schools, clinics, hospitals, and water systems. The more accessible and reliable power 
is expected to foster economic activity and generate fiscal revenues for the government.

MIGA’s participation in this project promotes South-South investments into an IDA-only country. The 
World Bank is also participating in this project via a $5 million guarantee serving as a backstop to the 
letter of credit facility, which forms part of the security package for the project.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE ACTIVITIES

Ethiopia. Responding to a request from the Ethiopian 
investment commission, MIGA and FIAS conducted a 
joint assessment of the commission’s activities, structure, 
and capacities, and proposed a program to address 
current challenges. The commission and MIGA are cur-
rently discussing the program with other development 
partners active in Ethiopia with a view to securing addi-
tional resources to implement the program in the coming 
fiscal year.

Gambia. MIGA worked with the World Bank’s Africa 
department to review progress made on the Gambia 
Gateway project—an effort aimed at establishing a 
free zone and improving the institutional environment 
as a means for more export-oriented production and 
job creation. MIGA is also proposing implementation 
adjustments to be made during the balance of the 
program. 
  
Ghana. Ghana is a participant in the MIGA-Swiss 
Partnership, an investment facilitation program in four 
countries, co-funded by the Swiss government. Under the 
initiative, MIGA is helping Ghana identify opportunities to 
integrate better into the international economy, with par-
ticular attention paid to opportunities generated by the 
privileged trade access agreements with the EU and United 
States. This information is used to select investment 

target sectors. This fiscal year, MIGA assessed progress 
achieved under the project to date and determined next 
steps. Staff also discussed a cooperation agreement and 
other sector-specific work programs with the country’s 
investment promotion intermediary—GIPC—and gov-
ernment officials. MIGA and GIPC finalized their work 
program under the project and agreed on the implemen-
tation of a client-tracking system.

Madagascar. Madagascar is seeking to establish an 
investment promotion intermediary and to review the 
legal and administrative structure governing its free 
zones. In support of these objectives, the government is 
using an IDA credit to support inclusion of Madagascar 
in MIGA’s Enterprise Benchmarking Program, and has 
sought MIGA’s advice on drafting the appropriate legis-
lation and procedures to establish a new investment inter-
mediary. MIGA expects to work further with Madagascar 
on these activities in fiscal year 2006.

Mali. MIGA has been supporting a USAID-funded 
project—Mali Finance—in an advisory capacity. The 
project assesses the institutional arrangements for 
investment promotion in the country and provides a road 
map for the establishment of a new investment promotion 
agency. The Mali Finance report was completed in late 
2004. USAID has requested MIGA to follow up on this 
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project, and implement the recommendations spelled out 
in the report. MIGA will launch activities shortly, entailing 
the merger of two existing entities to create a new IPA—
Mali Invest—and the development of a business plan. 
This work is being closely coordinated with the World 
Bank’s Africa department, which is finalizing a major 
private sector development credit for the country. Mali is 
funding its inclusion in MIGA’s Enterprise Benchmarking 
Program (see below) through the Mali Finance project.

Mozambique. MIGA is continuing to support the 
Mozambique Investment Promotion Centre (CPI) in its 
efforts to attract foreign direct investment and strengthen 
linkages with the local business community. Work is 
focusing on the implementation of a private sector credit 
designed to develop a free zone adjacent to the Mozal 
aluminum smelter, as well as on developing the country’s 
overall free zone program. Under the MIGA-Swiss 
Partnership and in collaboration with the World Bank, 
MIGA conducted a review of the country’s investment 
prospects for tourism. The findings are supporting efforts 
by the Ministry of Tourism to profile potential tourism 
projects, identify possible international investment 
partners, and inform local and foreign prospects of oppor-
tunities. Mozambique is also a participating country in 
MIGA’s Enterprise Benchmarking Program.  

Senegal. Senegal is also a participant in the MIGA-Swiss 
Partnership. Under the initiative, MIGA is helping the 
country identify opportunities to integrate better into the 
international economy, with particular attention paid to 
opportunities generated by the privileged trade access 
agreements with the EU and United States. This infor-
mation is used to select investment target sectors. This 
fiscal year, MIGA helped APIX, the national investment 
promotion agency, in its efforts to attract FDI into 
apparel, textiles, and call centers. Promising results have 
been found to date in the call center industry, and these 
programs are ongoing.

Sierra Leone. In cooperation with a FIAS program in 
support of the Sierra Leone Export Development and 
Investment Corporation, MIGA worked to identify the 
technical assistance most needed to help the country 
develop its private sector and generate growth. In 
exploring the role the agency may play in Sierra Leone, 
MIGA drew on its experience in supporting conflict-
affected countries. To support both foreign and domestic 
investment, there is a need to establish an effective 
investment promotion intermediary, equipped to collate 
and disseminate information on the economy and 
facilitate entry of new investors.  

Tanzania. MIGA participated in this year’s World Bank 
Group investment climate assessment, outlining the 
benefits of its Africa Enterprise Benchmarking Program, 
which benchmarks Tanzania as an investment location 
against its neighbors and other African countries. MIGA 
also helped the country’s investment promotion agency 

prepare for a high-profile tourism business forum. 
Agreement was reached on extending the tourism 
outreach program presently being funded by MIGA in 
association with Tanzania’s Ministry of Natural Resources 
and Tourism. This program has already led to a number 
of major investments in this industry, with more leads 
under development.

Uganda. At the launch of the World Bank’s investment 
climate workshop in Uganda, MIGA highlighted its work 
on benchmarking Uganda as an investment location 
against other African countries.
 
Regional. MIGA is conducting fieldwork for a major 
benchmarking program on sector competitiveness in six 
promising industries in ten sub-Saharan African countries: 
Ghana, Kenya, Lesotho, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritius, 
Mozambique, Senegal, Tanzania, and Uganda. These 
investment sectors are being benchmarked in competing 
countries and other leading locations globally. The results 
of this study, which is closely coordinated with and draws 
on work done for World Bank investment climate analyses 
in these countries, will be discussed with participating 
countries early in fiscal year 2006. Based on the findings, 
MIGA will help the countries profile their areas of com-
petitiveness and to identify additional actions needed to 
promote investment in promising sectors.

MIGA has collaborated with the other investment pro-
motion programs in the region, including in Ghana, 
Senegal, and Tanzania, where the agency has helped 
develop five programs for funding through the Proinvest 
program. MIGA has also cooperated with the Corporate 
Council for Africa, the Canadian Council for Africa, and 
the World Economic Forum to implement programs to 
enable African countries to showcase investment oppor-
tunities to potential investors. 

In addition, MIGA has held extensive discussions with 
the NEPAD secretariat to assist them in designing and 
implementing a web presence to support closer col-
laboration between the staff of NEPAD and the Regional 
Economic Commissions, and to disseminate information 
on investment opportunities in infrastructure and other 
sectors to potential investors. MIGA is also working 
closely with the African Development Bank in supporting 
NEPAD investments, including cosponsoring a study 
designed to fast-track implementation of high-potential 
infrastructure projects.

During this fiscal year, MIGA has significantly increased 
its collaboration with other World Bank Group units, par-
ticularly the infrastructure and private sector departments 
in the Africa region, FIAS, and IFC’s Private Enterprise 
Program for Africa. MIGA has undertaken collaborative 
activities with these units in four countries, and has plans 
or is discussing joint programs in a further six countries 
in the upcoming fiscal year.
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OPERATIONS EVALUATION AND 
COMPLIANCE ADVISOR/OMBUDSMAN
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MIGA’s Operations Evaluation Unit (OEU) 
assesses how well MIGA is achieving its devel-
opment mandate and evaluates the effectiveness of 
the agency’s products and services. OEU is inde-
pendent from MIGA management and operations, 
and reports its findings directly to the Committee 
on Development Effectiveness and MIGA’s Board of 
Directors.

In its third year since inception, OEU continued to 
assess the development effectiveness of MIGA guarantee 
projects and technical assistance activities, as well as 
the quality of MIGA underwriting of current guarantees. 
OEU also began to evaluate the effectiveness of MIGA’s 
online information services (IPAnet, PrivatizationLink, 
FDI Xchange, and the FDI Promotion Center). In ful-
filling its dual mandate of promoting learning from past 
operations and ensuring accountability for results, the 
unit discusses the findings and lessons learned from its 
evaluations with MIGA staff and management, so that 
these can be applied in MIGA’s current operations.  

OEU completed its 2005 Annual Report, which focused 
on relevant MIGA systems and practices for ensuring 
development effectiveness, quality of underwriting in 
recent guarantee projects, and progress in MIGA’s imple-
mentation of past OEU recommendations.  

During FY05, OEU participated in a major thematic 
evaluation study, “Improving Investment Climates: An 
Evaluation of World Bank Group Assistance,” which 
made recommendations for improving the effectiveness 
of MIGA’s technical assistance activities. To find out 
more about the evaluation, visit www.worldbank.org/
oed/investment_climates.

Operations Evaluation Compliance Advisor/
Ombudsman

The IFC/MIGA Office of Compliance Advisor/
Ombudsman (CAO) was established in fiscal year 
2000. The CAO promotes better accountability to 
people affected by IFC and MIGA projects. 

The CAO is an independent office, reporting directly to the 
President of the World Bank Group. It has three roles: as 
ombudsman to respond to complaints from people who 
are affected by projects and to attempt to resolve envi-
ronmental and social issues; as compliance officer who 
audits sensitive projects for compliance with safeguard 
policies and guidelines; and as advisor to provide an 
independent source of advice to the President and senior 
management of IFC and MIGA.

Since its inception, the CAO has received and accepted 
six complaints on three separate projects where MIGA 
support was being considered or had been provided.  Of 
these, three complaints were for one project which was 
never finalized. The CAO received and accepted for inves-
tigation one complaint in FY05.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (FY05) AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS (FY05)

OVERVIEW    

Established in 1988, the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA) is an international organization and a member of the World 
Bank Group, which also includes the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), the International Development 
Association (IDA), the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes 
(ICSID). MIGA is a legal entity separate and distinct from IBRD, IDA, IFC and ICSID, with its own charter (the “Convention”), share 
capital, financial structure, management, and staff. Its membership, which currently stands at 165, is open to all countries that are 
members of the IBRD.
 MIGA’s mission is to promote foreign direct investment (FDI) into developing countries, to support economic growth, reduce 
poverty and improve people’s lives. To this end, the agency’s vision is to be a multilateral risk mitigator, providing products and services 
that encourage potential investors into developing countries and provide the necessary comfort to alleviate concerns over political (non-
commercial) risks. The agency’s core business is the provision of political risk insurance. In addition, MIGA has a mandate to carry out 
complementary activities—including technical assistance activities, mediation, and online services—to support productive FDI.
 MIGA is committed to promoting projects that promise a strong development impact, and that are economically, environmentally, 
and socially sustainable. The agency is also dedicated to working with governments that are committed to policies and actions that 
improve their countries’ investment climates. By providing political risk insurance for foreign direct investment, technical assistance, 
and other activities, MIGA is able to play a critical role in supporting the World Bank Group’s broad strategic priorities.
 Since its creation through the end of fiscal year 2005 (FY05), MIGA has issued $14.7 billion in guarantee coverage, in support of 
more than 486 projects in 91 developing member countries. The agency has also conducted hundreds of technical assistance activities 
in member countries, as well as multiple programs that have operated at regional and global levels. 
 MIGA is financially self-sustaining, and its activities are supported by a robust capital base. MIGA is able to fund its administrative 
budget, while maintaining the strength of its balance sheet, through a combination of premium income and investment income. 
 MIGA prepares its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(US GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES    

Summary of Business Segments
MIGA’s mission is to promote FDI into developing countries, to support economic growth, reduce poverty and improve people’s lives. 
MIGA seeks to fulfill this mandate in member countries by offering political risk insurance, technical assistance, online dissemination of 
information and investment dispute mediation.

Political Risk Insurance (PRI)
MIGA provides investment guarantees against certain noncommercial risks (i.e., political risk insurance) to eligible foreign investors for 
qualified investments in developing member countries. Coverage is offered against the risks of transfer restriction and inconvertibility; 
expropriation; breach of contract; and war and civil disturbance, and investors may choose any combination of these coverages. MIGA 
insures new cross-border investments originating in any MIGA member country, destined for any developing member country. Types of 
investment that can be covered include equity, shareholder loans, and shareholder loan guarantees, provided the loans have a minimum 
maturity of three years. Other forms of investment, such as technical assistance and management contracts, or franchising and licensing 
agreements, may also be eligible.

From its establishment through June 30, 2005, MIGA has issued guarantees totaling $14.7 billion to investors in 91 countries. 

A summary of cumulative guarantees issued in member countries is contained in Table 1.

Box 1  Coverages of MIGA’s Guarantees

MIGA provides four types of political risk insurance to eligible investors and lenders against noncommercial risk such as:

r     Transfer restriction and inconvertibility – risk of inconvertibility of local currency into foreign exchange for transfer outside the 
host country. Currency depreciation is not covered.

r      Expropriation – risk of partial or total loss of the insured investment as a result of acts by the host government that may reduce 
or eliminate ownership of, control over, or rights to the insured investment.

r      War and civil disturbance – risk of damage to, or the destruction or disappearance of, tangible covered assets caused by politically 
motivated acts of war or civil disturbance in the host country including revolution, insurrection, coup d’état, sabotage and ter-
rorism.

r     Breach of contract – risk of being unable to obtain or enforce an arbitral or judicial decision recognizing the breach of an obli-
gation by the host government. 
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Table 1  Cumulative Guarantees Issued in Member Countries

FY05 FY04 FY03

Cumulative Guarantees Issued ($ B)a 14.7 13.5 12.4

Host Countriesb 91 85 85

   
     
a  Includes Cooperative Underwriting Program (CUP) contracts.
b  FY05 includes six new host countries: Belarus, Burkina Faso, Democratic Republic of Congo, Laos People’s Democratic Republic, Latvia, 

and Thailand.

During FY05, MIGA supported 20 projects in IDA-eligible countries and 8 projects in sub-Saharan Africa, which are special areas of 
focus for the agency. In terms of exposure, IDA-eligible countries accounted for 42 percent of the gross portfolio, while coverage for 
projects in sub-Saharan Africa accounted for 16.5 percent. Table 2 details the regional distributions of MIGA’s gross and net guarantee 
exposures over the past three years. The total gross and net exposures at June 30, 2005 amounted to $5.1 billion and $3.1 billion 
compared to $5.2 billion and $3.3 billion respectively at the end of FY04. 

Table 2  Regional Distribution of Gross and Net Exposure

 
 Gross
($ M)

Net
($ M)

Total 
Net Exposure

(%)

FY05 FY04 FY03 FY05 FY04 FY03 FY05 FY04 FY03

Africa 840 692 953 606 433 693 19.3 13.3 21.6

Asia 670 672 611 471 486 449 15.0 14.9 14.0

Europe and 
Central Asia

2,303 1,973 1,334 1,225 1,201 837 39.0 36.9 26.1

Latin America and 
Caribbean

1,257 1,736 2,197 757 989 1,168 24.1 30.3 36.5

Middle East and 
North Africa

154 243 167 144 215 146 4.6 6.6 4.6

Adjustment for 
Master Agreement

-130 -130 -179 -65 -65 -89 -2.0 -2.0 -2.8

Total 5,094 5,186 5,083 3,138 3,259 3,204 100.0 100.0 100.0

MIGA cooperates with national and private investment insurance schemes, through coinsurance and reinsurance arrangements to 
provide investors with broader investment insurance coverage and for the purpose of enhancing capacity and effectiveness. Under the 
Cooperative Underwriting Program, MIGA does not assume the credit risk of the private or public insurer.

Technical Assistance (TA)
MIGA provides technical assistance to help governments and government agencies involved in promoting foreign direct investment 
improve their ability to respond effectively to investors’ needs. MIGA works with investment promotion intermediaries to develop their 
capacity to provide investors with information, advice, and other services, thereby helping to reduce the transaction costs associated 
with site selection, and subsequently, with establishing investments. MIGA has also developed and operates a suite of online investor 
information services to disseminate information on investment opportunities, business operating conditions, and potential business 
partners in emerging markets worldwide. In addition, MIGA’s online FDI Promotion Center extends the reach of MIGA’s capacity-
building services by offering practical guidance to investment promotion intermediaries worldwide. 
 The scale and scope of MIGA’s technical assistance activities have increased substantially over the years, with 30-40 projects 
ongoing at any given time. There has been a special focus on IDA countries, which represent around 40 percent of the TA portfolio, with 
Africa the primary regional beneficiary. The relative mix of activities and the nature of the interventions have also evolved, with a shift 
from one-off interventions to multi-year engagements. This has helped improve coordination and integration with other private sector 
development programs in the World Bank Group (WBG). In FY05, MIGA invested approximately $5 million of its own budget in its TA 
programs (in staff, travel and other costs) while also mobilizing donor resources through trust funds.
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Online Dissemination of Information 
MIGA offers online dissemination of information on investment opportunities through four online products: FDI Xchange, IPAnet, 
Privatization Link and FDI Promotion Center. The online services team also supports technical assistance efforts by providing face-to-
face and/or remote training in online investment promotion to more than 50 partners. During FY05, both average monthly user sessions 
and total number of registrants for all online services increased substantially from FY04. Meanwhile, MIGA enhanced the online services, 
e.g., by adding new resources to IPAnet and by expanding the available pool of “promotional tools” in the FDI Promotion Center. In 
FY05, MIGA invested approximately $600,000, excluding regular staff costs, in its various online services.

Investment Dispute Mediation
Article 23 of the MIGA Convention mandates the agency to seek to remove impediments to the flow of investment  to developing 
member countries and to encourage the settlement of disputes between investors and host governments. Pursuant to these mandates, 
the Agency has selectively offered mediation services to help resolve disputes between investors (not guaranteed by MIGA) and host 
countries which inhibit the flow of additional investment to the host country. 
 In general, MIGA seeks reimbursement for its out-of-pocket expenses and utilizes its own staff to mediate a small number of 
investment disputes annually. The amicable resolution of these disputes is the primary performance indicator and is evidenced by 
acknowledgement letters from the parties involved; the resolution of these disputes should subsequently facilitate the flow of investment 
to host countries.

OUTLOOK AND CHALLENGES

Market Positioning
MIGA has a well-established position and reputation as the “insurer of choice” for investors looking for a business partner that will help 
them mitigate risks in frontier markets. A recent survey of MIGA’s PRI clients indicates that when investors care primarily about the PRI 
provider’s ability to manage difficult political situations, the choice is generally MIGA. The survey also suggests that, going forward, 
investors see an increasing number of risky environments, where the management of risk is key in investment decisions. 

New Business Model
At the end of FY04, MIGA management launched a business model that builds on its comparative advantages and strengthens its 
financial and operational sustainability over the long-term. It centers on MIGA’s unique role as a multilateral risk mitigator, drawing on 
its governance structure to support development in ways that add value and complement the activities of others. This implies a focus 
on areas that public and private entities cannot serve as well, such as higher-risk markets, and other areas where MIGA has a unique 
comparative advantage. MIGA’s new business model consists of three principal elements which leverage the agency’s comparative 
advantages and reinforce each other to form an integrated strategy: proactive marketing and complementary products; a comprehensive 
risk management framework; and stepped-up collaboration with the World Bank Group (WBG). 
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Organizational Realignment
In order to implement the new business model, MIGA was realigned so as to achieve a simpler and flatter organizational structure, 
which aimed at creating a more flexible and responsive organization. Under the realignment, the operational departments—guarantees 
and technical assistance—were brought together to form a new Operations Group. The move recognized that addressing the challenges 
of attracting and retaining FDI requires more than just political risk insurance. It requires that MIGA provide client countries an inte-
grated package of products to address risk and related factors affecting an investment or a site selection decision. Integrating the two 
departments has allowed for the more efficient delivery of MIGA’s products and services. 

Operational Priorities
In May 2005, MIGA received the endorsement of its Board of Directors for the operational strategy outlined in the Strategic Directions 
2006-2008 paper. The strategy highlights four operational priorities that will guide decision-making going forward:

r Supporting investment between developing countries (South-South investment). Companies from developing countries are con-
tributing a greater proportion of FDI flows into other developing countries. For these investors, political risk insurance can make a 
difference in the decision to go ahead or not, and MIGA has thus targeted these South-South investments under the MIGA 2005 
strategic plan.

r Supporting investment in infrastructure expansion and rehabilitation. Ongoing and near-term efforts are focused on growing the 
pipeline of business in the infrastructure sector to increase the proportion of new business in infrastructure to 30-35 percent. 

r Increasing FDI in conflict-affected environments. MIGA is planning to establish a new PRI facility for Africa in order to accelerate 
the recovery of the private sector and increase FDI flows to conflict-affected countries in the region. The facility will be financed 
through a combination of donor contributions and concessional lending from multilateral institutions. 

r Supporting growth in other frontier markets. The near-term emphasis is in growing the business in the Middle East and North 
Africa, diversifying the base of guarantee business in Europe and Central Asia, supporting investors from key countries like China, 
India, Brazil, Turkey, and supporting client countries’ ability to seize investment opportunities created by regional trade liberal-
ization efforts in Latin America and the Caribbean.

MIGA’s corporate strategy also calls for an aggressive program of marketing and outreach, targeting not just traditional investors in 
Europe and the US, but also investors in South Africa, Mauritius, and some investors in the Middle East and North Africa. 

FUNDING SOURCES

Equity
Total shareholders’ equity as reported in MIGA’s balance sheet at June 30, 2005 was $710 million compared with $576 million at June 
30, 2004. The increase from June 30, 2004 of $134 million reflects primarily the increase in retained earnings of $131 million resulting 
from a significant release of provision in FY05 of $107 million and operating income of $24 million. 
 MIGA’s equity base ensures the financial sustainability of the agency, over both the short term and longer term. The subscribed 
capital and retained earnings determine the agency’s statutory underwriting capacity, and the Council of Governors and the Board of 
Directors have set the maximum amount of contingent liability that may be assumed by MIGA at 350 percent of the sum of MIGA’s 
unimpaired subscribed capital and its retained earnings plus 90 percent of reinsurance ceded by MIGA with private insurers and 100 
percent of reinsurance ceded with public insurers. At June 30, 2005, MIGA’s underwriting capacity was $9,837 million, as follows:

Table 3  Current Underwriting Capacity ($ M)

Subscribed Capital $1,827

Retained Earnings 357

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 3

Insurance Portfolio Reserve—Net 120

Total 2,307

350 Percent of Subscribed Capital, Retained Earnings, Other Comprehensive Income and Reserve 8,075

90 Percent of Reinsurance Ceded with Private Insurers 1,749

100 Percent of Reinsurance Ceded with Public Insurers 13

Statutory Underwriting Capacity—June 30, 2005 $9,837
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At June 30, 2005, MIGA’s gross exposure of $5,094 million represented 52 percent of MIGA’s statutory underwriting capacity. 

For purposes of measuring its risk-bearing capacity, MIGA uses the ratio of operating capital over net exposure. Operating capital 
includes paid-in-capital, retained earnings, and the insurance portfolio reserve, net of the corresponding reinsurance recoverable. MIGA 
management’s objective is to have sufficient operating capital to sustain losses associated with claims and to support the ongoing 
business without facing a significant risk of having to call on the callable capital. Table 4 shows the ratio of operating capital to net 
exposure over the past three years. This ratio, which increased from 24.9 percent in FY04 to 26.4 percent in FY05, remains satisfactory.

Table 4  Risk-Bearing Capacity (FY03-05, $ M) 
    

FY05 FY04 FY03

Net Exposure $ 3,138 $ 3,259 $ 3,204

Insurance Portfolio Reserve—Net a 120 235 286

Retained Earnings and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 361 228 141

Paid-in Capital 349 348 339

Operating Capital 830 811 766

Operating Capital/Net Exposure 26.4% 24.9% 23.9%

a In FY03 and FY04, these were shown as general claims reserves.

Capital
MIGA derives its financial strength primarily from the capital it receives from its shareholders. In FY05, the Maldives completed its 
membership requirements, bringing the total number of member countries to 165. 
 The MIGA Convention established MIGA’s authorized capital stock (membership shares) at 100,000 shares equivalent to $1,082 
million with a provision that the authorized capital stock shall automatically increase on the admission of a new member to the extent 
that the then authorized shares are insufficient to provide the shares to be subscribed by such member. At June 30, 2005, the authorized 
membership shares increased to 104,987 shares, equivalent to $1,136 million, which have all been subscribed by the 165 member 
countries. Of the membership shares subscribed, 20 percent or $227.2 million had been paid-in and the remaining eighty percent or 
$908.8 million was subject to call when needed by MIGA to meet its obligations. Of the paid-in capital, $108.9 million was in promissory 
notes. The notes are denominated in freely convertible currencies and are due on demand to meet MIGA’s obligations. Since inception, 
MIGA has not encashed any of the promissory notes.
 On March 29, 1999, MIGA’s Council of Governors approved a General Capital Increase (GCI) of 78,559 shares, equivalent to $850 
million. The subscription period ended on March 28, 2003. On March 17, 2003, the Council of Governors approved an amendment to 
the GCI resolution allowing eligible countries to reserve the GCI shares allocated to them by submitting an instrument of contribution 
before the end of the GCI subscription period, and requesting such countries to subscribe to their GCI shares as soon as possible. The 
reserved shares are issued and corresponding voting power accrues when the subscription process reaches completion, i.e., when the 
required payment has been received. No time limit has been set for the payment of the reserved shares. As of June 30, 2005, cumulative 
subscriptions to the GCI totaled 63,821 shares, equivalent to $690.5 million, and GCI shares reserved through instruments of contri-
bution totaled 12,441 shares, equivalent to $134.6 million. Of the GCI shares subscribed, $121.9 million has been paid-in and $568.6 
million is callable.

Table 5  Summary of General Capital Increase (as of June 30, 2005)

Category One Category Two All Countries

Number $ M Number $ M Number $ M

Fully Subscribed 19 $284.5 82 $244.0 101 $528.5

Partly Subscribed 2 159.2 1 2.8 3 162.0

Total Subscribed 21 443.7 83 246.8 104 690.5

Reserved through

Instrument of Contribution 50.1 30 84.5 30 134.6

Total Subscribed and Reserved 21 493.8 113 331.3 134 825.2

Allocated 21 493.8 140 356.2 161 850.0

Subscribed (percent) 89.9 69.3 81.2

Subscribed and Reserved (percent) 100 93.0 97.1
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As of June 30, 2005, MIGA’s total subscribed capital amounted to $1,826.5 million, of which $349.1 million was paid-in and $1,477.4 
million was callable. Since its inception, no call has been made on MIGA’s callable capital. Any calls on unpaid subscriptions shall be 
uniform on all shares. If the amount received by MIGA on a call is insufficient to meet the obligations which necessitated the call, MIGA 
may make further successive calls until the amounts received are sufficient to meet such obligations. The liability of a member on a call 
or calls shall be limited to the unpaid balance of its capital subscription.
 During FY05, the Council of Governors approved the solution proposed by MIGA management for reaching voting parity between 
Category One and Category Two countries. This solution involves the introduction of a parity factor that allocates the same number of 
parity votes to every member country and can be easily adjusted when there are changes in membership.

LIQUIDITY AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

The investment of MIGA’s liquid assets plays an important role in supporting risk-taking in underwriting. Although substantial 
drawdowns of the investment portfolio have not occurred in the past, they should be expected to happen from time to time, given the 
nature of MIGA’s underwriting business. As a result, management deems the following three main rationales as appropriate for MIGA’s 
investment strategy. 

r Providing liquidity for identified claims. MIGA must be able to draw on the investment portfolio to pay for claims and potential 
claims that it has already identified. MIGA keeps track of projects where the investor is experiencing problems or is involved in a 
dispute with government authorities, and the investment portfolio must allow for payment of claims on a pre-recovery basis.

r Providing liquidity for unidentified claims. MIGA also needs to be prepared to pay for claims that have not yet been identified 
at the contract level. Even though the precise amount of such claims is unknown, it is possible to construct portfolio models to 
estimate the most likely aggregate size of such claims, as well as to estimate their maximum size at a given confidence level. The 
agency recently developed an economic capital model that provides for the structuring of the investment portfolio to cover claims 
that are not yet identified at the contract level but can be estimated statistically.

r Providing capital growth. While the investment portfolio at any given time must be managed to ensure MIGA’s ability to pay 
identified and unidentified claims, the rate of return on the portfolio also plays a crucial role in enhancing MIGA’s future financial 
strength.

MIGA’s investment portfolio is managed in two tranches under the Investment Authorization approved by the Board in June 2004, with 
the above three objectives in mind. Tranche 1 is managed with a risk tolerance of 1% probability of annual capital loss over a one-year 
horizon and Tranche 2 is managed with a 1% probability of annual capital loss over a three-year horizon. MIGA management sets the 
investment policy, including risk tolerance and asset allocation with the analytical support of IBRD’s Treasury. Portfolio management 
activities, including trading, risk analytics and reporting, are executed by IBRD’s Treasury under an Investment Management Agreement 
(IMA) between MIGA and IBRD and the associated Investment Management Guidelines. 
 The bulk of MIGA’s portfolio is in US dollars (USD) and the composition of the USD holdings is detailed in Figure 2. During 
FY05, the USD investment portfolio consisted of cash and securities including Treasury securities, agency securities, mortgage-backed 
securities (MBS) and asset-backed securities (ABS). In addition, the portfolio included cash and government securities denominated 
in other currencies. Overall, the management of the portfolio generated a return of 2.7% in FY05 on an economic basis and 2.3% on 
an accounting basis, after taking into consideration a one-time mark-to-market of unrealized losses on account of a change in the 
accounting treatment of the investment portfolio from “available-for-sale” to “trading securities”.

 In addition, MIGA maintains several credit facilities for the purpose of managing liquidity. As of June 30, 2005, these credit facilities 
totaled $125 million. MIGA would draw on these credit lines to cover a portion of a high percentile insurance loss. Some of these credit 
facilities will expire in FY06. The agency is currently reviewing its liquidity needs and will decide early in FY06 which credit facilities it 
should renew and carry forward.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Controlled acceptance of political risks in developing countries is MIGA’s primary business and the underwriting of those risks requires 
a strong and comprehensive risk management framework that analyzes, measures, mitigates and controls the risk exposures. It is also 
essential to understand the risk exposures on an enterprise-wide perspective.

Risk Management Organization
The responsibility for approving MIGA’s risk management policies lies with the Board of Directors. The committee of the Board that 
deals with risk management issues is the Audit Committee.
 While the Executive Vice President assumes the responsibility for overall risk management with the support of the senior man-
agement team, the responsibility for the design and operational implementation of the risk management framework lies with the 
Finance and Risk Management Group under the leadership of the Director and Chief Financial Officer, in coordination with colleagues 
across the agency.
 In particular, the Legal Affairs and Claims Group handles claims and dispute situations. The Policy and Economics Group analyzes 
country risks and maintains MIGA’s internal country ratings. The Insurance Operations Support Team within the Operations Group 
monitors reinsurer creditworthiness.

Risk Landscape and Risk Management per Category
MIGA broadly distinguishes three types of risks: insurance risks, investment risks, and operational and other risks.

Insurance risks can be divided into two categories:
1.  Claims risk, the largest risk for MIGA, is the risk of incurring a financial loss as a result of a claimable political risk event in 

developing countries. 
2. Reinsurance non-performance risk is the risk that reinsurers fail to pay their share of risk-taking in case of a claim. 

Investment risks include the following risks:
1.  Market risk is exposure to the risk that MIGA’s invested assets are being negatively impacted by changes in financial markets risk 

factors, such as movements in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
2. Prepayment risk for MBS holdings is the uncertainty related to unscheduled prepayment in excess of scheduled principal 

repayment.
3.  Spread risk is related to differences in the relative price of corporate bonds, MBS, ABS and Treasury bonds.
4. Credit risk is the risk of incurring a financial loss due to adverse changes in the creditworthiness of issuers of fixed income 

assets. 

Operational and other risks are risks that are inherent in MIGA’s business undertaking.
1.  Operational risk is the potential for loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, human factors, or 

external events, and includes business interruption and system failure, transaction processing failures and failures in execution of 
legal, fiduciary and agency responsibilities.

2. Other risks comprise legal risk, human resource risk, and reputational risk. 

Management of major risks is described below:

r Claims risk management
Claims risk arises from the underwriting activities of the agency. Political risk assessment forms an integral part of MIGA’s under-
writing process, and includes the analysis of both country-related and project-related risks.
  Country risk assessment is a combination of quantitative and qualitative analysis, assessing the probability of a claimable 
event taking place as captured in a comparative rating scale. Ratings are assigned individually to each risk for which MIGA provides 
insurance coverage in a country. Country ratings are reviewed and updated every quarter. Country risk analysis forms the basis of 
the underwriting of political risk guarantees, setting of premium levels, and provisioning for claims.
  The project-specific risk assessment process is performed by a cross-functional team from MIGA’s Operations, Policy and 
Economics, and Legal Affairs and Claims Groups. Based on the analysis of project-specific risk factors within the country context, 
the final project risk ratings can be higher or lower than the country ratings per coverage. The decision to issue a guarantee is 
subject to approval by MIGA’s senior management, followed by endorsement by the Board of Directors.
  In order to prevent excessive risk concentration, MIGA sets exposure limits per country and per project. In addition, MIGA’s 
reinsurance program, including treaty and facultative reinsurance, helps manage the risk profile of the portfolio. Finally, MIGA’s 
risk-based pricing framework provides the basis to ensure ex ante that sufficient premium income can be expected to provide 
appropriate compensation for both standalone and concentration risks of guarantee contracts that MIGA underwrites.
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r Reinsurer non-performance risk management
Non-performance risk exposure arises from MIGA’s reinsurance program. MIGA requires that reinsurers be rated by at least two 
of the four major rating agencies (Standard & Poor’s, A.M. Best, Moody’s and Fitch), and that the ratings be above a minimum 
threshold. In addition, MIGA may also place reinsurance with public insurers of member countries that operate under and benefit 
from the full faith and credit of their governments, therefore representing a negligible counterparty risk to MIGA.
  MIGA has established limits, at both the project and portfolio levels, which restrict the amount of reinsurance. The project 
limit states that MIGA may reinsure no more than 90 percent of any individual project. The portfolio limit states that MIGA may 
not reinsure more than 50 percent of its aggregate gross exposure (excluding reinsurance placed with public insurers that benefit 
the full faith and credit of the relevant member country).

r Investment risk management
MIGA’s investment portfolio is exposed to the risk of loss of portfolio value resulting from adverse fluctuations in interest rates 
and foreign currency exchange rates, spreads, convexity, and prepayment. Because the portfolio is invested in fixed income secu-
rities, the primary investment risk for MIGA is interest rate risk. Other risks are small, although prepayment risk may become more 
important due to the gradual increase in MIGA’s MBS holdings. To manage investment risks in the investment portfolio, MIGA has 
defined investment guidelines for portfolio managers, which includes a series of constraints and limits.
  MIGA’s investment portfolio does not have any significant credit risk exposure. MIGA invests only in fixed-income securities 
with high-credit quality. The Investment Authorization stipulates that government or agency sponsored debt securities need to be 
AA-rated or above, time deposits need to be A-rated or above, and corporate debt securities have to be AAA-rated.

 
r Operational risk management

Operational risk is intrinsic to financial institutions and is an important component of the agency-wide risk management framework. 
The most important types of operational risk involve breakdowns in internal controls and corporate governance. 
  MIGA attempts to mitigate key operational risks by maintaining a system of internal control. Since 2000, MIGA, in line with 
IBRD/IDA and IFC, has used a COSO-based integrated internal control framework. 
  In FY04, MIGA adopted the same operational risk management system (Horizon) as IBRD and uses it to strengthen the 
annual review process and to enhance the management’s ability to monitor the operational risks with a higher degree of detail 
and consistency. Key risks and controls in financial reporting were assessed and documented in Horizon, and the results were 
examined through the internal quality assurance review process. It was found that, overall, controls are both in place and effective. 
Opportunity for further improvements exist in processing and governance, for which action plans were established. The results of 
the review supported the annual management assertion on the effectiveness of internal control over external financial statements, 
which in turn was examined by the external auditors and a formal acknowledgment (“attestation”) was provided.
  With regard to information technology infrastructure, MIGA has taken steps over the past year to leverage IBRD’s systems 
infrastructure and services. From an IT risk management perspective, in particular, all mission critical databases have been 
migrated to the IBRD’s server infrastructure and secure facilities. As a result, all mission critical applications in MIGA are now 
replicated at headquarters and at the World Bank Group’s Business Continuity Center, resulting in a significant reduction of the 
risk of interruption of service. 

r Legal risk management
Legal risks arise primarily from changes in the legal parameters of MIGA’s member countries as a result of legislation or court 
decisions that may affect MIGA’s activities. There are also legal risks associated with MIGA being involved in legal disputes and 
arbitration proceedings, especially in the context of claim resolution or settlement.
  MIGA manages these risks by monitoring current and prospective future developments by way of ongoing discussions 
with member countries’ representatives on the Board of Directors and Council of Governors. MIGA also shares information and 
analysis with other members of the World Bank Group, the IMF and the United Nations. In addition, MIGA actively participates as 
a member of the Berne Union in discussions and analyses of the changes in the operating investment environment in its member 
countries.

Enterprise-wide Risk Modeling
During FY05, MIGA completed a project to develop an economic capital model, which is now used to quantify its insurance and 
investment risks in an integrated manner. The model can be used to estimate the amount of capital required to support the agency’s 
guarantee business to a specified solvency standard. In FY06, management plans to formalize the use of this model to determine 
MIGA’s overall capital adequacy and to make allocation of economic capital to particular regions, countries, or individual contracts, 
according to the risk contribution of those components.
 MIGA’s economic capital is based on the latent factor model of the Merton framework in credit risk modeling. Risk is measured on 
an enterprise-wide basis, taking into consideration the correlation effects between the claims risk, the reinsurance non-performance risk, 
and the investment risk. Key parameters, such as frequency of claim, severity, and expected recovery, , have been quantitatively derived 
from the PRI industry’s historical data, augmented by econometric scoring models. Those parameters are consistently used in MIGA’s 
insurance pricing and reserving models.
 In addition, the economic capital model incorporates various correlation parameters in order to quantify the diversification effects 
between MIGA’s risk exposures. The most important correlations are those that describe the extent to which multiple claims are likely 
to occur simultaneously, either within the same country, within the same region, or across countries and regions. The model also uses 
correlations between reinsurer credit worthiness and insurance risk, and between the insurance risks and the investment risk based on 
quantitative analysis of relevant data.



63

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

Reserve for Claims
The footnotes to MIGA’s financial statements contain a summary of MIGA’s significant accounting policies. Described below are 
those significant policies where MIGA management is required to make certain estimates and parameters when preparing its financial 
statements and accompanying notes to conform with both IFRS and US GAAP. Accounting estimates generally involve the devel-
opment of parameters by management based on judgments about the outcome of future conditions, transactions or events. Because the 
outcome of future events is not known, actual results could differ from those estimates in a variety of areas. The area that management 
views as most critical with respect to the application of estimates and parameters is the establishment of its loss reserves.
 During the first quarter of FY05, MIGA implemented a new provisioning methodology. The methodology builds on portfolio risk 
quantification models that use both individually assessed loss probabilities for projects at risk and rating-based loss probabilities that 
are applied to the entire guarantee portfolio. Under this new methodology, for the purpose of presentation in the financial statements, 
MIGA’s reserve consists of two primary components: the Specific Reserve and the Insurance Portfolio Reserve. These components are 
defined based on the degree of probability and the basis of estimation. 
 Reserves are shown on a gross basis on the liability side of the balance sheet, and reinsurance assets on the asset side. On MIGA’s 
balance sheet, the gross amounts of Specific Reserve and Insurance Portfolio Reserve are $59.8 million and $120.0 million respectively 
as of June 30, 2005. Due to the reinsurance arrangements, MIGA also recorded a Reinsurance Recoverable as part of assets and are 
$24.3 million. On the income statement, MIGA recorded a release of provisioning of $106.8 million. The majority of this release ($101 
million) represents a one-time adjustment as a result of the implementation of the new methodology. The remaining release of provision 
extends the trend over the last three fiscal years, and reflects a stable amount of net exposure together with improvements in country 
ratings and other risk parameters underlying MIGA’s net guarantee portfolio.

Accounting Classification of Invested Assets
Another area where application of assumptions is involved is the method of determining impairments of investment portfolio. At the 
beginning of FY05, MIGA changed the accounting treatment of invested assets from “securities available for sale” (AFS) to “trading 
securities” (TS). TS classification is applicable when “trading generally reflects active and frequent buying and selling and trading secu-
rities are generally used with the objective of generating profits on short-term differences in price.”  TS classification is therefore more 
appropriate to MIGA’s portfolio where return maximization plays a prominent role under the new investment policy given the fact that 
the portfolio managers are constantly monitoring performance vis-à-vis their assigned benchmarks, and may engage in short-term active 
trading when market opportunities arise, to attempt to out-perform benchmarks. As a result of the change in its classification, MIGA 
recorded a one-time $3.2 million unrealized loss during the first quarter of FY05.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
MIGA participates along with IBRD and IFC in a number of pension and postretirement benefit plans that cover substantially all of their 
staff members. All costs and assets and liabilities associated with plans are allocated between IBRD, IFC and MIGA based upon their 
employees’ respective participation in the plans. The underlying actuarial assumptions, fair value of plan assets and funded status asso-
ciated with these plans are based on financial market interest rates, past experience, and management’s best estimate of future benefit 
changes and economic conditions. For further details, please refer to Notes to Financial Statements—Note G.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating Income and Net Income
In FY05, the operating income declined to $24.1 million compared to $25.5 million in FY04 due to (1) a decline in net premium 
income and (2) an increase in administrative expenses. The increase in administrative expense was offset in large part by an increase in 
investment income which reached $16.8 million in FY05 compared to $14.2 million in FY04, despite recording a $3.2 million unrealized 
loss following the change in accounting basis of the investment portfolio from “available for sale” to “trading.” Net income amounted 
to $131.0 million in FY05, an increase of $43.0 million compared to FY04, due to a substantial release of provision for claims of $106.8 
million. The table below shows the breakdown of MIGA’s net income.
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Table 6  Analysis of Operating Income and Net Income ($ M)

FY05 FY04 FY03

Total Guarantees Issued     $1,226 $1,076 $1,372

Gross Exposure     5,094 5,186 5,083

Net Exposure     3,138 3,259 3,204

Premium Income 57.1 57.9 53.9

Premium Ceded (23.9) (23.2) (21.4)

Fees and Commissions 6.4 6.2 7.0

Net Premium Income 39.6 40.9 39.5

Income from Investments 16.8 14.2 25.3

Administrative and Other Expenses (32.3) (29.6) (26.7)

Operating Income 24.1 25.6 38.1

Release of Provision for Claims 106.8 62.4 20.7

Net Income 131.0 88.0 58.8

Operating Capital  830   811 766

ROOC* (before provisions) 2.9% 3.2% 5.0%

ROOC (after provisions) 15.7% 10.9% 7.7%

* Return on operating capital.
Note: numbers may not add up due to rounding.

FY05 versus FY04
FY05 operating income was $24.1 million, which was $1.4 million lower compared to that of FY04. While MIGA issued $1.23 billion 
in guarantees during FY05, $150 million more than FY04, the premium income decreased by $0.8 million. This was mainly due to a 
decrease in gross exposure resulting mostly from higher cancellations and reductions in FY05, which reached $1.31 billion, compared to 
$0.97 billion in FY04. In addition, the premium amount ceded to reinsurers increased by $0.7 million in FY05 as the amount reinsured 
increased slightly between FY04 and FY05.
 In FY05, administrative and other expenses increased by $2.7 million compared to FY04 due to, for the large part, several one-time 
and step-up expenses associated with a corporate realignment, and the strengthening in IT systems to achieve closer integration with 
IBRD’s system architecture, as well as an increase in World Bank Group charges as a result of MIGA’s systematic efforts to leverage off 
the World Bank Group’s infrastructure, experience and economies of scale with respect to corporate and support functions.
 During FY05, MIGA implemented a new investment policy, and MIGA’s investment portfolio generated $16.8 million of investment 
income, including a one-adjustment related $3.2 million unrealized loss. On an economic basis, the return reached 2.7% in FY05 
compared to 0.99% in FY04. This significant increase in investment return was due to several factors, including a more favorable interest 
rate environment and changes in both the strategic asset allocation and the portfolio benchmarks associated with the implementation 
of the new investment policy.
 In FY05, net income was significantly impacted by a substantial release of provision for claims of $106.8 million, largely as a result 
of the adoption of a new provisioning methodology.

FY04 versus FY03
FY04 operating income amounted to $25.5 million, $12.6 million below FY03 despite a marginal increase in net premium income 
resulting from a increase in the average net exposure during FY04. The decrease in operating income was due to for the largest part a 
significant reduction in investment income of $11.1 million compared to FY03. The unfavorable investment climate contributed to lower 
returns, thereby reducing the investment income despite an increase of the size of the investment portfolio from $689 million in FY03 
to $729 million in FY04 associated with the implementation of GCI. Total administrative expenses in FY04 increased by $2.9 million 
compared to FY03 mainly due to an increase in WBG charges of $1.7 million.
 In FY04, net income increased by $29.1 million compared to $58.8 million in FY03 due to a significant release of provision for 
claims. In FY04, the release of provision was $62.4 million, as a result of several factors, including the cancellation of a large contract 
in the Dominican Republic, the reduction of the probability of claims for loan contracts in Argentina, continued improvement in geo-
graphical diversification and other portfolio changes. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

General Governance
Board Membership
In accordance with the Convention establishing the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, members of MIGA’s Board of Directors 
are appointed or elected by their member governments. Directors are neither officers nor staff of MIGA. The President is the only man-
agement member of the Board of Directors, serving as a non-voting member (except casting a deciding vote in case of an equal division) 
and as Chairman of the Board. The Directors have established several committees including:
r Committee on Development Effectiveness
r Audit Committee 
r Budget Committee 
r Personnel Committee
r Ethics Committee
r Committee on Governance and Administrative Matters

The Directors and their committees function in continuous session at the principal offices of MIGA, as business requires. Each com-
mittee’s terms of reference establishes its respective roles and responsibilities. As committees do not vote on issues, their role is pri-
marily to serve the full Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities. 

Audit Committee
Membership
The Audit Committee consists of eight members of the Board of Directors. Membership on the committee is determined by the Board 
of Directors, based upon nominations by the Chairman of the Board, following informal consultation with the Directors. In addition, 
membership of the committee is expected to reflect the economic and geographic diversity of MIGA’s member countries. Other relevant 
selection criteria include seniority, continuity and relevant experience. Some or all of the responsibilities of individual committee members 
are performed by their alternates or advisors. Generally, committee members are appointed for a two-year term; reappointment to a 
second term, when possible, is desirable for continuity. Audit Committee meetings are generally open to any member of the Board who 
may wish to attend, and non-committee members of the Board may participate in the discussion. In addition, the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee may speak in that capacity at meetings of the Board of Directors, with respect to discussions held in the Audit Committee.

Key Responsibilities
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board to assist it in the oversight and assessment of MIGA’s finances and accounting, 
including the effectiveness of financial policies, the integrity of financial statements, the system of internal controls regarding finance, 
accounting and ethics (including fraud and corruption), and financial and operational risks. The Audit Committee also has the respon-
sibility for reviewing the performance and recommending to the Board the appointment, of the external auditor, as well as monitoring 
the independence of the external auditor and meeting with it in executive session. The Audit Committee participates in oversight of 
the internal audit function, including reviewing the responsibilities, staffing and the effectiveness of internal audit. The committee also 
reviews the annual internal audit plan. In the execution of its role, the committee discusses with management, the external auditors, and 
the internal auditors, financial issues and policies which have a bearing on the institution’s financial position and risk-bearing capacity. 
The Audit Committee monitors the evolution of developments in corporate governance and the role of audit committees on an ongoing 
basis and revised its terms of reference in FY04.

Communications
The Audit Committee communicates regularly with the full Board through distribution of the following:
r The minutes of its meetings.
r Reports of the Audit Committee prepared by the Chairman, which document discussions held. These Reports are distributed to the 

Directors, Alternates, World Bank Group senior management and the senior management of MIGA.
r “Statement(s) of the Chairman” and statements issued by other members of the committee.
r The Annual Report to the Board of Directors, which provides an overview of the main issues addressed by the committee over the 

year. 

The Audit Committee’s communications with the external auditor are described in the Auditor Independence section.

Executive Sessions
Members of the Audit Committee may convene in executive session at any time, without management present. Under the Audit 
Committee’s terms of reference, it meets separately in executive session with the external and internal auditors. 

Access to Resources and to Management
Throughout the year, the Audit Committee receives a large volume of information, which supports the preparation of the financial 
statements. The Audit Committee meets both formally and informally throughout the year to discuss financial and accounting matters. 
Directors have complete access to management. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses with management the quarterly and 
annual financial statements. The committee also reviews with the external auditor the financial statements prior to their publication and 
recommends them for approval to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has the capacity, under exceptional circumstances, to obtain advice and assistance from outside legal, accounting 
or other advisors as deemed appropriate.
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Code of Ethics
MIGA strives to foster and maintain a positive work environment that supports the ethical behavior of its staff. To facilitate this effort, 
the World Bank Group has in place a Code of Professional Ethics-Living our Values. MIGA has adopted the code which applies to all 
staff (including managers, consultants, and temporary employees) worldwide.
 This code is available in nine languages on IBRD’s website, www.worldbank.org. Staff relations, conflicts of interest, and opera-
tional issues, including the accuracy of books and records, are key elements of the code.
 In addition to the code, an essential element of appropriate conduct is compliance with the obligations embodied in the Principles 
of Staff Employment, Staff Rules, and Administrative Rules, the violation of which may result in disciplinary actions. In accordance with 
the Staff Rules, senior managers must complete a confidential financial disclosure instrument with the Office of Ethics and Business 
Conduct.

Guidance for staff is also provided through programs, training materials, and other resources. Managers are responsible for ensuring 
that internal systems, policies, and procedures are consistently aligned with MIGA’s ethical goals. In support of its efforts on ethics, 
MIGA offers a variety of methods for informing staff of these resources. Many of these efforts are headed by the following groups:
r The Office of Ethics and Business Conduct (OEBC) provides leadership, management and oversight for MIGA’s ethics infra-

structure including the Ethics HelpLine, a consolidated conflicts of interest disclosure/resolution system, financial disclosure, 
ongoing training to both internal and external audiences, and communication resources.

r The Department of Institutional Integrity (INT) is charged with investigating allegations of fraud and corruption in projects ben-
efiting from World Bank Group funding or guarantees worldwide. The department also investigates allegations of misconduct 
by MIGA staff, and trains and educates staff and clients in detecting and reporting fraud and corruption in MIGA-guaranteed 
projects. The department reports directly to the President and is composed of professionals from a range of disciplines including 
financial analysts, researchers, investigators, lawyers, prosecutors, forensic accountants, and staff with operational experience 
across the World Bank Group.

MIGA has in place procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received regarding accounting, internal control 
and auditing matters, including close collaboration with OEBC and INT.

Auditor Independence
In February 2003, the Board of Directors adopted a set of principles applicable to the appointment of the external auditor for the World 
Bank Group. Key features of those principles include:

r Prohibition of the external auditor from the provision of all non audit-related services.
r All audit-related services must be pre-approved on a case-by-case basis by the Board of Directors, upon recommendation of the 

Audit Committee.
r Mandatory rebidding of the external audit contract every five years.
r Prohibition of any firm serving as external auditors for more than two consecutive five-year terms.
r Mandatory rotation of the senior partner after five years.
r An evaluation of the performance of the external auditor at the mid-point of the five-year term.

In FY04, MIGA’s external auditor, Deloitte and Touche, began a new five-year term and will have served 11 years as auditor upon comple-
tion of that term, pursuant to a one-time grandfathered exemption from the above-referenced ten-year limit. Even within a five-year term 
the service of the external auditors is subject to recommendation by the Audit Committee for annual reappointment and approval of a 
resolution by the Board of Directors.

As a standard practice, the external auditor is present as an observer at virtually all Audit Committee meetings and is frequently asked 
to present its perspective on issues. In addition, the Audit Committee meets periodically with the external auditor in private session 
without management present. Communication between the external auditor and the Audit Committee is ongoing, as frequently as is 
deemed necessary by either party. MIGA’s auditors follow the communication requirements with audit committees set out under U.S. 
generally accepted auditing standards and International Standards on Auditing. In keeping with these standards, significant formal 
communications include:

r Quarterly and annual financial statement reporting.
r Annual appointment of the external auditors.
r Presentation of the external audit plan.
r Presentation of control recommendations and discussion of the COSO attestation and report.
r Presentation of a statement regarding independence.

In addition to committee meetings, individual members of the Audit Committee have independent access to the external auditor. 
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Management’s Assertion Regarding COSO (cont’d)
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COSO Assertion of Independent Accountants
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Report of Independent Accountants
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Balance Sheet
June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004
Expressed in thousands of US dollars
       2005 2004
Assets
CASH      $14,311 $9,101

INVESTMENTS—Note B      985,971 739,145
NONNEGOTIABLE, NONINTEREST-BEARING
 DEMAND OBLIGATIONS – Note C    108,854 108,968

OTHER ASSETS
 Receivable for investment securities sold – Note B   33,072 -
 Estimated reinsurance recoverables – Note F   24,300 144,700
 Prepaid Pension – Note G    18,151 15,821
 Miscellaneous      13,147 10,634
       88,670 171,155

TOTAL ASSETS      $1,197,806 $1,028,369

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
LIABILITIES
 Payable for investment securities purchased – Note B   $263,506 $11,005
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses   25,551 15,714
 Unearned premiums and commitments fees    19,130 18,122
 Reserve for claims—Note F
  Specific reserve for claims    59,800 27,700
  Insurance portfolio reserve    120,000 380,200
  Reserve for claims – gross    179,800 407,900
  Total liabilities     487,987 452,741

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 Capital stock—Note C
  Authorized capital (183,546 shares-June 30, 2005; 183,496 shares-June 30, 2004)
  Subscribed capital (168,808 shares-June 30, 2005; 168,021 shares- June 30, 2004) 1,826,503 1,817,987
  Less uncalled portion of subscriptions   1,477,430 1,470,430
       349,073 347,557
 Payments on acco unt of pending subscriptions   67 67
       349,140 347,624
 Retained earnings    357,244 226,248
 Accumulated other comprehensive income   3,434 1,756
  Total shareholders’ equity    709,819 575,628

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES—Notes D and E

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   $1,197,806 $1,028,369

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statement of Income
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004
Expressed in thousands of US dollars 
       2005 2004
INCOME
 Income from guarantees
  Premium income    $57,140 $57,947
  Premium ceded     (23,864) (23,225)
  Fees and commissions    6,354 6,194
  Total     39,630 40,916

 Income from investments       16,842 14,241
  
 Miscellaneous income    - 4
 
  Total income     56,472 55,161

EXPENSES
 Release of provision for claims—Note F   (106,849) (62,440) 
 Administrative expenses—Notes G, H and I   30,330 27,985
 Other expenses      1,995 1,612
 Total expenses      (74,524)   (32,843)

NET INCOME       $130,996 $88,004 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004
Expressed in thousands of US dollars
        2005 2004
NET INCOME       $130,996 $88,004
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 Translation adjustment    (1,474) 5,898
 Unrealized gain (loss) on investments       3,153 (7,013) 
  Total      1,679   (1,115)  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    $132,675 $86,889

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 
Expressed in thousands of US dollars 
       2005 2004
CAPITAL STOCK
 Balance at beginning of the fiscal year   $347,624 $339,170
 New subscriptions    1,516 8,609
 Payments on account of pending subscriptions   - (155)
 Ending Balance      349,140 347,624
RETAINED EARNINGS
 Balance at beginning of the fiscal year   226,248 138,244
 Net income      130,996 88,004
 Ending Balance      357,244        226,248
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 Balance at beginning of the fiscal year   1,756 2,871
 Other comprehensive income    1,679 (1,115)
 Ending Balance      3,435 1,756
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    $709,819 $575,628
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004
Expressed in thousands of US dollars  
       2005 2004
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
 Net income      $130,996 $88,004
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
  provided by operating activities:
     Net claims paid     (1,457) -
     Release of  provision for claims    (106,849) (62,440)
     Net increase in investments             (255,407)      -
     (Increase) decrease in other assets    (37,913) 43,597
     Increase (decrease) in payable for investment securities purchased  263,506 (9,779) 

     Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   9,788 (15,333) 

     Increase (decrease) in unearned premiums and commitment fees  1,013  (1,355)
 Net cash provided by operating activities   3,677 42,694
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
 Available-for-sale portfolio: Sales and maturities   - 25,290,792
  Purchases     - (25,343,386)
 Net cash (used in) investing activities    - (52,594)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
 Capital subscription payments    1,373 7,287

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH   160 524

 Net increase (decrease) in cash    5,210 (2,089)
 Cash at beginning of the fiscal year    9,101 11,190

CASH AT END OF THE FISCAL YEAR    $14,311 $9,101

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES  OF NONCASH ITEMS:
 Transfer of investment portfolio from Available-for-sale to Trading  $747,188 $      - 

 

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statement of Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Voting Power
As of June 30, 2005
Expressed in thousands of US dollars

 Subscriptions (Note C) Voting power 
      
  Total Amount  Amount  Number % of
Members Shares a   Subscribed Paid-in  Subject to Call of Votes Total

Afghanistan 118  $       1,277   $       255   $    1,022  399 0.19
Albania 102            1,104                210                    894  383 0.18
Algeria 1,144          12,378             2,350               10,028   1,425 0.66
Angola 187            2,023                405                 1,618  468 0.22
Argentina 1,254          13,568             2,714               10,854  1,535 0.71
Armenia 80               866                173                    693            361          0.17 
Australia 3,019          32,666             6,201               26,465         3,300          1.53 
Austria 1,366          14,780             2,806               11,974        1,647          0.77 
Azerbaijan 115            1,244                249                    995       396          0.18 
Bahamas, The 176            1,904                362                 1,542            457          0.21 
Bahrain 136            1,472                279                 1,193           417          0.19 
Bangladesh 599            6,481             1,230                 5,251           880          0.41 
Barbados 120            1,298                246                 1,052           401          0.19 
Belarus 233            2,521                504                 2,017            514          0.24 
Belgium 3,577          38,703             7,347               31,356         3,858          1.79 
Belize 88               952                181                    771           369          0.17 
Benin 108            1,169                222                    947           389          0.18 
Bolivia 220            2,380                452                 1,928           501          0.23 
Bosnia and Herzegovina 80               866                173                    693            361          0.17 
Botswana 88               952                181                    771            369          0.17 
Brazil 2,606          28,197             5,353               22,844         2,887          1.34 
Bulgaria 643            6,957             1,321                 5,636            924          0.43 
Burkina Faso 61               660                132                    528         342          0.16 
Burundi 74               801                160                    641         355          0.16 
Cambodia 164            1,774                337                 1,437         445          0.21 
Cameroon 107            1,158                232                    926          388          0.18 
Canada 5,225          56,535           10,732               45,803         5,506          2.56 
Cape Verde 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
Central African Republic 60               649                130                    519            341          0.16 
Chad 60               649                130                    519           341          0.16 
Chile 855 9,251 1,756   7,495        1,136          0.53 
China 5,530          59,835           11,359               48,476         5,811          2.70 
Colombia 770            8,331             1,582                 6,749         1,051          0.49 
Congo, Democratic Republic of 596            6,449             1,224                 5,225           877          0.41 
Congo, Republic of 115            1,244                236                 1,008           396          0.18 
Costa Rica 206            2,229                423                 1,806            487          0.23 
Côte d’Ivoire 310            3,354                637                 2,717           591          0.27 
Croatia 330            3,571                678                 2,893            611          0.28 
Cyprus 183            1,980                376                 1,604            464          0.22 
Czech Republic 784            8,483             1,610                 6,873         1,065          0.50 
Denmark 1,265          13,687             2,598               11,089        1,546          0.72 
Dominica 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
Dominican Republic 147            1,591                318                 1,273            428          0.20 
Ecuador 321            3,473                659                 2,814            602          0.28 
Egypt, Arab Republic of 809            8,753             1,662                 7,091      1,090          0.51 
El Salvador 122            1,320                264                 1,056         403          0.19 
Equatorial Guinea 50               541                108                    433         331          0.15 
Eritrea 50               541                108                    433        331          0.15 
Estonia 115            1,244                236                 1,008            396          0.18 
Ethiopia 123            1,331                253                 1,078            404          0.19 
Fiji 71               768                154                    614            352          0.16 
Finland 1,057          11,437             2,171                 9,266         1,338          0.62 
France 8,203          88,756           16,901    71,855         8,484          3.94 
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Gabon 169 1,829  347    1,482          450          0.21 
Gambia, The 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
Georgia 111            1,201                240                    961            392          0.18 
Germany 8,936          96,688           18,355               78,333        9,217          4.28 
Ghana 432            4,674                887                 3,787            713          0.33 
Greece 493            5,334             1,013                 4,321            774          0.36 
Grenada 50               541                108                    433            331          0.15 
Guatemala 140            1,515                303                 1,212            421          0.20 
Guinea 91               985                197                    788           372          0.17 
Guyana 84               909                182                    727          365          0.17 
Haití 75               812                162                    650          356          0.17 
Honduras 178            1,926                366                 1,560          459          0.21 
Hungary 994          10,755             2,042                 8,713       1,275          0.59 
Iceland 90               974                195                    779            371          0.17 
India 3,048          32,979             6,596               26,383         3,329          1.55 
Indonesia 1,849          20,006             3,798               16,208         2,130          0.99 
Iran, Islamic Republic 1,659 17,950 3,590  14,360       1,940          0.90 
Ireland 650            7,033             1,335                 5,698            931          0.43 
Israel 835            9,035             1,715                 7,320        1,116          0.52 
Italy 4,970          53,775           10,208               43,567      5,251          2.44 
Jamaica 181            1,958                392                 1,566       462          0.21 
Japan 8,979          97,153           18,443               78,710        9,260          4.30 
Jordan 171            1,850                351                 1,499            452          0.21 
Kazakhstan 368            3,982                756                 3,226           649          0.30 
Kenya 303            3,278                622                 2,656            584          0.27 
Korea, Republic of 791            8,559             1,625                 6,934         1,072          0.50 
Kuwait 1,639          17,734             3,367               14,367        1,920          0.89 
Kyrgyz Republic 77               833                167                    666            358          0.17 
Lao People’s Democratic Republic 60               649                130                    519            341          0.16 
Latvia 171            1,850                351                 1,499          452          0.21 
Lebanon 250            2,705                514                 2,191            531          0.25 
Lesotho 88               952                181                    771           369          0.17 
Libya 549            5,940             1,188                 4,752           830          0.39 
Lithuania 187            2,023                384                 1,639            468          0.22 
Luxembourg 204            2,207                419                 1,788           485          0.23 
Macedonia, FYR 88               952                181                    771            369          0.17 
Madagascar 176            1,904                362                 1,542            457          0.21 
Malawi 77               833                167                    666            358          0.17 
Malaysia 1,020          11,036             2,095                 8,941        1,301          0.60 
Maldives, The 50 541 108  433          331          0.15 
Mali 143            1,547                294                 1,253            424          0.20 
Malta 132            1,428                271                 1,157           413          0.19 
Mauritania 111            1,201                228                    973           392          0.18 
Mauritius 153            1,655                314                 1,341           434          0.20 
Micronesia, Federated States of 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
Moldova 96            1,039                208                    831            377          0.18 
Mongolia 58               628                126                    502            339          0.16 
Morocco 613            6,633             1,259                 5,374            894          0.42 
Mozambique 171            1,850                351                 1,499            452          0.21 
Namibia 107            1,158                232                    926            388          0.18 
Nepal 122            1,320                251                 1,069            403          0.19 
Netherlands, The 3,822          41,354             7,850               33,504         4,103          1.91 
Nicaragua 180            1,948                370    1,578           461          0.21 
Nigeria 1,487          16,089             3,054               13,035        1,768          0.82 

Statement of Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Voting Power (cont’d)
As of June 30, 2005
Expressed in thousands of US dollars

 Subscriptions (Note C) Voting power 
      
  Total Amount  Amount  Number % of
Members Shares a   Subscribed Paid-in  Subject to Call of Votes Total

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statement of Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Voting Power (Cont’d)
As of June 30, 2005
Expressed in thousands of US dollars

 Subscriptions (Note C) Voting power 
      
  Total Amount  Amount  Number % of
Members Shares a   Subscribed Paid-in  Subject to Call of Votes Total

Norway 1,232          13,330             2,531              10,799         1,513          0.70 
Oman 166            1,796                341                 1,455           447          0.21 
Pakistan 1,163          12,584             2,389               10,195         1,444          0.67
Palau 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
Panama 231            2,499                474                 2,025           512          0.24 
Papua New Guinea 96            1,039                208                    831            377          0.18 
Paraguay 141 1,526                290    1,236           422          0.20 
Peru 657            7,109             1,350                 5,759           938          0.44 
Philippines, The 484            5,237             1,047                 4,190          765          0.36 
Poland 764            8,266             1,653                 6,613         1,045          0.49 
Portugal 673            7,282             1,382                 5,900         954          0.44 
Qatar 241            2,608                495                 2,113            522          0.24 
Romania 978          10,582             2,009                 8,573        1,259          0.59 
Russian Federation 5,528          59,813           11,355               48,458        5,809          2.70 
Rwanda 132            1,428                271                 1,157           413          0.19 
St. Kitts and Nevis 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
St. Lucia 88               952                181                    771           369          0.17 
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 88               952                181                    771           369          0.17 
Samoa 50               541                108                    433            331          0.15 
Saudi Arabia 5,528          59,813           11,355               48,458        5,809          2.70 
Senegal 256            2,770                526                 2,244           537          0.25 
Serbia and Montenegro 407            4,404                836                 3,568           688          0.32 
Seychelles 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
Sierra Leone 132            1,428                271                 1,157           413          0.19 
Singapore 272            2,943                559                 2,384            553          0.26 
Slovak Republic 391            4,231                803                 3,428            672          0.31 
Slovenia 180            1,948                370                 1,578          461          0.21 
South Africa 1,662          17,983             3,414               14,569        1,943          0.90 
Spain 2,265          24,507             4,652               19,855         2,546          1.18 
Sri Lanka 478 5,172 982    4,190            759          0.35 
Sudan 206            2,229                446                 1,783            487          0.23 
Suriname 82 887 177  710          363          0.17 
Swaziland 58               628                126                    502           339          0.16 
Sweden 1,849          20,006             3,798               16,208         2,130          0.99 
Switzerland 2,643          28,597             5,429               23,168         2,924          1.36 
Syrian Arab Republic 296 3,203 608                2,595           577          0.27 
Tajikistan 74               801                160                    641            355          0.17 
Tanzania 248            2,683                509                 2,174            529          0.25 
Thailand 742            8,028             1,524                 6,504        1,023          0.48 
Timor-Leste 50               541                108                    433            331          0.15 
Togo 77               833                167                    666            358          0.17 
Trinidad and Tobago 358            3,874                735                 3,139            639          0.30 
Tunisia 275            2,976               565                2,411           556          0.26 
Turkey 814            8,807             1,672                 7,135         1,095          0.51 
Turkmenistan 66               714                143                    571            347          0.16 
Uganda 233            2,521                479                 2,042            514          0.24 
Ukraine 1,027 11,112 2,156   8,956         1,308          0.61 
United Arab Emirates 372            4,025                805                 3,220           653          0.30 
United Kingdom 8,565          92,673           17,593               75,080        8,846          4.11 
United States 31,889        345,039 66,117            278,922     32,170        14.95 
Uruguay 202            2,186                437                 1,749           483          0.22 
Uzbekistan 175            1,894                379                 1,515           456          0.21 
Vanuatu 50               541                108                    433           331          0.15 
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Statement of Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Voting Power (cont’d)
As of June 30, 2005
Expressed in thousands of US dollars

 Subscriptions (Note C) Voting power 
      
  Total Amount  Amount  Number % of
Members Shares a   Subscribed Paid-in  Subject to Call of Votes Total

Venezuela, Rep. Bolivariana de 1,427          15,440             3,088               12,352         1,708          0.79 
Vietnam 388            4,198                797                 3,401           669          0.31 
Yemen, Republic of 155            1,677                335                 1,342           436          0.20 
Zambia 318            3,441                688                 2,753           599          0.28 
Zimbabwe 236            2,554                511                 2,043           517          0.24 

Total—June 30, 2005 b 168,808  $1,826,503  $349,073    $1,477,430  215,173    100.00 

Total—June 30, 2004 168,021  $1,817,987   $347,557    $1,470,430  197,049  

Note: Amounts aggregating the equivalent of $67,000 were received from Niger, which is in the process of completing its membership 
requirements.

a Subscribed shares pertaining to the General Capital Increase include only those shares for which the subscription process has been completed, 
that is, for which required payment has been received.

b May differ from the sum of individual figures shown because of rounding.
      

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statement of Guarantees Outstanding
As of June 30, 2005
Expressed in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise noted

 Gross Exposure (Note D)  
 US  Japanese   Reinsurance Net
Host Country Dollars Euro Yen Total  (Note D) Exposure

Albania 8,585    8,585    8,585
Angola 6,413     6,413    6,413
Argentina 60,890     60,890  25,402  35,488
Armenia 2,700     2,700  2,700
Azerbaijan 863     863 86  777
Bangladesh 32,862     32,862    32,862
Belarus 28,500     28,500  2,850 25,650
Benin 3,401     3,401  340 3,061
Bosnia and Herzegovina   270,611   270,611 109,665  160,946
Brazil 359,742 22,865   382,607 243,303  139,304
Bulgaria   351,479   351,479  220,503  130,977
Burkina Faso   35,357   35,357 3,536  31,821
Burundi 911     911 91 820
Cape Verde 540     540   540
Chile 22,216     22,216    22,216
China 84,800 5,760   90,560  13,072  77,488
Colombia 62,415     62,415 31,208  31,208
Congo, Democratic Republic 6,816     6,816 682  6,134
Costa Rica 124,211     124,211 20,561 103,650
Côte d’Ivoire   18,078   18,078   18,078
Croatia 61,750 250,787   312,537  119,268  193,269
Czech Republic   5,207   5,207 521 4,686
Dominican Republic 78,734     78,734 26,416 52,319
Ecuador 98,910     98,910 6,645 92,265
Egypt, Arab Republic of 6,401     6,401 640 5,761
Georgia 2,134     2,134    2,134
Ghana 174,000     174,000  22,350 151,650
Guatemala 107,476     107,476  53,291 54,185
Guinea 14,149     14,149    14,149
Indonesia 52,400     52,400  360 52,040
Jamaica 111,213     111,213  8,101 103,112
Kazakhstan 7,200     7,200  720 6,480
Kenya 49,335     49,335  21,855 27,480
Kuwait 50,000     50,000    50,000
Kyrgyz Republic 15,423     15,423  1,454 13,969
Lao People’s Dem. Rep. 90,599     90,599  45,300 45,300
Latvia 10,104     10,104 1,010  9,094
Macedonia, FYR   345   345  35 311
Madagascar 755     755 378 378
Mali 23,409     23,409 2,341 21,069
Mauritania 18,512 11,752   30,264 3,026 27,238
Moldova 61,992     61,992  30,636 31,356
Mozambique 285,625   14,607 300,232 136,336 163,896
Nepal 30,001     30,001 15,941 14,061
Nicaragua 107,321     107,321  53,168  54,153
Nigeria 101,838     101,838  21,494  80,344
Pakistan 117,261 19,141 364 136,767  30,063  106,704
Peru 102,447     102,447  25,329  77,117
Philippines, The 91,860     91,860  7,091  84,769
Romania 119,165 167,290   286,455  147,446  139,009
Russian Federation 198,276 72,747   271,023  126,014  145,009
Senegal   15,102   15,102  1,510  13,591
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Serbia and Montenegro 1,800 347,590   349,390  185,595  163,795
South Africa 12,300     12,300     12,300
Sri Lanka 1,686     1,686    1,686
Swaziland 32,000   14,607 46,607  23,303  23,303
Syrian Arab Republic 97,800     97,800 9,780 88,020
Thailand 85,599     85,599  42,800 42,800
Togo   3,758   3,758  3,758
Turkey 135,000     135,000  67,500  67,500
Turkmenistan 2,826     2,826   2,826
Uganda 43,613     43,613  20,561  23,052
Ukraine 180,800     180,800  65,010 115,790
Uruguay 732     732  73 658
Venezuela, Rep. Bolivariana de 19,800     19,800 5,940 13,860
Vietnam 143,200     143,200  86,600 56,600

 3,751,312 1,597,869 29,578 5,378,759 2,087,197 3,291,562

Adjustment for Dual-Country Contracts a       

Argentina/Chile -22,216   -22,216  -22,216
Brazil/Bolivia -85,599   -85,599 -42,800 -42,800
Mozambique/Swaziland -32,000  -14,607 -46,607 -23,303 -23,303
 -139,815   -14,607 -154,422  -66,103 -88,319

Adjustment for Master Agreement b

  -129,895    -129,895   -64,948  -64,948
Total—June 30, 2005 c 3,481,602 1,597,869 14,971 5,094,443   1,956,147  3,138,296
Total—June 30, 2004 3,949,474 1,211,202 25,341 5,186,017  1,927,255 3,258,762

a For contracts where there are two host countries, MIGA is at risk for losses in both countries up to the maximum amount of liability under the 
contract. As such, the aggregate exposure is reported in both host countries and adjustment is made to correct for double-counting.

b Adjustment for master agreement accounts for MIGA’s maximum exposure to loss with a single investor being less than the sum of the maximum 
aggregate liabilities under the individual contracts.

c May differ from the sum of individual figures shown because of rounding.

Statement of Guarantees Outstanding (cont’d)
As of June 30, 2005
Expressed in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise noted

 Gross Exposure (Note D)  
 US  Japanese   Reinsurance Net
Host Country Dollars Euro Yen Total  (Note D) Exposure

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Purpose

The Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, established on April 12, 1988, is a member of the World Bank Group which also includes 
the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the International Finance Corporation, and the International Development 
Association. MIGA’s activities are closely coordinated with and complement the overall development objectives of the other members 
of the World Bank Group. MIGA is designed to help developing countries attract productive foreign investment by both private investors 
and commercially operated public sector companies. Its facilities include guarantees or insurance against noncommercial risks and 
a program of advisory services and technical assistance to support member countries’ efforts to attract and retain foreign direct 
investment.

NOTE A  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND RELATED POLICIES

MIGA’s financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The policy adopted is that considered most appropriate to the circum-
stances of MIGA having regard to its legal requirements and to the practices of other international insurance entities. On July 28, 2005, 
MIGA’s Board of Directors approved the financial statements for issue.

Use of Estimates   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following summary of policies 
adopted by MIGA is provided to assist readers in the interpretation of these financial statements.

Translation of Currencies   MIGA’s financial statements are expressed in terms of United States dollars solely for the purpose of sum-
marizing MIGA’s financial position and the results of its operations for the convenience of its members and other interested parties.
 MIGA is an international organization that may conduct its operations in the currencies of all its members. MIGA’s resources 
are derived from its capital and retained earnings in its members’ currencies. MIGA strives to minimize exchange rate risks in a multi 
currency environment. As such, MIGA attempts to match its contingent obligations in any one currency with assets in the same 
currency on a pro-rata basis.
 MIGA may periodically undertake currency conversions on a pro-rata basis to match the currencies underlying its reserves with 
those of its contingent obligations. The purpose of these conversions is to minimize currency exposure that may occur through oper-
ations. Otherwise, MIGA does not convert one currency into another except for small amounts required to meet certain operational 
needs.
 Assets and liabilities are translated at market exchange rates in effect at the end of the period. Capital subscriptions are stated 
in accordance with the procedures described below. Income and expenses are translated at either the market exchange rates in effect 
on the dates on which they are recognized or at an average of the market exchange rates in effect during each month. Translation 
adjustments are charged or credited to other comprehensive income. 
 
Valuation of Capital Stock  Under the MIGA Convention, all payments from members subscribing to the capital stock of MIGA shall be 
settled on the basis of the average value of the Special Drawing Rights (SDR) in terms of United States dollars for the period January 1, 
1981 to June 30, 1985, such value being equal to $1.082 for one SDR. 

Investments   As part of its overall portfolio management strategy, to diversify its credit exposure to commercial banks and to obtain 
higher returns, MIGA invests in government and agency obligations, mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities and time 
deposits according to its credit risk and maturity policies. Government and agency obligations include highly rated fixed rate bonds, 
notes, bills and other obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by governments of countries or other official entities including 
government agencies or by multilateral organizations.
 Effective July 1, 2004, MIGA has classified all investment securities as trading. Investments classified as trading securities are 
reported at fair value using trade-date accounting. The first-in-first out (FIFO) method is used to determine the cost of securities sold 
in computing the realized gains and losses for the investments. The unrealized gains or losses are included in income.
  
Revenue Recognition  Revenue from premium payments for direct insurance and reinsurance contracts assumed and ceded is rec-
ognized on a pro-rata basis over the contract period. Revenue from commitment fees, which are fees paid by investors to reserve for a 
limited period of time guarantee capacity for future use, is recognized on a pro-rata basis over the commitment period.

Reserve for Claims  Starting with the quarter ending September 30, 2004, MIGA adopted a new provisioning methodology. This meth-
odology builds on portfolio risk quantification models which use risk parameters including both individually assessed loss probabilities 
for projects at risk and rating-based loss probabilities that are applied to the entire guarantee portfolio.
 Under this new methodology, MIGA reviews the risk parameters and assesses the adequacy of its reserves on a quarterly basis. 
For the purpose of presentation in the financial statements, MIGA’s reserve consists of two primary components, the Specific Reserve 
and the Insurance Portfolio Reserve. These components are defined based on the degree of probability.
 In the event of a formal filing of claim by an investor, and upon receipt of full evidence of the occurrence of the covered risk, MIGA 
normally has between two months and six months to determine its liability under the contract, depending upon the type of coverage 
and contract terms, and 60 days thereafter to pay the claim.
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Reclassification   Certain amounts in the prior year have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Accounting & Reporting Developments   In December 2003, as part of its improvements to International Accounting Standards (IAS) 
project, IASB issued 15 revised International Accounting Standards to eliminate redundancies and conflicts between exiting standards. 
The revised standards are to be applied for fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2005. MIGA management believes these standards 
will not have a material impact on MIGA’s financial statements.

NOTE B  INVESTMENTS

Trading   Effective July 1, 2004, the accounting classification of MIGA’s invested assets was changed from “available-for-sale” to 
“trading,” in accordance with the policy approved by the Board of Directors.    
 For securities transferred into the trading category, the unrealized holding gains or losses at the date of transfer were recognized 
in earnings immediately. The unrealized loss of $3,152,718 at July 1, 2004 was recognized in earnings and is reported in the Statement 
of Income as part of Income from investments.
 Investments classified as trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains or losses included in earnings. For the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, MIGA had included $3,589,000 unrealized losses in income. 
 A summary of the trading portfolio at June 30, 2005 and the available for sale portfolio at June 30, 2004 is as follows (in thousands 
of US dollars):

      Fair  Value
     2005   2004
Government Obligations  $269,210  $401,975
Time Deposits    325,331  337,170
Asset-backed Securities  391,430  -
Total     $985,971  $739,145

   
MIGA manages its investments on a net portfolio basis. The following table summarizes MIGA’s net portfolio position as of June 30, 
2005 and June 30, 2004 (in thousands of US dollars):

      Fair  Value 
     2005   2004
Investments—Trading  $985,971  $ - 
Investments—Available-for-sale  -  739,145
Cash held in Investment Portfolio a  8,732  3,780
Receivable from Investment Securities Sold 33,072  -
Accrued Interest b    3,100  3,363
Payable for Investment Securities Purchased (263,506)  (11,005)
Net Investment Portfolio  $767,369  $735,283

a This amount is included under Cash in the Balance Sheet.
b This amount is included under Miscellaneous Assets in the Balance Sheet.

Investments were denominated primarily in United States dollars with instruments in non-dollar currencies representing 9.03 percent 
(10.8 percent—June 30, 2004) of the portfolio. 

NOTE C  CAPITAL STOCK

The MIGA Convention established MIGA’s authorized capital stock at 100,000 shares with a provision that the authorized capital stock 
shall automatically increase on the admission of a new member to the extent that the then authorized shares are insufficient to provide 
the shares to be subscribed by such member. At June 30, 2005, the initial authorized capital stock increased to 183,546 (183,496 – June 
30, 2004) shares. The Convention further states that 10 percent of the members’ initial subscription be paid in cash, in freely convertible 
currencies, except that developing member countries may pay up to a quarter of the 10 percent in their own currencies. An additional 
10 percent of the initial subscription shall be paid in the form of non-negotiable, non-interest bearing promissory notes. The notes are 
denominated in freely convertible currencies and are due on demand to meet MIGA’s obligations. The remaining 80 percent is subject 
to call when required by MIGA to meet its obligations.
 On March 29, 1999, the Council of Governors approved a General Capital Increase resolution increasing the authorized capital stock 
of MIGA by 78,559 shares to be subscribed by members during the subscription period ending March 28, 2002. Of the additional capital, 
17.65 percent is to be paid in cash, in freely usable currency. The remaining 82.35 percent is subject to call when required by MIGA to 
meet its obligations. On May 6, 2002, the Council of Governors adopted a resolution to extend the GCI subscription period to 
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March 28, 2003. On March 17, 2003, the Council of Governors approved an amendment to the GCI resolution allowing eligible countries 
to subscribe to the GCI shares allocated to them by submitting an Instrument of Contribution before the GCI deadline of March 28, 2003, 
and requesting such countries to pay for their GCI shares as soon as possible. The reserved shares will be issued and corresponding 
voting power will accrue when the subscription process has been received.
 At June 30, 2005, MIGA’s authorized capital stock comprised 183,546 shares of which 168,808 (168,081 – June 30, 2004) shares had 
been subscribed. Each share has a par value of SDR10,000, valued at the rate of $1.082 per SDR. Of the subscribed capital, $349,073,000 
($347,557,000 – June 30, 2004) has been paid in; and the remaining $1,477,430,000 ($1,470,430,000—June 30, 2004) is subject to call. 
Of the amounts paid in at June 30, 2005, $108,854,000 ($108,968,000—June 30, 2004) is in the form of nonnegotiable, non interest 
bearing demand obligations (promissory notes). A summary of MIGA’s capital stock at June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 is as follows:

  Initial Capital Capital Increase Total
  Shares ($000) Shares ($000) Shares ($000)
At June 30, 2005       
        
Authorized 104,987 $1,135,959 78,559 $850,008 183,546 $1,985,967  
Subscribed 104,987 $1,135,959 63,821 $690,543 168,808 $1,826,503

        
At June 30, 2004        
        
Authorized 104,937 $1,135,418 78,559 $850,008 183,496 $1,985,426  
Subscribed 104,937 $1,135,418 63,084 $682,569 168,021 $1,817,987

NOTE D  GUARANTEE PROGRAM AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee Program  MIGA offers guarantees or insurance against loss caused by noncommercial risks (political risk insurance) to 
eligible investors on qualified investments in developing member countries. MIGA insures investments for up to 20 years against 
four different categories of risk:  currency inconvertibility and transfer restriction, expropriation, war and civil disturbance, and 
breach of contract. Currency inconvertibility and transfer restriction coverage protects the investor against inconvertibility of local 
currency into foreign exchange for transfer outside the host country. Currency depreciation is not covered. Expropriation coverage 
protects the investor against partial or total loss of the insured investment as a result of acts by the host government that may 
reduce or eliminate ownership of, control over, or rights to the insured investment. War and civil disturbance coverage protects 
the investor against losses from damage to, or the destruction or disappearance of, tangible coverage assets caused by politically 
motivated acts of war or civil disturbance in the host country including revolution, insurrection, coup d’état, sabotage and terrorism. 
Breach of contract coverage protects the investor against the impossibility to obtain or to enforce an arbitral or judicial decision rec-
ognizing the breach of an obligation by the host government. Investors may insure projects by purchasing any combination of the 
four coverages. MIGA guarantees cannot be terminated unilaterally by the guarantee holder within the first three years from the date 
of issuance. Premium rates applicable to issued contracts are fixed for five years. Payments against all claims under a guarantee 
may not exceed the maximum amount of coverage issued under the guarantee.
 MIGA also acts as administrator of some investment guarantee trust funds. MIGA, on behalf of the trust funds, issues guar-
antees against loss caused by noncommercial risks to eligible investors on qualified investments in the countries specified in the 
trust fund agreements. Under the guarantee trust fund agreements, MIGA, as administrator of the guarantee trust funds, is not 
liable on its own account for payment of any claims under contracts of guarantees issued by MIGA, on behalf of such trust funds.
 As approved by the Board of Directors and the Council of Governors, the maximum aggregate amount of contingent liabilities 
that may be assumed by MIGA is 350 percent of the sum of MIGA’s unimpaired subscribed capital and its reserves plus such 
portion of the insurance ceded by MIGA through contracts of reinsurance as the Board of Directors may determine. Accordingly, at 
June 30, 2005, the maximum level of guarantees outstanding may not exceed $9,837,339,000.

 
Contingent Liability  The maximum amount of contingent liability of MIGA under guarantees outstanding at June 30, 2005, totaled 
$5,094,443,000 ($5,186,017,000—June 30, 2004). A contract of guarantee issued by MIGA may permit the guarantee holder to place 
amounts both in current and standby. MIGA is currently at risk for amounts placed in current. The maximum amount of contingent 
liability is MIGA’s maximum exposure to insurance claims, which includes “standby” coverage for which MIGA is committed but not 
currently at risk. At June 30, 2005, MIGA’s estimate of its actual exposure to insurance claims exclusive of standby coverage, i.e., current 
is $2,511,244,000 ($2,393,563,000—June 30, 2004). 
 In addition, MIGA has signed commitment letters for a cumulative amount of $123,170,000 at June 30, 2005 (nil – June 30, 2004). 
A commitment letter represents a reservation of guarantee capacity until the time when the prospective guarantee holder has finalized 
all the legal and financial arrangements to commit the investment. A commitment letter is not a contract and therefore MIGA is not at 
risk for the duration of the time period indicated in the commitment letter. 
Claim   In September 2004, MIGA paid its second claim, a war and civil disturbance claim, involving two contracts, resulting from an 
attack by guerillas on a project in Nepal. The claim amounted to $144,600 of which approximately 60 percent is reinsured. The net 
amount paid by MIGA was $60,900.
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 On January 10, 2005, MIGA made a determination to pay in full the expropriation claim received on January 13, 2004 for losses 
related to a project in Argentina. The total claim amounts to $1,395,778, of which $558,311 (representing forty percent) was paid on 
February 24, 2005 while the payment of the remaining $837,467 (representing 60 percent) is recorded in payable as of June 30, 2005 and 
is contingent upon the guarantee holder fulfilling certain obligations in accordance with the contract of guarantee.
 As of June 30, 2005, MIGA had one pending claim for which specific liability has not yet been determined. The claim was received 
on July 13, 2004 and concerned two contracts related to a project in the Kyrgyz Republic. The amount of loss was not specified on the 
claim. The maximum aggregate liability under the contracts amounts to $0.9 million. The waiting period is scheduled to end in July 
2005.
 In July 2002, MIGA received a notification of claim for a project in Argentina for which the guarantee holder elected cover of $5 
million. As of June 30, 2005, no claim has yet been filed by the guarantee holder. MIGA has agreed to extend the contractual period within 
which the guarantee holder has to file a claim.

NOTE E  REINSURANCE

Although MIGA obtains treaty and facultative reinsurance to augment its underwriting capacity and to protect portions of its insurance 
portfolio, it remains responsible to the insured client for the entire amount of the insurance contract. Of the $5,094,443,000 outstanding 
contingent liability (gross exposure) at June 30, 2005 ($5,186,017,000—June 30, 2004), $1,956,147,000 was ceded through contracts of 
reinsurance ($1,927,255,000—June 30, 2004). Net exposure amounted to $3,138,296,000 as at June 30, 2005 ($3,258,762,000—June 30, 
2004). 
 MIGA can also provide both public (official) and private insurers with reinsurance. As of June 30, 2005, total insurance assumed 
by MIGA, primarily with official investment insurers, amounted to $38,828,000 ($121,838,000—June 30, 2004).
Premiums relating to direct, assumed, and ceded contracts for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 were as follows:

In thousands of US dollars 
      2005 2004
Premiums Written
 Direct     $57,812 $55,564
 Assumed     672 854 
 Ceded     (24,214) (22,665)
 
Premiums Earned 
 Direct     56,508 56,724
 Assumed     632 1,223
 Ceded     (23,864) (23,225)
 

NOTE F   RESERVE FOR CLAIMS

Starting with the quarter ending September 30, 2004, MIGA adopted a new provisioning methodology. This new methodology builds 
on portfolio risk quantification models which use both individually assessed loss probabilities for projects at risk and rating-based loss 
probabilities that are applied to the entire guarantee portfolio. On the basis of the new methodology, MIGA’s gross reserve for claims at 
June 30, 2005 amounted to $179,800,000 and estimated reinsurance recoverables amounted to $24,300,000. Accordingly, a cumulative 
release of provision for claims of $106,849,000 was recorded for the fiscal year. 
 Changes to the gross reserve for claims for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 appear as follows: 

In thousands of US dollars 
      2005 2004
Balance, Beginning of the Fiscal Year   $407,900 $519,600
Release of Provision for Claims—Net   (106,849) (62,440)
Estimated Reinsurance Recoverables   (120,400) (50,000)
Claims Paid—Net     (1,457) -
Translation Adjustment   606 740
Balance, End of the Fiscal Year   $179,800 $407,900
 

At June 30, 2005, the specific reserve amounted to $59,800,000 ($45,400,000—June 30, 2004). This includes reserves for notified claims 
and reserves for contracts where a claimable event has been reported but no claim has been filed.
 Reinsurance recoverables have been estimated based on the reinsured portion of the contracts in the specific reserve and insurance 
liability.
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NOTE G   STAFF RETIREMENT PLAN (SRP) AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

MIGA, IBRD and IFC participate in a defined benefit SRP, a Retired Staff Benefits Plan (RSBP) and a Post-Employment Benefits Plan 
(PEBP) that cover substantially all of their staff members.
 The SRP provides regular pension benefits and includes a cash balance plan. The RSBP provides certain health and life insurance 
benefits to eligible retirees. The PEBP provides pension benefits administered outside the SRP. 
 MIGA uses June 30, measurement date for its pension and other post retirement benefit plans. 
The amounts presented below reflect MIGA’s respective share of the costs, assets, and liabilities of the plans.
 All costs, assets and liabilities associated with these plans are allocated between MIGA, IBRD and, IFC based upon their employees’ 
respective participation in the plans. In addition, MIGA and IFC reimburse IBRD for their proportionate share of any contributions made 
to these plans by IBRD. Contributions to these plans are calculated as a percentage of salary.
 The following table summarizes the benefit costs associated with the SRP, RSBP, and PEBP for MIGA for the fiscal years ended June 
30, 2005 and June 30, 2004:

In thousands of US dollars
  SRP   RSBP      PEBP 
 2005  2004 2005  2004 2005  2004
Benefit Cost       
Service Cost 3,073  2,927 440  393 158  128
Interest Cost 6,381  5,652 424  334 119  89
Expected Return on Plan Assets (9,204)  (8,193) (512)  (395) 
Amortization of Prior Service Cost Service Cost 176  184 (10)  (10) 5  1
Amortization of Unrecognized Net Loss (gain)    236 94  94 (18)  (20)
Amortization of Transition Asset         1
Net Periodic Pension Cost (income) 426  806 436  416 264  199

The expenses for the SRP, RSBP and PEBP are included in Administrative Expenses. The following table summarizes the projected benefit 
obligations, fair value of plan assets, and funded status associated with the SRP, RSBP and PEBP for MIGA for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2005 and June 30, 2004.

In thousands of US dollars
  SRP   RSBP      PEBP 
 2005  2004 2005  2004 2005  2004
Projected Benefit Obligation
Beginning of Year 83,255  74,980 1,535  617 904  662
Service Cost 3,073  2,927 440  393 158  128
Interest Cost 6,381  5,652 424  334 119  89
Employee Contributions 813  820 116  112 8  19
Amendments      
Benefits Paid (4,038)  (3,797) (445)  (370) (137)  (74)
Actuarial Loss (gain) 8,600  2,673 3,517  448 610  79
End of Year 98,084  83,255 5,587  1,534 1,662  903

Fair Value of Plan Assets       
Beginning of Year 95,956  78,246 2,160  642
Employee Contributions 813  820 116  112  
Actual Return on Assets 5,249  19,077 1,129  1,311  
Employer Contributions 2,718  1,610 474  465  
Benefits Paid (4,038)  (3,797) (445)  (370)  
End of Year 100,698  95,956 3,434  2,160  

Funded Status       
Plan Assets in Excess of (less than) Projected 2,615  12,701 (2,152)  625 (1,663)  (904)
 Benefit Obligation 
Unrecognized Net Loss (gain) from Past Experience 15,129  2,574 1,756  (1,049) 560  (68)
    Different from that Assumed and 
    from Changes in Assumptions 
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost 656  832 147  137 41  46
Prepaid (accrued) Pension Cost 18,400  16,107 (249)  (287) (1,062)  (926)
   

The prepaid SRP and RSBP costs are included in Prepaid Pension Cost on the balance sheet.
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Assumptions  
The actuarial assumptions used are based on financial market interest rates, past experience, and management’s best estimate of 
future benefit changes and economic conditions. Changes in these assumptions will impact future benefit costs and obligations.
The expected long-term rate of return for the SRP assets is a weighted average of the expected long-term (10 years or more) returns 
for the various asset classes, weighted by the portfolio allocation. Asset class returns are developed using a forward-looking building 
block approach and are not strictly based on historical returns. Equity returns are generally developed as the sum of expected inflation, 
expected real earnings growth and expected long-term dividend yield. Bond returns are generally developed as the sum of expected 
inflation, real bond yield, and risk premium/ spread (as appropriate). Other asset class returns are derived from their relationship to 
equity and bond markets. The expected long-term rate of return for the RSBP is computed using procedures similar to those used for the 
SRP. The discount rate used in determining the benefit obligation is selected by reference to the year-end AAA and AA corporate bonds. 
Actuarial gains and losses occur when actual results are different from expected results. Amortization of these unrecognized gains and 
losses will be included in income if, at the beginning of the fiscal year, they exceed 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obli-
gation or the market-related value of plan assets. If required, the unrecognized gains and losses are amortized over the expected average 
remaining service lives of the employee group. The following tables present the weighted-average assumptions used in determining the 
projected benefit obligations and the net periodic pension costs for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004:

Weighted average assumptions used to determine projected benefit obligation:

In percent
  SRP   RSBP   PEBP
 2005  2004 2005  2004 2005  2004

Discount Rate 5.25  6.25 5.25  6.25 5.25  6.25
Rate of Compensation Increase 5.90  6.40      
Health Care Growth Rates—at End of Fiscal Year    6.80  7.30   
Ultimate Health Care Growth Rate    4.25  4.75   
Year in Which Ultimate Rate Is Reached    2012  2012   

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost:

In percent
  SRP   RSBP   PEBP
 2005  2004 2005  2004 2005  2004

Discount Rate 6.25  5.75 6.25  5.75 6.25  5.75
Expected Return on Plan Assets 7.75  7.75 8.25  7.75   
Rate of Compensation Increase 6.40  5.40      
Health Care Growth Rates—at End of Fiscal Year    7.30  6.10   
—to Year 2011 and Thereafter    4.75  3.75   

The medical cost trend rate can significantly affect the reported postretirement benefit income or costs and benefit obligations for 
the RSBP. The following table shows the effects of a one-percentage-point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate:  

In thousands of US dollars
 One percentage point One percentage point
 increase decrease

Effect on Total Service and Interest Cost  $ 23,000 $(19,000)
Effect on Postretirement Benefit Obligation  279,000 (222,000)

Investment Strategy
The investment policy for the SRP and the RSBP is to optimize the risk-return relationship as appropriate to the respective plan’s needs 
and goals, using a global diversified portfolio of various asset classes. Specifically, the long-term asset allocation is based on an analysis 
that incorporates expected returns by asset class as well as volatilities and correlations across asset classes and the liability profile of 
the respective plans. This analysis, referred to as an asset-liability analysis, also provides estimates of potential future contributions 
and future asset and liability balances. Plan assets are managed by external investment managers and monitored by IBRD’s pension 
investment department. The pension plan assets are invested in diversified portfolios of public equity, fixed income, and alternative 
investments. The fixed-income and public equity asset classes are rebalanced on a monthly basis.
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The following table presents the weighted-average asset allocation at June 30, and the respective target allocation by asset category 
for the SRP and RSRP:

In percent
  SRP   RSBP
   % of  Target % of
 Allocation  Plan  Assets  Allocation Plan  Assets 
 2005 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004
Asset Class       
Fixed Income 40% 40.5% 40% 30% 30.7% 30%
Public Equity 35 39.7 42 30 37.6 43
Alternative Investments 25 19.8 18 40 31.7 27
Total 100% 100.0% 100% 100% 100.0% 100%

Alternative Investments include:        
Private Equity up to 12 7.1 7.0 up to  28 11.2 11.0
Real Estate up to   8 4.0 4.0 up to  18 3.7 3.5
Hedge Funds up to 12 8.7 7.0 up to  23 16.8 12.5
       

Estimated Future Benefits Payments
The following table shows the benefit payments expected to be paid in each of the next five years and subsequent five years. The 
expected benefit payments are based on the same assumptions used to measure the benefit obligation at June 30, 2005. 

In thousands of U.S. dollars
 SRP RSBP PEBP
July 1, 2005—June 30, 2006 3,381 120 72
July 1, 2006—June 30, 2007 3,718 135 80
July 1, 2007—June 30, 2008 4,064 153 87
July 1, 2008—June 30, 2009 4,425 171 99
July 1, 2009—June 30, 2010 4.737 190 106
July 1, 2010—June 30, 2015 28,443 1,244 613
    

Expected Contributions
MIGA’s contribution to the SRP and RSBP varies from year to year, as determined by the Pension Finance Committee, which bases its 
judgment on the results of annual actuarial valuations of the assets and liabilities of the SRP and RSBP. The best estimate of the amount 
of contributions expected to be paid to the SRP and RSBP for MIGA during the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2005 is $2,755,000 and 
$730,000.
           
                                                                                                                                                                       
NOTE H  SERVICE AND SUPPORT FEE

MIGA contributes its share of the World Bank Group’s corporate costs which include the Council of Governors and the Board of Directors, 
the President’s office, the Corporate Secretariat, the Internal Auditing Department, the Department of Institutional Integrity, and the 
Conflict Resolution Services. In addition, MIGA obtains certain administrative and support services from IBRD in those areas where 
services can be most efficiently provided by IBRD. These include human resources, information systems, and administrative services as 
well as investment management and treasury operations. Payments for these services are made by MIGA to IBRD based on negotiated 
fees, charge backs and allocated charges where charge back is not feasible. Total fees paid by MIGA to IBRD for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2005, were $5,185,000 ($3,478,296—June 30, 2004).

NOTE I   ESTIMATED FAIR VALUES

The estimated fair values of MIGA’s cash and non-negotiable, non interest-bearing demand obligations approximate their carrying 
values. The estimated fair value of MIGA’s investments shown in Note B is based on market quotations. The estimated fair values 
are only indicative of individual financial instruments’ values and should not be considered an indication of MIGA’s fair value.
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Governors and Alternates
As of June 30, 2005

Member Governor Alternate

Afghanistan Anwar ul-Haq Ahady Wahidullah Shahrani
Albania Ardian Fullani Fatos Ibrahimi
Algeria Mourad Medelci Abdelhak Bedjaoui
Angola Ana Dias Lourenco Job Graca
Argentina Roberto Lavagna Martin Redrado
Armenia Vahram Nercissiantz Karen Chshmarityan
Australia Peter Costello Bruce Billson
Austria Karl-Heinz Grasser Kurt Bayer
Azerbaijan Elman S. Rustamov Farhad Aliyev
Bahamas, The James H. Smith Ruth R. Millar
Bahrain Ahmed Bin Mohammed Al-Khalifa Zakaria Ahmed Hejres
Bangladesh M. Saifur Rahman Syed Golam Kibria
Barbados Owen S. Arthur Grantley W. Smith
Belarus Andrei V. Kobyakov Anatoly I. Sverzh
Belgium Didier Reynders Gregoire Brouhns
Belize Said W. Musa Carla Barnett
Benin Zul-Kifl Salami Massiyatou Latoundji Lauriano
Bolivia Luis Carlos Jemio Mollinedo Rodrigo Castro Otto
Bosnia and Herzegovina Adnan Terzic Dragan Doko
Botswana Baledzi Gaolathe Wilfred Jiwa Mandlebe
Brazil Antonio Palocci Henrique de Campos Meirelles
Bulgaria Milen Veltchev Dimitar Kostov
Burkina Faso Hamade Ouedraogo Lene Sebgo
Burundi Athanase Gahungu Leon Nimbona
Cambodia Keat Chhon Aun Porn Moniroth
Cameroon Polycarpe Abah Abah Daniel Njankouo Lamere
Canada Ralph Goodale Paul Thibault
Cape Verde Joao Pinto Serra Victor A.G. Fidalgo
Central African Republic Daniel Nditifei-Boysembe Mohamed Mahdi Marboua
Chad Mahamat Ali Hassan Sobdibet Hinsalbet
Chile Nicolas Eyzaguirre Mario Marcel
China Jin Renqing Li Yong
Colombia Alberto Carrasquilla Santiago Montenegro Trujillo
Congo, Democratic Republic of Andre-Philippe Futa Jean-Claude Masangu Mulongo
Congo, Republic of Pierre Moussa Pacifique Issoibeka
Costa Rica Federico Carrillo Zurcher Francisco de Paula Gutierrez
Côte d’Ivoire Bohoun Bouabre Boniface Britto
Croatia Branko Vukelic Martina Dalic
Cyprus Makis Keravnos Christos Patsalides
Czech Republic Bohuslav Sobotka Miroslav Singer
Denmark Ulla Toernaes Carsten Staur
Dominica Swinburne Lestrade Rosamund Edwards
Dominican Republic Hector Manuel Valdez Albizu Juan Temistocles Montas
Ecuador Rafael Correa Delgado Magdalena Barreiro Riofrio
Egypt, Arab Republic of Mahmoud Mohieldin Fayza Abulnaga
El Salvador Eduardo Zablah-Touche Guillermo Lopez-Suarez
Equatorial Guinea Jaime Ela Ndong Jose Ela Oyana
Eritrea Berhane Abrehe Martha Woldegiorghis
Estonia Aivar Soerd Renaldo Mandmets
Ethiopia Sufian Ahmed Abi Woldemeskel
Fiji Jone Yavala Kubuabola Tevita Banuve
Finland Antti Kalliomaki Peter Nyberg
France Thierry Breton Xavier Musca
Gabon Casimir Oye-Mba Christian Bongo
Gambia, The Alieu M. Ngum Abdou B. Touray
Georgia Valeri Chechelashvili Aleksi Aleksishvili
Germany Heidemarie Wieczorek-Zeul Caio K. Koch-Weser
Ghana Kwadwo Baah-Wiredu Anthony Akoto Osei
Greece George Alogoskoufis Plutarchos Sakellaris
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Governors and Alternates (cont ’d)
As of June 30, 2005

Member Governor Alternate

Grenada Anthony Boatswain Timothy Antoine
Guatemala Marcio Rolando Cuevas Quezada Maria Antonieta de Bonilla
Guinea Madikaba Camara Eugene Camara
Guyana Bharrat Jagdeo Saisnarine Kowlessar
Haiti Henri Bazin Raymond Magloire
Honduras William Chong Wong Maria Elena Mondragon de Villar
Hungary Tamas Katona Zsuzsanna Varga
Iceland David Oddsson Geir Hilmar Haarde
India P. Chidambaram Rakesh Mohan
Indonesia Jusuf Anwar Burhanuddin Abdullah
Iran, Islamic Republic of Safdar Hosseini Mohammad Khazaee Torshizi
Ireland Brian Cowen Tom Considine
Israel Stanley Fischer Yaron Zelekha
Italy Antonio Fazio Ignazio Angeloni
Jamaica Omar Lloyd Davies Wesley George Hughes
Japan Sadakazu Tanigaki Mitoji Yabunaka
Jordan Suhair Al-Ali Maher Madadha
Kazakhstan Kayrat Nematovich Kelimbetov Gani N. Uzbekov
Kenya Daudi Mwiraria Joseph Kanja Kinyua
Korea, Republic of Duck-Soo Han Seung Park
Kuwait Bader Meshari Al-Humaidhi Bader Mohamed Al-Saad
Kyrgyz Republic Akylbek Japarov Kubat A. Kanimetov
Lao People’s Democratic Republic Chansy Phosikham Phouphet Khamphounvong
Latvia Oskars Spurdzins Juris Lujans
Lebanon Dimyanos Kattar Fadi Makki
Lesotho Timothy T. Thahane Moeketsi Majoro
Libya Mohamed Ali Elhuwej Ali Ramadan Shnebesh
Lithuania Zigmantas Balcytis Ramune Vilija Zabuliene
Luxembourg Luc Frieden Jean Guill
Macedonia, former Yugoslav Republic of Nikola Popovski Maksud Ali
Madagascar Haja Nirina Razafinjatovo Henri Bernard Razakariasa
Malawi Goodall E. Gondwe David Faiti
Malaysia Abdullah Ahmad Badawi Izzuddin bin Dali
Maldives (vacant) (vacant)
Mali Abou-Bakar Traore Mahamadou Zibo Maiga
Malta Tonio Fenech Paul Zahra
Mauritania Sidi Ould Didi Mohamed Ould El Abed
Mauritius Pravind Kumar Jugnauth Krishnanand Guptar
Micronesia, Federated States of Nick L. Andon Lorin Robert
Moldova Marian Lupu Dumitru Ursu
Mongolia Norov Altankhuyag Ochirbat Chuluunbat
Morocco Fathallah Oualalou Rachid Talbi Alami
Mozambique Aiuba Cuereneia (vacant)
Namibia Andrew Ndishishi S.E. Ndjaba
Nepal Madhukar S.J.B. Rana Bhanu Prasad Acharya
Netherlands Gerrit Zalm Agnes van Ardenne
Nicaragua Mario Arana Sevilla Mario Alonso Icabalceta
Nigeria Ngozi N. Okonjo-Iweala Olusegun O.O. Ogunkua
Norway Hilde Frafjord Johnson Leiv Lunde
Oman Ahmed Bin Abdulnabi Macki Mohammed bin Nasser Al-Khasibi
Pakistan Nawid Ahsan Asif Bajwa
Palau Casmir E. Remengesau Lawrence Alan Goddard
Panama Ricaurte Vasquez M. Rolando Mirones
Papua New Guinea Bart Philemon Simon Tosali
Paraguay Ernest F. Bergen S. Jorge von Horoch
Peru Pedro Pablo Kuczynski Luis Ju Carranza Ugarte
Philippines Cesar V. Purisima Manuel A. Roxas II
Poland Jacek Tomorowicz Agnieszka B. Rudniak-Jancewicz
Portugal Luis Campos e Cunha Maria dos Anjos Nunes Capote
Qatar Yousef Hussain Kamal Abdullah Bin Khalid Al-Attiyah
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Governors and Alternates (cont ’d)
As of June 30, 2005

Member Governor Alternate

Romania Ionel Popescu Cristian Popa
Russian Federation Aleksei Kudrin German O. Gref
Rwanda Donald Kaberuka Francois Kanimba
St. Kitts and Nevis Denzil Douglas Wendell E. Lawrence
St. Lucia Kenny D. Anthony Len Ishmael
St. Vincent and the Grenadines Ralph E. Gonsalves Christian Martin
Samoa Misa Telefoni Retzlaff Hinauri Petana
Saudi Arabia Ibrahim A. Al-Assaf Hamad Al-Sayari
Senegal Abdoulaye Diop Hadjibou Soumare
Serbia and Montenegro Igor Luksic Mladjan Dinkic
Seychelles Patrick Pillay Francis Chang Leng
Sierra Leone Joseph Bandabla Dauda Samura Kamara
Singapore Raymond Lim Peter Ong
Slovak Republic Ivan Miklos Elena Kohutikova
Slovenia Andrej Bajuk Andrej Kavcic
South Africa Trevor Andrew Manuel Elias Lesetja Kganyago
Spain Pedro Solbes M. David Vegara Figueras
Sri Lanka Sarath Leelananda Bandara Amunugama P. B. Jayasundera
Sudan El Zubair Ahmed El Hassan Hassan Ahamed Taha
Suriname Humphrey S. Hildenberg Stanley B. Ramsaran
Swaziland Meshack M.L. Shongwe Ephraim Mandla Hlophe
Sweden Par Nuder Carin Jamtin
Switzerland Oscar Knapp Walter Hofer
Syrian Arab Republic Amer Hosni Lotfi (vacant)
Tajikistan Negmatdzhon K. Buriyev Maruf N. Saifiyev
Tanzania Abdallah Omar Kigoda Gray S. Mgonja
Thailand Somkid Jatusripitak Suparut Kawatkul
Timor-Leste Maria Madalena Brites Boavida Aicha Bassarewan
Togo Yandja Yentchabre Baliki Mewunesso Pini
Trinidad and Tobago Conrad Enill Alison Lewis
Tunisia Mohamed Nouri Jouini Abdelhamid Triki
Turkey Ibrahim H. Canakci Memduh Aslan Akcay
Turkmenistan Jumaniyaz Annaorazov (vacant)
Uganda Ezra Suruma C. M. Kassami
Ukraine Oleg Rybachuk Serhiy Teryokhin
United Arab Emirates Mohammed Khalfan Bin Khirbash Jamal Nasser Lootah
United Kingdom Hilary Benn Gordon Brown
United States John W. Snow (vacant)
Uruguay Danilo Astori Carlos Viera
Uzbekistan Sunatulla A. Umarov Bakhrom B. Ashrafkhanov
Vanuatu Moana Kalosil Carcasses Simeon Athy
Venezuela, Republica Bolivariana de Ramon Rosales Jorge Giordani
Vietnam Le Duc Thuy Phung Khac Ke
Yemen, Republic of Ahmed Mohammed Sofan Mohammed Al-Sabbry
Zambia N’gandu Peter Magande Situmbeko Musokotwane
Zimbabwe Herbert M. Murerwa Willard L. Manungo
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Directors and Alternates:  Vot ing Power
As of June 30, 2005

     

Director Alternate Casting votes of Total
Votes

% of  
Total

Elected by the votes of the six largest shareholders

(vacant) Robert B. Holland, III United States 32,170 14.97

Yoshio Okubo Kenichi Tomiyoshi Japan 9,260 4.31

Eckhard Deutscher Walter Hermann Germany 9,217 4.29

Tom Scholar Caroline Sergeant United Kingdom 8,846 4.12

Pierre Duquesne Anthony Requin France 8,484 3.95

Zou Jiayi Yang Jinlin China 5,811 2.70

Elected by the votes of other shareholders

Mathias Sinamenye
(Burundi)

Mulu Ketsela
(Ethiopia)

Angola, Botswana, Burundi, Eritrea, Ethiopia, The 
Gambia, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, 
Namibia, Nigeria, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, South 
Africa, Sudan, Swaziland, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, 
Zimbabwe

11,849 5.52

Gino Alzetta
(Belgium)

Melih Nemli
(Turkey)

Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Czech Republic, Hungary, 
Kazakhstan, Luxembourg, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, 
Turkey

11,721 5.46

Ad Melkert
(Netherlands)

Tamara Solyanyk
(Ukraine)

Armenia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, 
Cyprus, Georgia, Israel, Macedonia (former Yugoslav 
Republic of), Moldova, Netherlands, Romania, Ukraine

11,645 5.42

Marcel Masse
(Canada)

Gobind Ganga
(Guyana)

The Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Canada, Dominica, 
Grenada, Guyana, Ireland, Jamaica, St. Kitts and Nevis, 
St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines

10,222 4.76

Thorsteinn Ingolfsson
(Iceland)

Svein Aass
(Norway)

Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania, 
Norway, Sweden

8,214 3.82

Paulo F. Gomes
(Guinea-Bissau)

Louis Philippe Ong 
Seng
(Mauritius)

Benin, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Cape Verde, Central 
African Republic, Chad, Congo (Democratic Republic 
of ), Congo (Republic of ), Côte d’Ivoire, Equatorial 
Guinea, Gabon, Guinea, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritania, 
Mauritius, Rwanda, Senegal, Togo

8,164 3.80

Biagio Bossone
(Italy)

Nuno Mota Pinto
(Portugal)

Albania, Greece, Italy, Malta, Portugal, Timor-Leste 8,106 3.77

Mahdy Ismail Aljazzaf
(Kuwait)

Mohamed Kamel Amr
(Arab Republic of 
Egypt)

Bahrain, Egypt (Arab Republic of ), Jordan, Kuwait, 
Lebanon, Libya, Oman, Qatar, Syrian Arab Republic, 
United Arab Emirates, Yemen (Republic of)

7,875 3.67

Otaviano Canuto
(Brazil)

Jeremias N. Paul, Jr.
(Philippines)

Brazil, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Haiti, 
Panama, Philippines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago

7,603 3.54

Sid Ahmed Dib
(Algeria)

Shuja Shah
(Pakistan)

Afganistan, Algeria, Ghana, Iran (Islamic Republic of), 
Morocco, Pakistan, Tunisia

7,371 3.43

John Austin 
(New Zealand)

Terry O’Brien
(Australia)

Australia, Cambodia, Korea (Republic of), Micronesia 
(Federated States of ), Mongolia, Palau, Papua New 
Guinea, Samoa, Vanuatu

6,857 3.19

Herwidayatmo
(Indonesia)

Nursiah Arshad
(Malaysia)

Fiji, Indonesia, Lao People’s Democratic Republic, 
Malaysia, Nepal, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam

6,772 3.15

Pietro Veglio
(Switzerland)

Jakub Karnowski
(Poland)

Azerbaijan, Kyrgyz Republic, Poland, Serbia and 
Montenegro, Switzerland, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, 
Uzbekistan

6,569 3.06

Luis Marti
(Spain)

Jorge Familiar
(Mexico)

Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, 
Nicaragua, Spain, Venezuela (Republica Bolivariana 
de)

6,485 3.02
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Directors and Alternates:  Vot ing Power (cont ’d)
As of June 30, 2005

     

Director Alternate Casting votes of Total
Votes

% of  
Total

Yahya Abdullah M. Alyahya
(Saudi Arabia)

Abdulrahman M. 
Almofadhi
(Saudi Arabia)

Saudi Arabia 5,809 2.70

Alexey G. Kvasov
(Russian Federation)

Eugene Miagkov
(Russian Federation)

Russian Federation 5,809 2.70

Jaime Quijandria
(Peru)

Alieto Guadagni
(Argentina)

Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay 5,015 2.33

Chander Mohan Vasudev
(India)

Akbar Ali Khan 
(Bangladesh)

Bangladesh, India, Sri Lanka 4,968 2.31

In addition to the directors and alternates shown in the foregoing list, the following also served after November 1, 2004:

Director End of period of service Alternate director End of period of service

Rapee Asumpinpong
(Thailand)

November 14, 2004 Tanwir Ali Agha
(Pakistan)

June 14, 2005

Carole Brookins
(United States)

January 14, 2005 Gil Beltran
(Philippines)

January 14, 2005

Zhu Guangyao
(China)

February 15, 2005 Hadiyanto
(Indonesia)

February 2, 2005

Masakazu Ichikawa
(Japan)

March 31, 2005 

J. Mills Jones
(Liberia)

February 14, 2005

Wu Jinkang
(China)

February 14, 2005

Note: Maldives (331 votes) became a member after the 2004 Regular Election of Directors.  
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Afghanistan
Albania
Algeria
Angola
Antigua and Barbuda*
Argentina
Armenia
Australia
Austria
Azerbaijan
Bahamas, The
Bahrain
Bangladesh
Barbados
Belarus
Belgium
Belize
Benin
Bolivia
Bosnia and Herzegovina
Botswana
Brazil
Bulgaria
Burkina Faso
Burundi
Cambodia
Cameroon
Canada
Cape Verde
Central African Republic
Chad
Chile
China
Colombia
Congo, Democratic Republic of
Congo, Republic of
Costa Rica
Côte d’Ivoire
Croatia
Cyprus
Czech Republic
Denmark
Dominica
Dominican Republic
Ecuador
Egypt, Arab Republic of
El Salvador
Equatorial Guinea
Eritrea
Estonia
Ethiopia
Fiji
Finland
France
Gabon
Gambia, The
Georgia

Germany
Ghana
Greece
Grenada
Guatemala
Guinea
Guinea-Bissau*
Guyana
Haiti
Honduras
Hungary
Iceland
India
Indonesia
Iran, Islamic Republic of
Ireland
Israel
Italy
Jamaica
Japan
Jordan
Kazakhstan
Kenya
Korea, Republic of
Kuwait
Kyrgyz Republic
Lao People’s Democratic Republic
Latvia
Lebanon
Lesotho
Liberia**
Libya
Lithuania
Luxembourg
Macedonia, FYR of
Madagascar
Malawi
Malaysia
Maldives
Mali
Malta
Mauritania
Mauritius
Micronesia, Fed. States of
Moldova
Mongolia
Morocco
Mozambique
Namibia
Nepal
Netherlands, The
Nicaragua
Niger*
Nigeria
Norway
Oman
Pakistan

Palau
Panama
Papua New Guinea
Paraguay
Peru
Philippines
Poland
Portugal
Qatar
Romania
Russian Federation
Rwanda
St. Kitts & Nevis
St. Lucia
St. Vincent and the Grenadines
Samoa
Saudi Arabia
Senegal
Serbia and Montenegro 
Seychelles 
Sierra Leone
Singapore 
Slovak Republic
Slovenia
Solomon Islands**
South Africa  
Spain
Sri Lanka
Sudan
Suriname
Swaziland
Sweden
Switzerland
Syrian Arab Republic
Tajikistan
Tanzania
Thailand
Timor-Leste
Togo
Trinidad and Tobago
Tunisia
Turkey
Turkmenistan
Uganda
Ukraine
United Arab Emirates
United Kingdom
United States
Uruguay
Uzbekistan
Vanuatu
Venezuela, R.B. de
Vietnam
Yemen, Republic of
Zambia
Zimbabwe

Signator ies to MIGA Convent ion
As of June 30, 2005

*     Non-member country
**   Country that has deposited its Instrument of Ratification but not yet completed membership requirements
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Category One Shares Subscribed Amount $

Australia 1,306 14,130,920
Austria 591 6,394,620
Belgium 1,547 16,738,540
Canada 2,260 24,453,200
Denmark 547 5,918,540
Finland 457 4,944,740
France 3,343 36,171,260
Germany 3,865 41,819,300
Greece 213 2,304,660
Ireland 281 3,040,420
Italy 2,150 23,263,000
Japan 3,884 42,024,880
Luxembourg 88 952,160
Netherlands 1,653 17,885,460
Norway 533 5,767,060
Portugal 291 3,148,620
Spain 980 10,603,600
Sweden 800 8,656,000
Switzerland 1,143 12,367,260
United Kingdom 3,705 40,088,100
United States 11,370 123,023,400
Subtotal 41,007 443,695,740

Subscr ipt ions to the General  Capita l  Increase
As of June 30, 2005

Category Two Shares Subscribed Amount $

Albania 44 476,080
Algeria 495 5,355,900
Bahamas, The 76 822,320
Bahrain 59 638,380
Bangladesh 259 2,802,380
Barbados 52 562,640
Belize 38 411,160
Benin 47 508,540
Bolivia 95 1,027,900
Botswana 38 411,160
Brazil 1,127 12,194,140
Bulgaria 278 3,007,960
Cambodia 71 768,220
Chile 370 4,003,400
China 2,392 25,881,440
Colombia 333 3,603,060
Congo, Democratic Republic of 258 2,791,560
Congo, Republic of 50 541,000
Costa Rica 89 962,980
Côte d’Ivoire 134 1,449,880
Croatia 143 1,547,260
Cyprus 79 854,780
Czech Republic 339 3,667,980
Ecuador 139 1,503,980
Egypt, Arab Republic of 350 3,787,000
Estonia 50 541,000
Ethiopia 53 573,460
Gabon 73 789,860
Ghana 187 2,023,340
Honduras 77 833,140
Hungary 430 4,652,600
Indonesia 800 8,656,000
Israel 361 3,906,020
Jordan 74 800,680
Kazakhstan 159 1,720,380
Kenya 131 1,417,420
Korea, Republic of 342 3,700,440
Kuwait 709 7,671,380
Latvia 74 800,680
Lebanon 108 1,168,560
Lesotho 38 411,160
Lithuania 81 876,420
Macedonia, FYR of 38 411,160
Madagascar 76 822,320
Malaysia 441 4,771,620
Mali 62 670,840
Malta 57 616,740
Mauritania 48 519,360
Mauritius 66 714,120
Morocco 265 2,867,300
Mozambique 74 800,680
Nepal 53 573,460
Nicaragua 78 843,960
Nigeria 643 6,957,260
Oman 72 779,040
Pakistan 503 5,442,460
Panama 100 1,082,000
Paraguay 61 660,020
Peru 284 3,072,880
Qatar 104 1,125,280
Romania 423 4,576,860
Russian Federation 2,391 25,870,620
Rwanda 57 616,740
St. Lucia 38 411,160
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 38 411,160
Saudi Arabia 2,391 25,870,620
Senegal 111 1,201,020
Serbia and Montenegro 176 1,904,320
Sierra Leone 57 616,740
Singapore 118 1,276,760
Slovak Republic 169 1,828,580
Slovenia 78 843,960
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Category Two Shares Subscribed Amount $

South Africa 719 7,779,580
Sri Lanka 207 2,239,740
Syrian Arab Republic 128 1,384,960
Tanzania 107 1,157,740
Thailand 321 3,473,220
Trinidad and Tobago 155 1,677,100
Tunisia 119 1,287,580
Turkey 352 3,808,640
Uganda 101 1,092,820
Ukraine 263 2,845,660
Vietnam 168 1,817,760
Subtotal 22,814 246,847,480

Total 63,821 690,543,220

Summary Shares Subscribed Amount US$

% of Total GCI 81.24% 

Completed—Part1    26,294   284,501,080  
Completed—Part2   22,551   244,001,820   

Completed    48,845   528,502,900  

Partial—Part 1    14,713   159,194,660   
Partial—Part 2   263   2,845,660 

Partial    14,976   162,040,320   

Total—Part 1    41,007   443,695,740   
Total—Part 2    22,814   246,847,480  
 
Total    63,821  690,543,220

Subscr ipt ions to the General  Capita l  Increase (cont ’d)
As of June 30, 2005
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MIGA Member Countr ies (165)

Industrialized Countries (23) 

Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, 
Ireland, Italy Japan, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, 
Switzerland, United Kingdom, United States

Developing Countries (142) 

ASIA AND THE PACIFIC
Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Cambodia, China, East Timor, Fiji, India, Indonesia, Korea, 
Republic of, Lao People’s Democratic Rep., Malaysia, Maldives, Micronesia, Federated 
States of, Mongolia, Nepal, Pakistan, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Samoa, 
Singapore, Sri Lanka, Thailand, Vanuatu, Vietnam 

EUROPE AND CENTRAL ASIA
Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bosnia-Herzegovina , Bulgaria, Croatia , Cyprus, 
Czech Republic, Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Latvia, 
Lithuania, Macedonia, FYR of, Moldova, Poland, Romania, Russian Federation, Serbia 
and Montenegro, Slovak Republic, Tajikistan, Turkey, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, Uzbekistan 

LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN
Argentina, Bahamas, The, Barbados, Belize, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, 
Dominica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Grenada, Guatemala, Guyana, 
Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, St. Kitts and Nevis, 
St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, Uruguay, 
Venezuela, R. B. de

MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA
Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Arab Republic of, Iran, Islamic Republic of, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, 
Lebanon, Libya, Malta, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syrian Arab Republic, 
Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, Yemen, Republic of  

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA
Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burundi, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Cape Verde, Central African 
Republic, Chad, Congo, Democratic Republic of, Congo, Republic of, Côte d’Ivoire, 
Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gabon, Gambia, The, Ghana, Guinea, Kenya, 
Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, 
Nigeria, Rwanda, Senegal, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, South Africa, Sudan, Swaziland, 
Tanzania, Togo, Uganda, Zambia, Zimbabwe  

Countries in the Process of Fulfilling Membership Requirements (5) 

ASIA AND THE PACIFIC
Solomon Islands

LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN
Antigua and Barbuda

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA
Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Niger
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Facultat ive Reinsurance Obtained by MIGA

Investment Insurer Country 
 
ACE Global Markets, Lloyd’s Syndicate 2488 UK
Alleghany Consortium, Lloyd’s Syndicate 376 UK
C.N.R. Atkin Esq., and Others, Lloyd’s Syndicate 1183 UK
Compagnie Française d’Assurance pour le Commerce Extérieur (COFACE) France
Cox Insurance Holdings PLC., Lloyd’s Syndicate 2591 UK
Export Credits Guarantee Department (ECGD) UK
Export Development Corporation (EDC) Canada
Finnvera Plc Finland
Garanti-Institutte for Eksportkreditt (GIEK) Norway
Global Re, BV, captive insurer of Philips Electronics N.V. Netherlands
Great Northern Insurance Company (Chubb & Son) USA
Israel Foreign Trade Risks Insurance Corporation (IFTRIC) Israel
Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Germany
National Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh (AIG) USA
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. (FMO) Netherlands
Oesterreichische Kontrollbank A.G. (OeKB) Austria
S.J. Catlin, Esq., and Others, Lloyd’s Syndicates 1003 and 2003 UK
Sovereign Risk Insurance Ltd. Bermuda
Steadfast Insurance Company (Zurich) USA
The Goshawk War and Political Risks Consortium, Lloyd’s Syndicate 9132 UK
XL London Market Ltd., Lloyd’s Syndicate 1209 UK
Export Finance and Insurance Corporation (EFIC) Australia
Servizi Assicurativi del Commercio Estero (SACE) Italy

Facultat ive Reinsurance Provided by MIGA 

Investment Insurer Country 

Compañía Española de Seguros de Crédito a la Exportación CESCE) Spain
Export Development Corporation (EDC)     Canada
Export Credit Insurance Organization (ECIO) of Greece Greece
Nippon Export Investment Insurance (NEXI) Japan
Nordia Insurance Company (Pan Financial, Inc.) USA
Österreichische Kontrollbank A.G. (OeKB)* Austria
Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) USA
Slovenska izvozna druzba (SID) Slovenia

*   MIGA’s facultative reinsurance was from the EU trust fund for Bosnia and Herzegovina.
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Cooperat ive Underwri t ing Program Part ic ipants

Investment Insurer Country 
 
ACE Global Markets, Lloyd’s Syndicate 2488 UK
A.D. Hicks, Esq. and M.H.Wheeler, Esq. and Others, Lloyd’s Syndicate 1007 UK
A.F.Beazley, Esq. and Others, Lloyd’s Syndicates 623 and 2623 UK
AXIS Specialty Limited Bermuda
Compagnie Tunisienne pour l’Assurance du Commerce Extérieur (Cotunace) Tunisia
Cox Insurance Holdings PLC., Lloyd’s Syndicate 2591 UK
General Security Insurance Company (Unistrat) USA
Great Northern Insurance Company (Chubb & Son) USA
Gulf Insurance Company U.K. Limited (Citicorp/Travellers) UK/USA
H.H. Hayward, Esq., and Others, Lloyd’s Syndicate 1084 UK
Hiscox Syndicates Limited, Lloyd’s Syndicate 33 UK
Kiln 510 Combined, Lloyd’s Syndicate 510 UK
Liberty Syndicate Management, Lloyd’s Syndicate 282 UK
M.D. Reith and Others, Syndicate 1414 at Lloyd’s (Ascot) UK
S.J.Catlin, Esq., and Others, Lloyd’s Syndicates 1003 and 2003 UK
Pacific Indemnity Company (Chubb & Son) USA
Steadfast Insurance Company (Zurich) USA
The Goshawk War and Political Risks Consortium, Lloyd’s Syndicate 9132 UK
XL London Market Ltd.,  Lloyds Syndicate 1209 UK

Guarantee Cl ients 
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Abengoa
ABN AMRO
Accelon (Pty) Limited
ADC Management Limited
Aecon Group Inc.
Afriproduce Ltd.
Agro Industrial Investment and Development SA
Alstom Power Norway AS
AMA SpA
Antoine Boulos and Gabriel Boulos
Anvil Mining NL
Baltic-American Enterprise Fund
Bank Austria Aktiengesellschaft
Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG
Bank Hapoalim BM
Bank of Nova Scotia (The)
Banque Belgolaise SA
Barlows Tractor International Limited
BCH International Puerto Rico
Bergenshalvoens Kommunale Kraftselskap AS
BHP Billiton
BNP Paribas
Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank
CAN-PACK SA
Capital Indonesia Power I C.V.
Caribe Hospitality
CEFLA Capital Services SpA
Chiyoda Corporation
Citibank NA
Coastal Aruba Investor NV
Cobra Instalaciones y Servicios, SA
Compagnie Générale des Eaux
Conduit Capital Partners
Cooperative Centrale Raiffeisen-boerenleenbank BA (Rabobank)

Corporación Interfin, SA
Cotecna Inspection SA
Darco Environmental Pte. Ltd.
Desco AB
Deutsche Bank AG (New York Branch)
Développement Agro-Industries Sud SA
Dole Food Company, Inc.
Dragados Servicios Portuarios Logísticos
EDF International
Efes Breweries International BV
Elecnor, SA
Emporia Bank of Greece SA
Empresas Comegua, SA
Energy Investors Funds
Entergy Power Development Corporation
ERI Holdings II
Ericsson Credit AB
Eskom Enterprises (Pty.) Ltd.
Euromedic Diagnostics BV
Ewekoro Power Plant Sales Ltd.
Export Credit Insurance Organization
Export Development Canada
Fatoglu Gida Sanayi Ve Ticaret AS
FINREP HANDELS Ges.m.b.H
Fleet National Bank/BankBoston NA
Fortis Bank
Fraport AG
France Cables et Radio Vietnam
GE Energy (Norway) AS
GE Energy Financial Services
GE.POR.TUR. sas
Geosurvey International, LLC
Globeleq Holdings (ConCo) Limited
Guinea Investing Company Limited
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Guarantee Cl ients (cont ’d)

Habib Bank AG Zurich
HAS Development Corporation
Hydelec
Hydra-Co Enterprises, Inc.
Hypo Alpe-Adria Bank AG
Hypo Leasing Karnten GmbH
ICICI Bank
Impregilo SpA
Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa
ING Bank, NV
International Dialysis Centers BV
International Energy Partners
International Water Services (Guayaquil) BV
International Wireless Communications, Inc.
Investcom Holding SA
Isolux Wat, SA
Italian Technology and Innovations Srl
Itochu Corporation
Joseph Fermon
Kenmare Resources PLC
KfW—Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau
Kimberly-Clark Corporation
Kingdom 5 KR 71 Limited
Kjaer Group AS
Komatsu Ltd.
Leon Construction International BV
Manaksia Limited
Marriott International, Inc. 
Marubeni Corporation
Marvin M. Schwan Charitable Foundation (The)
Mauritius Telecom Ltd.
Mediocredito SpA
Mersey Docks and Harbour Company
Middenbank Curaçao NV (ING)
Mitsubishi International Corporation
Mitsui & Co., Ltd.
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.
MTU Asia Pte. Ltd.
Noranda Inc.
Norway Registers Development AS
Office Nationale de Télécommunications (Tunisie Télécom)

Orascom Telecom
Ormat International, Inc.
Portus Indico—Sociedade de Serviços Portuários SA
Poslovni Sistem Mercator dd
Promofin Outremer SA
Rabobank Curaçao NV
Radisson Hotels Internacional, Latin America
Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG
RMB International (Dublin) Limited
Rockfort Power Associates, Inc.
Rolls-Royce Power Ventures
Salvintur—Sociedade de Investimentos Turísticos
Sasol
Scudder Latin American Power
Secil—Companhia Geral de Cal e Cimento, SA
SembCorp Utilities Pte. Ltd.
Sena Holdings Ltd.
SLAP Cabo, LLC
Slovene Export Corporation
Société Générale, SA
Société Marromeu, Ltd.
Sojitz Corporation
Sonatel
Standard Corporate and Merchant Bank
State Bank of India
Statkraft SF
Société de Promotion Financière & Investissement
Suez Tractebel SA
Sungrain Holding SA
Sunnen Products Company
Teck Corporation
Teleinvest Limited
Touton SA
Union Carbide Corporation 
Unión Fenosa Internacional SA
Urbaser, SA
Wartsila Power Development, Inc.
West African Gas Pipeline Company Ltd.
WestLB AG
WTE Wassertechnik GmbH



100

Executive Vice President
Yukiko Omura 
yomura@worldbank.org

Sectors
Agribusiness/Manufacturing/Services
Nabil Fawaz 
nfawaz@worldbank.org

Acting Director
Operations
Philippe Valahu 
pvalahu@worldbank.org

Financial
Ileana Boza 
iboza@worldbank.org

Acting General Counsel
Legal Affairs and Claims
Srilal Perera
sperera2@worldbank.org

Infrastructure
Philippe Valahu 
pvalahu@worldbank.org

Chief Financial Officer and Director 
Finance and Risk Management
Amédée S. Prouvost 
aprouvost@worldbank.org

Oil and Gas/Mining and Chemicals
Nick Halkas
nhalkas1@worldbank.org

Chief Economist and Director
Economics and Policy
Frank J. Lysy 
flysy@worldbank.org

Regions
Asia and the Pacific
Cecilia Sager 
csager@worldbank.org

Director
External Outreach and Partners
Moina Varkie
mvarkie@worldbank.org

Europe and Central Asia
Beat Heggli 
bheggli@worldbank.org

Insurance Operations Support/Reinsurance
Peter M. Jones
pjones1@worldbank.org

Middle East and North Africa/Latin America and the Caribbean
Rodrigo Ortiz 
rortiz@worldbank.org

New Initiatives and Products
Monique Koning
mkoning@worldbank.org

Sub-Saharan Africa
David Bridgman 
dbridgman@worldbank.org

Contacts
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Abbreviat ions

ADA  Armenian Development Agency
AIPF  Azerbaijan Investment Promotion Foundation
AISA  Afghan Investment Support Agency
CAO  Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman
CAS  Country Assistance Strategy
CPDF  China Project Development Facility
CIPO  Croatian Investment Promotion Outreach Alliance
COSO  Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
CUP  Cooperative Underwriting Program
DRC  Democratic Republic of Congo
EAR  European Agency for Reconstruction
EBP  Enterprise Benchmarking Program
ECGC  Export Credit Guarantee Corporation of India
EIOP  European Investor Outreach Program
EU  European Union
FIAS  Foreign Investment Advisory Service
FDI  Foreign Direct Investment
GAFI  General Authority for Free Zones and Investment
GCI  General Capital Increase
IDA  International Development Association
IFC  International Finance Corporation
IIDP  Investor Information Development Program
IIG  Invest in Guatemala
IPA  Investment Promotion Agency
IPI  Investment Promotion Intermediary
KM  Konvertible Marka
NEAD  North Africa Enterprise Development
NEPAD  New Partnership for Africa’s Development
NGO  Nongovernmental Organization
OEU  Operations Evaluation Unit
PEP  Private Enterprise Partnership
PIPA  Palestinian Investment Promotion Agency
PRI  Political Risk Insurance
PSD  Private Sector Development
PPSEZ  Panama Pacific Special Economic Zone
SDR  Special Drawing Rights
SEC  Slovene Export Credit Corporation
SIEPA  Serbian Investment and Export Promotion Agency
SME  Small and Medium-Sized Enterprise
S-S  South-South
SSA  Sub-Saharan Africa 
TA  Technical Assistance
TII   Tangier Invest Initiative
USAID  United States Agency for International Developement
WBG  World Bank Group
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Photo Credits

Cover China, Steven Harris for the World Bank Photo Library 
 p. iv Deborah Campos/Frank Vincent, World Bank Group
 p. v Deborah Campos/Frank Vincent, World Bank Group
 p. vi Deborah Campos/Frank Vincent, World Bank Group
 p. viii Deborah Campos/Frank Vincent, World Bank Group
 p. 1 India, John Isaac for the World Bank Photo Library
 p. 2 Marcus Williams, MIGA
 p. 3 Angela Gentile, MIGA
 p. 4 Angela Gentile, MIGA
 p. 5 Angela Gentile, MIGA 
 p. 6 Marcus Williams, MIGA
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 p. 19 Michael Foley, World Bank Group
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 p. 28 Priorbank of Belarus
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 p. 53     Turkey, Scott Wallace for the World Bank Photo Library
 p. 87  Tanzania, Scott Wallace for the World Bank Photo Library
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